



This is to certify that the

thesis entitled

A PROBABILISTIC CHOICE MODEL FOR ANALYZING THE DEMAND FOR FOOD IN SENEGAL

presented by

Aliou Diagne

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for

degree in <u>Agricultural</u> Economics M.S.

Ein<u>W.</u> Major professor

Date\_\_\_\_June 15, 1990

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution

**O**-7639



PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due.

c:\circ\detedue.pm3-p.1

## A PROBABILISTIC CHOICE MODEL FOR ANALYZING

THE DEMAND FOR FOOD IN SENEGAL

By

Aliou Diagne

A THESIS

Submitted to

Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Agricultural Economics

cons hou ins tec the . the di as: Co te der d: s

\_

#### ABSTRACT

# A PROBABILISTIC CHOICE MODEL FOR ANALYZING THE DEMAND FOR FOOD IN SENEGAL

By

### Aliou Diagne

This paper develops a structural model of household food consumption in Senegal. The model is based on the assumption that the household does not maximize the utility of the raw food staples but instead maximizes the utility of the dishes derived by means of some technological transformation of these raw food staples.

The household maximization problem is solved to show that both the unconditional indirect utility and expenditure functions depend on the relative prices of the raw foods <u>only</u> through the costs of the dishes. Methods of estimation are discussed in detail, and the asymptotic distributions of the estimators are derived. The traditional model of food demand is shown to be a special case of this model, corresponding to the restriction of no dish choice effects. Means of testing for this restriction are provided. Finally, the elasticities of demand are derived and the policy implications of the model are discussed. To My Parents, Brothers and Sister.

For their continuous, moral and material supports.

.

:

indivi profes thesi vario to pu and e comi draft Eilee work depa him of t use Pos pro Age go for sez

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to acknowledge gratefully the help of many individuals who made possible the completion of my master program.

The person I owe a great debt is Dr. Eric Crawford, my major professor. From the beginning of my program to the completion of this thesis he was always available to guide me through my course work and various phases of the writing of this thesis. His early encouragements to pursue the main idea of the thesis up to completion were motivating and extremely useful. I also thank the two other members of my thesis committee; Dr. Peter Schmidt who took his precious time to read early drafts of parts of the thesis and make useful corrections, and Dr. Eileen van Ravenswaay who made useful contributions to improve this work.

The basic idea of this thesis was presented in the 995 departmental seminar directed by Dr. John Staatz. I would like to thank him for his comments in the seminar paper and for directing me to part of the relevant literature. I also thank Dr. James Oehmke for his useful comments on parts of the thesis. This work could not have been possible without the excellent and stimulating learning environment provided by the faculty members and staffs of the department of Agricultural Economics. I would like to thank them all. Special thanks go to Sherry Rich who typed most of the paper. Her help was essential for the completion of the thesis. The staff in the Ag. Econ computer services (Chris Wolf, Margaret Beaver, and Elizabeth Bartilson) were

iv

also he remaini M (Stepha Baird, were ve to my S Boubac Mamado suppor Anta D study develo studie Econor and to conti trust grate burea OISS ade

in Se

also helpful during the editorial stage. Needless to say, all the remaining errors in the thesis are of my sole responsibility.

My thanks go also to my fellow graduate students in the department (Stephan Goetz, Don Hinman, Paul Wessen, Valentina Mazzucato, Katie Baird, Bill Guyton, Odinga Jere, Joseph Siegle, Jim Sterns, etc..) who were very supportive and made my studies at MSU enjoyable. Thank also to my Senegalese friends at MSU (Ousseynou N'doye and his wife Aida, Boubacar Barry and his wife Maguette, Desire Sarr and his wife Julienne, Mamadou Badiane and his wife Mame, and Habibou Gaye). Their moral support is gratefully acknowledged.

My deep gratitude to two of my professors of mathematics at Cheikh Anta Diop University at Dakar. Pr. Sakhir Thiam who encouraged me to study economics and his assistant Dr. Mary Teuw Niane who helped me develop the scientific and mathematical maturity needed for graduate studies. My gratitude goes also to Dr. Charles Becker director of the Economics Institute of Boulder Colorado, from where I learned English and took my first economics course, for his trust, encouragements and continuous concerns about my academic progress.

A very special thank goes to the US. AID mission in Dakar. Their trust and continuous financial support during all my master program is gratefully acknowledged. The administrative support of the USDA\OITD bureau in Washington (especially James Gulley) and of Elda Keaton of the OISS at MSU are also gratefully acknowledged. Their combined efforts made my stay in the United States very smooth.

My deepest thanks go to my parents, brothers, sister and friends in Senegal. To my farther M'baye Diagne and my mother Marème Samb for

V

their love

Ousmane for

to my youn

Matar, Tap

unlimited

expressed

Fina

people of

the envir

their love and permanent support, to my older brothers Mamadou and Ousmane for their moral and financial support through all my education, to my younger brothers and sister (Souleymane, Osseynou, N'deye fatou, Matar, Tapha, Gora, and M'baye) and to all my friends for their unlimited moral support. For all of you, my deep feeling cannot be expressed in words.

Finally, but certainly most importantly, I would like to thank the people of Senegal and of the United States who provided the means and the environment for the success of this learning experience.

CHAPTER
1. INTRODUC
CRAPTER
2. THE DET
2.1 The So
2.2 Separ
CHAPTER
3. FOOD
CHAPTER
4. THE 1
4.1. Th
4.2. Tr
4.2.1.
4.2.2.
4.2.3.
4.3. 5
4.3.1
4.3.2
4.4.
4.4.
4.4.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

## CHAPTER

1.	INTRODUCTION																_				1
		-	•	-	•	•	-	-	-	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•			•

# CHAPTER

2.	THE	DETERMINANTS	of the	DEMAND	FOR	CEREALS	IN	SENEGAL	•	•	•	•	•	•	6
2.1	l The	Socio-Econo	mics of	Food Co	onsu	ption in	n Se	enegal .	•	•	•	•	•	•	6
2.2	2 Se	eparability i	n the F	ood Con	sumpt	ion Cho	ice	<b>s</b> .		•	•	•	•		13

# CHAPTER

	3.	FOOD	CONSUMPTION	AND	THE	HOUSEHOLD	PRODUCTION	MODEL								2	1
--	----	------	-------------	-----	-----	-----------	------------	-------	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	---	---

## CHAPTER

4. THE MATHEMATICS OF THE PROBABILISTIC CHOICE MODEL	39
4.1. The Structure of the Choice System: Definitions and Assumptions	42
4.2. The Mathematical Structure of the Model	47
4.2.1. Construction of a topology on the alternative space	47
4.2.2. Existence of a utility function on the alternative space	48
4.2.3. The Random Utility Model	49
4.3. Solution of the Household Maximization Problem	51
4.3.1. The General Solution	51
4.3.2. The structure of the feasible set of alternatives	53
4.4. Properties of the Utility, Expenditure, and Demand Functions	59
4.4.1. The direct conditional utility functions	59
4.4.2. The conditional expenditure functions	64

,

4.4.3. Proper funct 4.4.4. The M 4.4.5. The 4.4.6. Dish 4.5. Parame 4.5.1. Par 4.5.2. The CHAPTER 5. ESTIM 5.1. The 5.2. Met 5.2.1. 5.2.2. 5.2.3. CEAPTE 6. CO) APPE Appe Ap⊅€ App App

-

4.4.3.	Properties	of	the	une	cor	ndi	ti	on	a1	. i	nc	iir	ec	t	uti	11 <b>i</b>	ty	a	nd	e	кре	ene	dit	ure	
	functions		•••			•			•	•	•		•	•	• •	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	6	5

4.4.4. The Marshallian and Hicksian demands for the dishes	66
4.4.5. The unconditional demands for the raw foods	69
4.4.6. Dish selection as a cause for zero quantity reported	81
4.5. Parametrization of the Conditional Indirect Utility Functions	84
4.5.1. Parametrization of the meal budget	85
4.5.2. The AIDS conditional indirect utility functions	86

# CHAPTER

.

5. ESTIMATION OF THE MODEL	94
5.1. The Model Under Normality	94
5.2. Methods of Estimation Under Normality	100
5.2.1. Assumptions and notations	100
5.2.2. Maximum likelihood estimation	102
5.2.3. Heckman's two-step estimator	102

# CHAPTER

.

AI AANATAAATA TTIA TANTAT TITI NTAUTANA AF TIMU WAAANI				• •	•	•	•			VE	THE PTOUTTOUD	•	LAPTAT			Ψ.
--	--	--	--	-----	---	---	---	--	--	----	---------------	---	--------	--	--	----

# APPENDICES

Appendix	<b>A1</b>	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	137
Appendix	A2	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	139
Appendix	A3	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	140
Appendix	A4	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	141

Appendix A5

Appendix A6

ENDNOTES

REFERENCES

Appendix	A5	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	143
Appendix	<b>A</b> 6	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•		•	•	144

ENDNOTES	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	145
REFERENCES		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•		•	146

.

:

•

•

Sen major stu bad perfo seventies consumpti A s inappropr causes of plays an performan impact or efforts 1 adequate In agricult 1) 2) 3) So goals has <sup>cereals</sup>;

ł

#### CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

Senegal's agricultural and food policies have been the focus of major studies in recent years. These studies have been motivated by the bad performance of Senegal's agricultural sector since the early seventies, and its increasing dependence on food imports to satisfy the consumption needs of its population.

A series of severe droughts, a high population growth rate, and inappropriate agricultural policies have been identified as the major causes of Senegal's chronic food deficits. But the agricultural sector plays an important role in the Senegalese economy, and its overall performance along with the level of cereal imports has a tremendous impact on the balance of payments and on government revenues, most efforts to solve the crisis have been directed toward designing adequate agriculture and food policies.

In short, the government is very concerned about having a agricultural policy that can:

- 1) Increase farm income.
- Insure a high level of food self-sufficiency for the country.
- Generate revenues for the government and contribute to reducing the balance of payments deficit.

So far, the policy followed by the government to achieve these goals has been to change the relative prices between locally produced cereals and imported ones - especially between millet/sorghum and

imported boost the However, resources sufficien Man achieve I have focu aainly be

urgent ne

constitut

Man

the food

potential

populatio

for examp

relevant

One

Bank poli

tried to

of food,

Despite t

structura

(income ch

different

Major crop

imported rice - and to provide general producer price incentives to boost the production of export crops - mainly peanuts and cotton. However, food crops and export crops tend to compete for land and scarce resources. Thus there is an apparent conflict between food self sufficiency and increase in export earnings.

Many studies have been carried out to analyze the ways Senegal can achieve Increased food self-sufficiency. However, most of the studies have focused on the problems constraining the agricultural production, mainly because of lack of adequate data on food consumption and/or the urgent need to improve the living conditions of the rural people which constitute around 70% of Senegal's 6.5 million people.

Many studies emphasizes the infeasibility (and economic costs) of the food self-sufficiency goal. Indeed, given Senegal's present and potential resource endowments, along with the consumption habits of its population, this goal is not achievable unless a miracle happens (see, for example, Martin, 1988). Thus, the concept of food security is the relevant one for Senegal.

One study that attempted to deal with food consumption is a World Bank policy study conducted in 1983 (Braverman et al. 1983). This study tried to link the supply side of the agricultural sector to the demand of food, by using a multimarket model based on a farm household model. Despite the poor data, which affected the reliability of the estimated structural parameters, the model gave some insights into policy outcomes (income changes, production changes, and sizes of the deficits) under different scenarios of producer and consumer relative prices for the major crops and food staples. However, this model (in our opinion), is

veakened

\_

Senegal.

Th

consumpt

the pape

Senegal

utility

dishes d

raw food

focussed

the degr

1980Ъ; ј

itens th

househo

the Bod

differe:

of subs

F

consump

corresp

depends

habits.

can be

These e

traditio

weakened by certain misspecifications of the nature of food demand in Senegal.

This paper is an attempt to contribute to the understanding of the consumption pattern underlying food demand in Senegal. Specifically, the paper develops a structural model of household food consumption in Senegal based on the assumption that the household does not maximize the utility of the raw food staples but instead maximizes the utility of the dishes derived by means of some technological transformation of these raw food staples. Previous studies of food demand in Senegal have focussed only on substitutability between cereals and particularly on the degree of substitutability between rice and millet (Ross, 1980a and 1980b; Josserand and Ross, 1982). This model will incorporate other food items that are complements of cereals and that are important for the household when deciding which cereal to consume. But equally important, the model will incorporate information concerning how the nature of the different dishes consumed by the average Senegalese affects the degree of substitutability of the different cereals.

Furthermore, within the household production model this food consumption model is shown to be a structural model whose reduced form corresponds to the traditional system of food demand equations but depends explicitly on the household's tastes, consumption technology and habits. A set of estimable elasticities including the traditional ones can be derived from both the structural model and its reduced form. These elasticities have policy implications that depart from the traditional food policy so far followed by the government, which is

based pri

different

The

Chá

behavior

consumpti

with shore

is analyz

justifica

chapters.

assumptio

Cha

economic

economic

consumpti

applying

Cha

probabili

Model. A

utility f

<sup>set</sup> (set

conditior

<sup>restr</sup>icti

<sup>One</sup> stati

**Primarily** 

<sup>call</sup> dish

based primarily on the manipulation of the relative prices of the different cereals.

The paper has six chapters including this introduction.

Chapter 2 discusses the socio-and microeconomic consumption behavior of the average Senegalese household. The nature of the consumption technology which guides the household strategies for coping with shortages and/or increases in price of certain basic food staples, is analyzed in detail. This discussion serves as a background and justification for the food consumption model analyzed in subsequent chapters. It also discusses the consequences of the separability assumption in the household's food consumption choices.

Chapter 3 reviews the household production model that will be our economic model for analyzing food demand in Senegal. It reviews the main economic type results of this model which are relevant for our food consumption model. It also discusses the major limitations for applying it to our case.

Chapter 4 presents and develops the mathematics of the probabilistic choice model (PCM) which will be used to estimate our model. A version of the fundamental axiom of the PCM is used to derive a utility function from an underlying preference ordering on the choice set (set of dishes). Duality theory is then used to derive the conditional and unconditional Marshallian demand functions. The restrictions implied by these demand functions are also investigated. One statistical consequence of viewing the household as choosing primarily among dishes rather than among raw foods is the presence of we call dish selection bias which introduces some biases on the

coefficients estimates of the demand equations. It is also argued that the household's dish selection is the main reason why there are such a large number of "zero expenditures reported" usually found in food consumption surveys. Finally, the AIDS cost function (Deaton and Muellbauer, 1980) is used to present explicitly the model to be estimated.

Chapter 5 is concerned with methods of estimation. First, the normal distribution is used to derive explicit expressions of the conditional moments that correct for the selection bias resulting from the household's dish selection. Then maximum likelihood estimation and Heckman's two-stage method are discussed. The asymptotic properties of the proposed estimators are also analyzed.

Chapter 6 contains final remarks about the model, and ways of deriving elasticities of demand for the different raw foods used in policy analysis. Some measures of changes in household's tastes that can be used to evaluate implemented food policies are proposed. The chapter also indicates possible ways of extending the model to capture taste variations both across time and households, and help design future food policies.

#### CHAPTER 2

## THE DETERMINANTS OF THE DEMAND FOR CEREALS IN SENEGAL

## 2.1 The Socio-Economics of Food Consumption in Senegal.

The feasibility of a food policy which consists of forcing urban dwellers to change their food consumption habits by setting imported food prices very high, has two major limiting factors. The first one is political. The government was forced to decrease in May 1988 the prices of the basic food staples in order to ease the social and political tensions that followed the February 1988 general elections, during which food prices were the popular rallying point for the opposition. The second limiting factor comes from the possibility for people to smuggle part of their needed supply of food from Gambia where prices are much lower. Indeed, it was estimated that at least 85,000 tons of rice (about 25% of yearly rice imports) was smuggled into Senegal in 1987 when prices were at CFA. 160 (see, for example, N'doye, Ouedraogo, and Goetz 1989 or Lambert and Diouf, 1987)<sup>1</sup>.

But, more importantly, this policy may not be effective in inducing urban consumers to switch from imported cereals to locally produced ones because of cultural practices and also because cereals are consumed along with other complements (fish, meat, oil, vegetables, etc...) which are important for the household in deciding which cereals

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> N'doye, Ouedraogo, and Goetz (1989) estimated that the price differential between the smuggled rice and the official rice (of same quality) was up to 20% of the official price in some of the markets surveyed.

to consume. constructe prices of consumer I The first Senegales mjor bas figure is in place degree o correspo dishes t linear 1 substit elastic substin ∎iddle histor fiftie prepor rural

to consume. The examination of the "food consumption matrix" constructed in Figure 2.1 is a first step toward understanding why prices of these complements are important to consider when evaluating consumer responses to changes in the relative prices between cereals. The first column of the figure shows the major dishes consumed by a Senegalese household. In the top row of the figure are presented the major basic ingredients used for the preparation of these dishes. The figure is read like a linear programming table with the difference that in place of the usual requirement coefficients we put signs to show the degree of substitutability of the food staple in the preparation of the corresponding dish. Had the transformation of the ingredients into dishes been linear for all dishes, the table would have been a true linear programming table. In general, for any given dish the degree of substitutability between two staples is measured by Allen's partial elasticity of substitution defined in the same way as in the substitutability between inputs in production theory. The dishes in the middle of the first column of Figure 2.1, couscous 1,2, and "lax" are historically the major dishes consumed in Senegal up to the early fifties when imported rice from the French colony Indochina, began to be preponderant in the urban diet. These dishes are still preponderant in rural Senegal (except maybe in Casamance).

Sugar	
Curdled	MIIK
Vege.	table
Smoked	puu
Other	Vege-
Green	Salad
Meac	
Fish	
Wheat	
Millet	
Rice	
t	
Staples	•
Food	

FIGURE 2.1 : FOOD CONSUMPTION MATRIX

FIGURE 2.1 : FOOD CONSUMPTION MATRIX

Food Staples	t	Rice	Millet	Wheat	Fish	Meat	Green Salad	Other Vege- rables	Smoked and Dried	Vege- table	Curdled Milk	Sugar
Dishes t									Fish	110		
"Cebbu Jen" (Rice and Fi	* (48	•			•			Ð	0	Ð		
"Niari Cinn" (Rice and Sa	uce)	•			+	H		+	o	Ð		
Other Rice based dishes	*	0			H	÷		H	+ 0	H	+1	+
Couscous 1	**		•			•		+		•		
Couscous 2	*		•		+	H		⊙ +	+	•		
"Lax" (Porridge)	•		•	-							•	9
<b>Green Salad</b>	*			+	÷	+	•	+		•		
Other Fish o Meat based d	r ** shs.			+	+	H		+		•		
Coffee, Mill and Bread	***			•								Θ
Legend: 0 1 + + + 0 0 2	tands tands tands tands	for for for	necessa seconda substit weak co	rry con try con tutable	npleme npleme comp ntari	ant ant lemen lty	ب 10 10 10 10 10 10	* consi t* consi t* consi tsumed a	umed at umed in umed in it midda	midday the eve the mor ly, even	aning ining uing or mo	rning

But rural

The growi

its relat

which is

other fac

toward ri

of rural

one of th

study in

that in (

drought,

while th

other fa

Indeed,

interior

fish has

since th

found i

the arr

Since f

why ric

Senegal

<sup>beed</sup> to

agricul

C

<sup>dishe</sup>s,

But rural people are slowly adopting the urban style of consumption. The growing importance of rice in rural areas is usually explained by its relatively low price and easiness to prepare compared to millet which is time consuming and difficult to prepare. However, there two other factors at least equally important in influencing this shift toward rice in rural areas. The first one is the legitimate aspiration of rural people to diversify their diet. This fact probably explains one of the findings of the University of Michigan rural consumption study in Senegal in 1982. In this study, H. Josserand (1982), reported that in one village which was deficient in millet because of the drought, people were travelling far to other villages to buy millet while they could have easily bought rice in their same village. The other factor is the increasing availability of fish in rural markets. Indeed, in its preliminary survey of the marketing of fish in the interior regions of Senegal, C.R.O.D.T reported that the marketing of fish has been expanding at a steady rate (both in space and in time) since the early sixties; and before that time almost no fish could be found in rural markets. Some of the traders interviewed still remember the arrival of the first lot of fish in their market (Kebe et al. 1983). Since fish is the major complement of rice, one can easily understand why rice consumption is increasing in these areas. With respect to Senegalese agricultural and food policies, these factors point out the need to know to what extent increases in rural income (through agricultural price increases) will affect rice consumption.

One of the striking facts in the table is that among the major dishes, only one-third are based on rice. None of the other dishes use

any rice. Senegales are consu confirmed (1978), a the sampl Γ Rig jenn". of prote Hence, i the deci to use f jenn", 1 availab ٦ availat altern of fis defici and ve the o altho Vich the Pre
any rice. One might ask then, why rice is so important in the Senegalese diet? Part of the answer is that these two rice-based dishes are consumed every other day at midday in urban areas. This fact was confirmed by two consumption surveys in Dakar, one done by C. Ross (1978), and the other done by Abt. Inc. (1984), In both surveys 99% of the samples declared eating exclusively rice at midday.

Right now, the most common dish consumed in Senegal is "cebbu jenn". This dish is almost exclusively consumed at midday. As a source of protein, fish is an important complement of rice for this dish. Hence, its availability and its price are very important parameters in the decision of the average household to consume rice, and how much rice to use in a given dish. In other words, for a given dish of "cebbu jenn", the ratio between rice and fish depends to a large extent on the availability and the price of the latter.

This ratio is determined as follows: when fresh fish is not available or its price is high, the household generally has two other alternatives. Either it can buy a small quantity and/or a low quality of fish and use more rice for the midday dish to make up the caloric deficiency, or it can buy dried and smoked fish and use much more rice and vegetables. Given the high price of meat, this strategy is usually the one adopted by the household to deal with the fish shortage, although some high income households may substitute meat for fish.

Couscous is exclusively consumed in the evening; and meat along with fish - to a lesser extent - is an important complement of millet in the preparation of this dish. Thus, the decision of the household to prepare couscous depends primarily on the price of meat. For some poor

househol smoked f Sc in the e Instead, cous. in anoth relative for the Ir consider faced wi very ric Ar which ha that giv meal, so with a p the pric evening Senegale instead <sup>are</sup> far Th the even staple se

.

L

households, or in some rural areas where meat is scarce, dried and/or smoked fish are substituted for meat.

So, even if the Senegalese household prefers to consume couscous in the evening, the high price of meat will prevent it from doing so. Instead, it tends to substitute a poor quality rice based dish for couscous. Meat (or fish) is also a complement to green salad and potatoes in another vegetable-based dish consumed in the evening. This relatively meat-intensive or fish-intensive dish is usually out of reach for the poor.

In any case, a rice-based dish in the evening is generally considered as an inferior alternative by the average household. But, faced with expensive substitute dishes, it tends to turn to cheap and very rice-intensive dishes for dinner.

Another factor that increases Senegalese consumption of rice which has a kind of income effect - comes from the cultural practice that gives more importance to the midday meal compared to the evening meal, so that the daily budget share of this meal is very high. Hence, with a perfect inelastic demand for this rice-based meal, an increase in the price of rice and/or fish will merely erode the budget share of the evening meal. Then, with not enough left for the evening meal, the Senegalese household tends to consume a low cost rice-intensive dish instead of couscous, green salad, or other vegetable based-dishes which are far preferred for dinner.

This role of rice as preferred dish at midday and security dish in the evening, is so important for the urban household that the first food staple secured for a month of consumption is rice, bought in bags of 100

kilogram

situatio

surveys

daily be

rice req

Ar

Senegale

curdled

areas) a

sugar ar

decimate

been rep

T

behavio

partly

doublin

insight

the deg

informa

and tas

The same

consump

rice and

kilograms. The strategy is to have enough rice to face all possible situations. This systematic behavior was confirmed by the consumption surveys cited earlier. In these surveys, only the very poor buy rice daily because their income does not allow them to buy the whole monthly rice requirement at once.

Another traditional dish that is losing its place in the Senegalese diet is "lax". This millet-intensive dish, prepared with curdled milk and sugar, used to be consumed (especially in the rural areas) at midday and for breakfast. Now, because of the high price of sugar and the scarcity of curdled milk since the drought, which decimated the livestock population in the mid seventies, this dish has been replaced by rice at midday, and by coffee and bread in the morning.

This brief, but relatively detailed discussion of the consumption behavior of the Senegalese household can help understand - at least partly - why rice imports have doubled between 1978 and 1987, despite a doubling of its retail price. This discussion also suggests some insight on why previous food demand studies in Senegal, which analyzed the degree of substitutability between rice and millet by using information on these two food staples only (thus ignoring the technical and taste constraints), embodied an incomplete food consumption model. The same criticisms apply to the policy makers' approach that views food consumption in Senegal simply as a problem of the relative price between rice and millet.

2.2 Sepa Fo cereals a complete long, esp quite imp the Unive Tal share of in the th these tai scope of tables: the food almost cannot b of fresh substitu That is, compensa <sup>dish</sup>, an low cost of milk the lax matrix, ( Thienthie 13

#### 2.2 Separability in the Food Consumption Choices

For modelling purposes, the starting point is to recognize that cereals are always consumed with other complementary food staples. The complete list of these complementary food staples may be relatively long, especially in urban areas. Even in some rural areas, the list is quite impressive, as reported by the 1982 rural consumption survey of the University of Michigan (Josserand and Ross, 1982).

Table 2.2 and Table 2.3, reproduced from the cited study, give the share of income spent on food and the amount spent on major food items in the three villages surveyed, respectively. A full interpretation of these tables in relation to the food consumption matrix is beyond the scope of this paper, but one may notice some interesting facts about the tables: (1) the correlation between non-farm income and diversity of the food basket; (2) the relatively high rice consumption in Thienthie almost three times higher than in the other villages - which certainly cannot be explained only by its low millet harvest. Indeed the absence of fresh fish and meat in the diet points to the likely presence of substitution and income effects of the types described in Section 2.1. That is, the unavailability of fresh fish (and vegetables) is compensated for by a high ratio of rice to smoked fish in the midday dish, and the absence of meat leads to the replacement of couscous by low cost rice-intensive dish in the evening. Note also that the absence of milk (curdled, powdered or fresh) would rule out the consumption of the "lax" dish in Thienthie. Thus, in relation to our food consumption matrix, one can infer from Table 2.3 that the 27 households surveyed in Thienthie were consuming at that time almost exclusively the third,

TABLE 2.2

-

**\_** . . .

Percentage of money income spent on food.

MAY - AUGUST 1981.

(CFA Francs)

	a FARM INCOME	a NON - FARM INCOME	a TOTAL INCOME	b FOOD PURCHASES	PERCENTAGE OF INCOME SPENT ON FOOD
LAYABE	178,755	605,502	784,257	111,640	142
SESSENE	679 , 245	194,237	873,482	61,271	7%
THENTHIE	237,379	109,440	346,819	149,230	43X

<u>Notes:</u>

<u>Notes:</u> (a) Averaged over 3 months from year's total. (b) Recorded May 15 - August 15, 1981. No. of Households: Layabe, 24; Sessene, 24; Thienthie, 27. Source: Josserand, P. and C.G. Ross. (1982).

.

LAYA Millet Rice Covpeas 011 Sugar Coffee Salt Beef Saoked Bread Chicken Tea Tomato Maggi C Onions Fresh T Fresh F Diar Hot Pep Fresh M Cabbage Lalo Guinea Black H Goatmea Eggs Dried I Corn Powder Source:

# TABLE 2.3

## Amount Spent on Major Food Items. May 15 - August 15, 1981, by Village (CFA Francs),

LAYABE		SESSENE		THIENTH	I E
Millet	17,400	Salt	18,300	Millet 5	57,190
Rice	16,535	Sugar	14,963	Rice 4	6,585
Cowpeas	12,545	Rice	5,030	Sugar 1	13,865
011	12,140	Smoked Fish	4,247	0i1 1	1,090
Sugar	11,508	Onions	3,789	Salt 1	LO,660
Coffee	10,320	Hot Pepper	2,747	Smoked Fish	1,690
Salt	6,250	Beef	2,200	Fresh Tomatoes	1,395
Beef	2,870	Bread	1,925	Coffee	750
Smoked Fish	2,800	011	1,530	Tomato Paste	630
Bread	2,225	Fresh Fish	1,425	Onions	555
Chicken	2,100	Powder milk	1,200	Hot Pepper	295
Tea	1,900	Tomato Paste	1,145	Maggi Cubes	180
Tomato Paste	1,850	Dried Fish	1,090	Dried Fish	120
Maggi Cubes	1,415	Tea	800	Diar	10
Onions	1,395	Cabbage	470		
Fresh Tomatoes	1,165	Cowpeas	250		
Fresh Fish	1,126	Maggi Cubes	80		
Diar	980	Black Pepper	25		
Hot Pepper	785	Fresh Tomatoes	25		
Fresh Milk	540				
Cabbagê	475				
Lalo	450				
Guinea Sorrel	400				
Black Pepper	395				
Goatmeat	200		•		
Eggs	200				
Dried Fish	200				
Corn	170				
Powder Milk	125				

Source: Josserand, P. and C.G. Ross. (1982).

.

fifth and

the Layabo

because i

Sind

complement

groups of

which invo

millet, a

whose goal

household

Indeed, th

rate of s

equilibri

household

separatio

this cond

For

a formal .

vill rest

separabil

The conse

separabil

(Varian, :

The

<sup>that</sup> if we

<sup>(cereals</sup> a

fifth and last dishes in Table 2.1. Finally, one may hypothesize that the Layabe food basket is the closest to the urban household food basket because it has the highest non-farm income.

Since the fact that cereals are always consumed with other food complements cannot be ignored, some separability between these two groups of food must have been implicitly assumed in the previous studies which investigated the degree of substitutability between rice and millet, as well as by the policy makers who base their food policies whose goal is to alter the food consumption behavior of the Senegalese household - almost exclusively on the relative price of rice and millet. Indeed, this methodology amounts to saying that the household's marginal rate of substitution between rice and millet (which is equal at internal equilibrium to the relative price of the two goods faced by all households) is independent of all other food staples. But the Leontief separation theorem (Deaton and Muellbauer, 1983; p. 136) tells us that this condition is equivalent to weak separability.

For a full discussion of the consequences of separability, we need a formal definition of the different types of separability. However, we will restrict ourselves to the three types commonly used: Hicksian separability, weak separability, and strong or additive separability. The consequences of the other types of separability (implicit separability, indirect separability, etc.) are basically the same (Varian, 1984; Deaton and Muellbauer, 1983).

The Hicksian separability or composite commodity theorem asserts that if we divide the household commodity bundle into two groups (cereals and other food complements in our case) such that the prices in

one of th

the group

the first

cereal pr

In our pa:

fish, mea

I

seasonall

satisfying

would stil

substituta

vector doe

The

separabili

separabili

commodity

space of c

other com

called wea

bousehold.

increasing

<sup>level</sup> of c

the overal

function o:

function of

complements

<sup>then</sup> by max

one of the groups (food complements) move together proportionally with the group price index t, then the demand for commodities (cereals) in the first group can be thought of as depending on only the individual cereal prices, the group price index t, and total expenditure or income. In our particular case, the food complements include staples such as fish, meat, vegetables etc., whose prices fluctuate daily and/or seasonally with very different time paths. Thus no group price index satisfying this theorem can be found. Even if we could find one, we would still need this group price index when assessing the substitutability between cereals. Hence, this separability by the price vector does not justify the neglect of the food complements.

The other type of separability which includes weak and strong separability as particular cases, is functional separability: This separability concerns the underlying preference ordering on the space of commodity bundles. It means that preferences over one subset of the space of commodity bundles (cereals in our case) are independent of the other commodity bundles (food complements) in the space. If this so called weak separability is true then, assuming local non satiation, the household's overall food utility function can be shown to be an increasing function of a sub-utility function of the cereals and of the level of consumption of the other food complements. That is we can write the overall utility as U(V(X),Z) where U(v,Z) is an increasing function of v, U is the overall utility function, V the sub-utility function of the cereals, and X and Z are the cereals and food complements vectors, respectively. The demand for cereals will be given then by maximization of the sub-utility function subject to the budget

one of the groups (food complements) move together proportionally with the group price index t, then the demand for commodities (cereals) in the first group can be thought of as depending on only the individual cereal prices, the group price index t, and total expenditure or income. In our particular case, the food complements include staples such as fish, meat, vegetables etc., whose prices fluctuate daily and/or seasonally with very different time paths. Thus no group price index satisfying this theorem can be found. Even if we could find one, we would still need this group price index when assessing the substitutability between cereals. Hence, this separability by the price vector does not justify the neglect of the food complements.

The other type of separability which includes weak and strong separability as particular cases, is functional separability: This separability concerns the underlying preference ordering on the space of commodity bundles. It means that preferences over one subset of the space of commodity bundles (cereals in our case) are independent of the other commodity bundles (food complements) in the space. If this so called weak separability is true then, assuming local non satiation, the household's overall food utility function can be shown to be an increasing function of a sub-utility function of the cereals and of the level of consumption of the other food complements. That is we can write the overall utility as U(V(X),Z) where U(v,Z) is an increasing function of v, U is the overall utility function, V the sub-utility function of the cereals, and X and Z are the cereals and food complements vectors, respectively. The demand for cereals will be given then by maximization of the sub-utility function subject to the budget

constraint expenditur prices and separabili estimate p Howe consumptio In the fir consume gi such and w two-stage complement to rice and apart from together e instance, millet and relationsh technology homothetic: that income of income a <sup>1984</sup>; pp. ] Final <sup>of</sup> separabi

<sup>to weak</sup> sep

constraints. It will depend on the prices of cereals and on cereals expenditures. But cereals expenditures will depend in general on <u>all</u> prices and total income (Varian, 1984; p. 48). Thus, with weak separability alone we will need the prices of all food complements to estimate properly the demand for rice and millet.

However, if the utility function is homothetic then the food consumption decision of the household can be decomposed into two stages. In the first stage the household decides how much millet and rice to consume given the cereal price index. In the second stage it decides how much and which cereal to consume given their relative prices. But this two-stage budgeting is too restrictive since it implies that food complements altogether share the same type of relationship with respect to rice and millet(either substitute or complement). In other words, apart from income effects, all pairs of cereal/food complements are all together either substitutes or complements to the same degree. For instance, it would mean that the pairs of rice and fish, rice and meat, millet and fish, and millet and meat share the same type and degree of relationship. This is not certainly the case given the consumption technology of the Senegalese household. Even if this were true, the homotheticity condition imposes severe restrictions. It would imply that income elasticities of millet and rice are independent of the level of income and utility, and are equal to unity (Deaton and Muellbauer, 1984; pp. 142-167). This may not be empirically justified.

Finally, we come to the most restrictive (and most popular) type of separability: strong or additive separability. That is, in addition to weak separability, we assume that the overall utility of food is an



additive compleme compleme Indeed a millet a knowledg seems th studies three dr good, (2 cases ow expendit convenie additivi Work. consequer by using Th the limit demand mo cross, ar Millet, r <sup>yield</sup> bia belonging and rice Prices is

additive function of the sub-utility of cereals and sub-utility of food complements. If so, then we may not need information on the food complements to estimate the price elasticities of millet and rice. Indeed all we need to determine the own and cross price elasticities of millet and rice are their respective expenditure elasticities and knowledge of one price elasticity (Deaton and Muellbauer, 1983). This seems the closest form of separability implicitly assumed in previous studies and by policy makers. However, this separability has at least three drastic theoretical consequences: (1) there can be no inferior good, (2) goods are only substitutes, never complements, and (3) in some cases own price elasticities are approximately equally proportional to expenditure elasticities. Empirically, in spite of its econometric convenience, all the tests so far reported have unanimously rejected the additivity assumption as "... too strong to be used in empirical work..." (Deaton and Muellbauer, 1983; p. 140). Furthermore, one logical consequence is that one cannot show substitutions between food staples by using this model.

This partial discussion of the consequences of separability shows the limits in generating degrees of freedom when estimating a food demand model. Thus for empirical work, an estimation of the (own, cross, and income) elasticities of millet and rice using data on only millet, rice, and disposable income, is not only inefficient, but will yield biased and inconsistent estimates - because of omitted variables belonging to the model. Also, the use of only relative price of millet and rice as a policy tool to assess household response to change in prices is misleading, at least on theoretical grounds.

### It i

and the co

.

other prod

farmer (se

practical

putting fu

The

analysis o

reliabilit

additional

The

interest f

consumptio

Furthermor

food stapl

involved i

From

assumptior

existence

But the pc

intrinsica

its dishes

This leads

<sup>analyzing</sup>

It is our opinion that the separability between food consumption and the consumption of other commodities (such as durable goods) and/or other production activities, especially in the case of a subsistence farmer (see Singh, Squire and Strauss; 1986), generally assumed for practical purposes, is a restriction strong enough to prevent us from putting further restrictions on the system of demand equations.

The inclusion of the major complementary food staples in the analysis of cereal demand in Senegal will certainly improve the reliability of the estimated elasticities. It implies no substantial additional costs in surveys like the one cited above.

The additional elasticities, though apparently of no great interest for policy makers, may potentially reveal unsuspected consumption linkages, and thus be worthy of attention by them. Furthermore, the ability to forecast the demand for these complementary food staples may be worthy of interest for private entrepreneurs involved in marketing these commodities.

From the foregoing discussion, it is clear that any separability assumption would imply making explicit or implicit assumptions about the existence of complementarities and substitutions among the raw foods. But the possibility of complementarity and substitution depends intrinsically on the way the household combines the raw food to prepare its dishes; that is upon the "consumption technology" of the household. This leads us to the household production model as a framework for analyzing the demand for food in Senegal.

F

We h

the differ

degree of

which depe

of the foo

informatio

consumptio

of the par

This

of the ray

but instead

technolog

technolog

just an s

<sup>(1956</sup>); M

At this p

just a wo

Dext chap

from a pr

household

function

### CHAPTER 3

FOOD CONSUMPTION WITHIN THE HOUSEHOLD PRODUCTION MODEL

We have seen in section 2.1 that the way the household combines the different ingredients puts important technical restrictions on the degree of substitutability between them. These technical restrictions which depend on tastes, are virtually independent of the relative prices of the food staples and thus are a valuable additional source of information if they are appropriately integrated into our food consumption model. This will improve the reliability of the estimates of the parameters.

This leads us to view the household as not maximizing the utility of the raw food as is assumed in the traditional model of food demand, but instead as maximizing the utility of the dishes obtained from a technological transformation of the same raw food, subject to technological and budget constraints. This view is not new since it is just an special case of the household production theory (see Gorman (1956); Morishima (1959); Becker (1965); Lancaster (1965); Muth (1966).) At this point, the utility maximizing behavior over the set of dishes is just a working hypothesis that must be theoretically justified. In the next chapter, we will see how such a utility function can be derived from a preference ordering describing the choice behavior of the household on the set of dishes in the same way the traditional utility function is derived from an underlying preference ordering over the set

of basic

points of

The

(economic

theory, t

Senegal.

later, ou

approach,

Maximizin

from a tec

urket.

Acco

255) •. .

them with

comoditi

arguments

not desire

of "commod

The

household

generally

into two b

of time.

<sup>linear</sup> char

In th

unit much 1

of basic commodities. First, however, we need to review the major points of the household production theory.

The purpose of this brief review is to highlight the major (economic type) theoretical results from the household production theory, that we think are pertinent for modelling food consumption in Senegal. However, for practicality and reasons that will be clear later, our food consumption model will depart somewhat from this approach, while keeping the basic idea of viewing the household as maximizing the utility of its home produced nonmarketable goods obtained from a technological transformation of the inputs bought from the market.

According to this theory, to quote Pollak and Watcher (1975, p. 255) ". . . the household purchases "goods" on the market and combines them with time, in a "household production function" to produce "commodities." These commodities rather than the goods are the arguments of the household's utility function; market goods and time are not desired for their own sake, but only as inputs into the production of "commodities."

The approaches taken for modelling the basic idea of viewing the household as deriving utility from the home produced nonmarketable goods generally differ from author to author. The literature can be divided into two broad lines. One inspired by Becker (1965) emphasizes the role of time. The second line of work follows generally Lancaster's (1966) linear characteristic model.

In the first approach, the household is viewed as a production unit much like a firm (see Michael and Becker (1973) for a brief

sumary;		
develops		
A		
(Pollak		
Th fr in P c C H b		
F		
consump		
dishes:		
(3.1)		
subject		
(3.2)		
and the		
(3.3)		
<sup>wi</sup> th (3.4)		
<sup>U</sup> is		

<sup>d</sup>i. i-1,

summary; Pollak and Watcher (1975) for a critique and further developments; and Barnett (1977) for econometric methods of estimation.)

An example of statement formulating the approach is as follows (Pollak and Watcher, 1975, p. 257):

The household's preferences are represented by a utility function . . . defined over the commodity space. Goods are not desired for their own sake, but only because they are inputs for the production of commodities. In the household production model the household faces two types of constraints on its consumption opportunities: the budget constraint and the limitation imposed by its technology. Hence, the demand for goods and the demand for commodities both depend on goods prices, the household's income, its tastes, and its technology.

Formally, with respect to our particular case, the household food consumption problem can be formulated as maximizing the utility of dishes:

(3.1)  $U(d_1, d_2, ..., d_k)$ 

subject to the consumption technology constraint

 $(3.2) \quad d_{i} = f_{i}(x_{i1}, x_{i2}, \dots, x_{in}) \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, k.$ 

and the budget constraint

$$(3.3) \qquad \begin{array}{c} k \\ \Sigma \quad C(i) \leq I \\ i=1 \end{array}$$

$$(3.4) \qquad C(i) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} P_j \cdot x_{ij} + wr_i$$

where

U is the household utility function,

 $d_i$ ,  $i=1,\ldots,k$  are the set of k dishes consumed by the household,



C(i) is the cost of dish i which includes the cost of raw food and the time preparation cost of the dish.

 $x_{ij}$  j=1,...,n. are the quantities of the n raw foods used in dish i,

 $P_j$  j-1,...,n. are the unit prices of the raw foods

 $r_i$  is the time preparation of dish i

w is the per unit cost of time .

In fact, this idea is quite old, dating back at least to A. Marshall (Michael and Becker, 1973). It was also suggested by J. R. Hicks in his "A Revision of Demand Theory" published in 1956 (Morishima, 1959). , In this book, Hicks reportedly suggested that one should " . . . think of the consumer as choosing, according to his preferences between certain objectives, and then making decisions more or less as the entrepreneur decides, between alternative means of reaching those objectives."<sup>2</sup> The mathematical translation of Hick's "verbal theory" on that subject was the basis for Morishima's developments on intrinsic complementarity and separability of goods.

Early mathematical formulations and analysis of the second approach were done using linear programming methods (see, Stigler (1945); Gorman (1956); Morishima (1959)). These studies focused on analysis of the diet problem of the household, combining raw foods to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Quoted from M. Morishima, 1959; p. 1989.

get calories, protein, vitamins, etc. This model was later generalized (including all activities on the household) and extensively analyzed by Lancaster (1966) in his linear characteristic model. In the linear characteristic model, the consumption technology constraint is assumed to be of a linear type. The space of characteristics (which are the objects of choices in this model) is taken as a subspace of the Euclidean space.

More precisely, Lancaster assumes that "consumption is an activity in which goods, singly or in combination, are inputs and in which the output is a collection of characteristics. Utility or preference orderings are assumed to rank collection of characteristics and only to rank collections of good indirectly through the characteristics that they possess" (Lancaster 1966 p. 133). In summary, to quote Lancaster, there are three consequences (departing from the traditional consumer theory) that follows from this approach (Lancaster 1966 page 134).

- 1. The good, per se, does not give utility to the consumer; it possess characteristics, and these characteristics give rise to utility.
- 2. In general, a good will possess more than one characteristic, and many characteristics will be shared by more than one good.
- 3. Goods in combination may possess characteristics different from those pertaining to the goods separately

Similarities between these two approaches, could not have gone unnoticed. The following sentence quoted from Pollak and Watcher (1975 footnote 1) illustrates best these similarities.

"In Lancaster's model, good possess "characteristics;" these characteristics, which we can identify with Becker's commodities, are arguments of the household's utility function. Each unit of a good, for example, a "glass of

orang calor

A con

the scope of

from the 1:

food consu

see Lancas

, n

essence of

most of the

In t

problem ca:

Maximizing

desired ve

consists o

chosen vec

which give

the househ

additional

completely

These tech

goods call

<sup>140-149</sup>).

effect are

(1)

household.

are large

orange juice" produces a vector of characteristics such as calories and vitamin C."

A complete and separate review of these two approaches is beyond the scope of this paper. Thus we will just mention some of the results from the linear characteristic model that are relevant to the household food consumption behavior that we are trying to model. (For details, see Lancaster's original paper or Lipsey and Rosenbluth). Since the essence of the two approaches are the same, it is possible to derive most of the results summarized below, by following Becker's approach.

In the linear characteristic framework, the household choice problem can be decomposed into two parts as in the case of a profit maximizing firm: (1) A private choice which consists of choosing the desired vector of characteristics, and (2) an efficiency choice which consists of finding the least cost combination of goods that yields the chosen vector of characteristics. The consumption technology constraint which gives rise to the efficiency choice is virtually independent of the household preference ordering of characteristics, and implies additional technological relationships between goods which are completely ignored in the traditional framework of demand analysis. These technological relationships induce a switching effect between goods called the "efficiency substitution effect" (Lancaster, 1966; pp. 140-149). Some of the consequences of this efficiency substitution effect are:

(1) Small changes in relative prices of the good may leave the household's efficient consumption point unchanged, whereas changes that are large enough make it switch completely from one good to another.

(2)
the effici
consumptio
(3)
activities
the effici
consumptio
disappears
This
quantity of
relative
Per
conventio

ĺ

Lancaster

get depen

(2) With a one-to-one correspondence between goods and activities, the efficiency substitution effect will result in a complete switch from consumption of one good to consumption of another.

(3) If there is no one-to-one relationship between goods and activities, that is some goods are used in more than one activity, then the efficiency substitution effect will simply result in less consumption of a good whose price rises, but not a complete disappearance of that good from consumption.

This model reveals a substantial amount of variations in the quantity of goods demanded by the household which cannot be explained by relative price and income variation alone.

Perhaps, the distinguishing features of this model compared to the conventional consumer theory is better illustrated by quoting Lancaster's contrasting examples showing the conclusion that one would get depending on which theory you are using (Lancaster, 1966, p. 155). A re subs Subs butt freq tive soci cond A go the pric The mark (Gre set fici disa

Wood subs char

An j affe leav the whice Some

Some intr

This Theory	Conventional Theory
Wood will not be a close substitute for bread, since characteristics are dissimilar	No reason except "tastes" why they should not be close substitutes.
A red Buick will be a close substitute for a gray Buick	No reason why they should be any closer substitutes than wood and bread
Substitution (for example, butter and margarine) is frequently intrinsic and objec- tive, will be observed in many societies under many market conditions	No reason why close substitutes in one context should be close substitutes in another
A good may be displaced from the market by new goods or by price changes	No presumption that goods will be completely displaced
The labor choice may have a marked occupational pattern	Labor-leisure choice determined solely by individual preferen- ces; no pattern, other than be- tween individuals, would be predicted
(Gresham's Law) A monetary as- set may cease to be on the ef- ficiency frontier, and will disappear from the economy	No ex ante presumption that any good or asset will disappear from the economy
An individual is completely un- affected by price changes that leave unchanged the portion of the efficiency frontier on which his choice rests	An individual is affected by changes in all prices
Some commodity groups may be intrinsic, and universally so	No presumption that commodities forming a group (defined by a break in spectrum of cross-ela- sticities) in one context will form a group in another context
In emp consumer beh are attribut treatment of model, sinc inherent to household a its object (1984, p. observable practice limitatio theoretic as healt variable ecc., w satisfa F Widely identif droppe space. assung set o to it

In empirical demand analysis using the traditional framework of consumer behavior, much of the frequently high unexplained variations are attributed to an unspecified "taste" variation component. This treatment of "taste" is unsatisfactory within the household production model, since the model makes clear the differences between variations inherent to the consumption technology constraint that faces the household and variations due to the household's preference ordering of its objects of choice. However, as pointed out by Deaton and Muellbauer (1984, p. 244), when many of the variables in the model are not observable or hardly measurable, it may be impossible to separate in practice the two sources of variation. This is perhaps one of the limitations of the household production model. Often, the scope theoretically covered includes a wide range of "unusual" variables such as health and medical care (Grossman, 1972, 1976), "environmental variable," (Michael and Becker, 1973); "seeing of a play" (Becker, 1965) etc., whose definitions and treatments are not operationally satisfactory.

For instance, marginal or (infinitesimal) differential methods are widely used to derive equilibrium conditions while some of the variables identified by Becker are intrinsically discrete.

In general, even if the linearity of the consumption technology is dropped, the choice set is assumed to be a subspace of the Euclidean space. But in most cases such as our food consumption model, this assumption is neither realistic nor practical. Here, the household's set of choices is postulated to be primarily the set of dishes available to it, and a dish embodies more than the characteristics of the raw

foods used in

and individua

attributes t

amount of ti

digestibilit

dish, depen

in it, the

household

But with r

observe is

ļ

That is to

the dishe

using sou

procedure

discussi

Lancaste

maximiz

rather

that th

charact

charac

discre

object

that j

from

foods used in it (per unit content of calory, protein, vitamin, etc., and individual flavor, taste, etc.). Indeed, a dish has other attributes that are independent of these characteristics (example. amount of time, energy and labor required for cooking it, taste. digestibility etc.). In addition, the household demand for a particular dish, depends on its cost which includes the price of the raw foods used in it. the cost of time, energy and labor required for cooking it, the household vector of characteristics and other unobservable variables. But with respect to the actual choice of the household, all we can observe is which dish is consumed by the household, by the household. That is to say that this choice set is inherently discrete. Quantifying the dishes consumed in a continuous manner can hardly be done without using some weighted combination of the raw foods used in the dishes, a procedure which would not be satisfactory for us. From the ongoing discussion. it is clear that our formulation is different from Lancaster's formulation in that we do not assume that the household maximizes the utility of the characteristics of the raw foods, but rather the utility of the dishes themselves. In other words, we assume that the household choice set is the set of dishes, not Lancaster's characteristics space. That makes a difference since the characteristics space is generally continuous, while our choice set is discrete. But still the basic relationship between inputs and the object of choices which are supposed to yield utility is the same and that is this basic relationship that we are interested in.

The inherent discreteness of the choice set not only prevents us from using differential methods to solve our utility maximization

problem, but it also brings new features to the problem. In this case, corner solutions are the rule rather than the exception. This makes the efficiency substitution effect discussed earlier more pertinent.

With respect to our food consumption model this has the following consequences (see Deaton and Muellbauer, 1984; p. 252). First. At the household level, the derived demands for the individual raw foods are likely to be highly discontinuous (unstable) since small changes in relative prices can bring about large changes in quantities demanded of certain raw foods; and conversely, large changes in relative prices may leave the quantities demanded unchanged. For instance, in the food consumption matrix of table 2.1, if the relative share cost of meat in couscous 1 is very high, a small change in the price of meat may lead the household to drop this dish from its diet, and this will cause a large drop in its demand for millet. In the extreme case where couscous 2 and "lax" are not available for various reasons, the household switch to rice-based dishes and cut completely its demand for millet. Conversely, if the relative share cost of rice is low in the riceintensive dishes, then it may require a big change in the price of rice before the household switches to non rice-based dishes.

Second, still the household level, with non-homothetic indifference maps, as the household budget shrinks (or expands), new corner solutions will appear with changes in the shape of the indifference curves. This will then make inferior goods as well as of Giffen goods more common. For example, an increase in the price of rice will shrink the overall household daily food budget. Given the relative inelasticity of demand of the midday rice-based meal, for reasons

explained in section 2.1, this will reduce more the budget share for the evening meal, which can lead the household to switch more often from the costly couscous 1 to rice-intensive dishes. In this instance, rice would clearly be a Giffen good. Conversely, a rise in the household food budget will make couscous 1 more affordable, thus potentially increasing the demand for this dish at the expense of the rice-intensive dish. In this case, rice would be an inferior good.

While economists recognize the possibility of necessity goods being inferior, they usually dismiss the case of Giffen goods as intuitively contrary to "common sense". However, this "common sense" cannot be justified on theoretical grounds since the negativity of the Slustky substitution matrix implied by the theory of demand applies only to the Hicksian demand functions, not to the Marshallian demand functions which are the ones estimated. Despite of this fact, in empirical demand estimation, the presence of positive own price elasticities is generally attributed to misspecification of the demand equation. But we have seen that within the household production model the existence of Giffen goods is theoretically justified. Moreover, using the linear characteristics model, Lipsey and Rosenbluth (1971, pp. 151-158) have shown that for some consumption technologies, Giffen goods and more likely inferior goods would be commonplace for some range of income. Furthermore, after reviewing thirty empirical studies on demand measurement published between 1960 and 1970, they concluded that ". . . the frequency with which positive price coefficients are found leads us to believe that the existing evidence does not support " the economist's

"conv 159). relat impor subst varia been prepa house couse In ge activ (Beck impor house Thus, incer analo case, const price consu tradi "conventional wisdom" on Giffen goods (Lipsey and Rosenbluth; 1971; p. 159).

With respect to our particular model, we have seen that the relative share of costs of the raw foods in the different dishes are important parameters determining the different elasticities of substitution. In chapter 4 we will see formally, how these share cost variables enter in the systems of demand equations. Also, what has not been explicit so far in our analysis is the time cost of dish preparation. This exogenous variable is important in determining household choices among dishes. This is especially the case for couscous whose preparation is known to be difficult and time consuming. In general, the allocation of time among production and consumption activities is an essential parameter in the household production model (Becker, 1965).

From this discussion of the household production model, we see the importance of the "consumption technology" constraint in determining the household's response to changes in relative prices of the food staples. Thus, the lack of response by subsistence farmers to producer price incentives (a argument often advanced by some researchers), may have its analog with the food consumption behavior of the household. In this case, policy tools that tend to alter these consumption technology constraints, might be more effective than simple distortion of relative prices.

It is easily seen that the relationship between this food consumption model, given by equations (3.1), (3.2), and (3.3), and the traditional model of consumer demand is the one linking a structural

node ] of th to in budge probl funct econo ident becau subst Even overi known struc purpo enoug struc Bore Bode] abili behav to ch Prefe

and o

model to its reduced form. Since the dishes are (nonlinear) functions of the vector of raw foods, maximizing the utility of the dishes amounts to indirectly maximizing the utility of the raw foods subject to the budget constraint (3.4). Hence, solving indirectly the maximization problem might eventually yield the traditional system of demand functions for the food staples which can be adequately estimated by econometrically efficient methods, provided there is exact identification between the structural model and its reduced form. But, because the functions in (3.2) are generally highly nonlinear, the substitution leading to the reduced form is generally not feasible. Even so, the exact identification will be unlikely. In fact, overidentification is the normal case (Barnett, 1977), and it is well known that in cases of overidentification the estimation of the structural model is statistically more efficient. Even for forecasting purposes, where the inherently less informative reduced form is often enough, the reduced form forecasts may be more easily generated from the structural model, (see Barnett, 1977; footnotes 8, 13, 14 and 21 for a more complete discussion of the advantages in estimating the structural model directly).

In summary, the superiority of the structural model comes from its ability to separate the three sources of variation in observed household behavior: those due to changes in income and relative prices, those due to changes in the consumption technology, and those due to changes in preferences or tastes.

If our choice set could be identified with the Euclidean space, and our functions well-behaved, we could proceed to solve directly the

struct		
which		
examp		
assum		
(3.5)		
where		
taker		
chara		
yiel		
homo		
Bati		
rest		
(Ba		
err		
and		
وده		
o£		
app		
est		

structural maximization problem (given by equations (3.1) - (3.4) ) which would yield a system of demand equations on the dishes (see, for example, Pollak and Watcher, 1975, for details on the additional assumptions needed):

(3.5) 
$$d_{f} = g_{f}(C, I)$$
  $i=1,...,k$ .

where C = (C(1), ..., C(k)) is the vector of costs of the dishes and I is taken here as income to simplify but in general a vector of household characteristics.

This system of demand equations would satisfy all the restrictions yielded by the neoclassical theory of demand and production: homogeneity, symmetry, non-negativity of the Slustky or substitution matrix, etc. In turn, these restrictions imply restrictions upon the response of the demands to variation in taste and technology (Barnett, 1977).

To estimate the system of demands in (3.5), one would specify an error process and proceed to estimate the conditional means  $E(d_i|C,I)$  and the conditional variances  $var(d_i|C,I)$  which are sufficient for the econometric estimation of the system of demands in (3.5). This supposes of course that we can measure adequately the dishes  $d_i$ .

However, with the discreteness of our choice set this direct approach is not possible. But since in econometrics all we do is to estimate the first two moments of the conditional distribution of the

endogenous variables<sup>3</sup>, which are in our case the actual observable dish choices made by the household, the structural model is still estimable. although the testable neoclassical restrictions are not anymore immediate. If we recognize that the actual demand for a dish will depend on the characteristics of the raw foods (per unit content of calory, protein, vitamins etc., individual flavor and taste, etc.), the price vector of the raw foods, the opportunity cost of time, other observable and unobservable attributes of the dish (taste, digestibility, etc.), and the household vector of characteristics ( income, household composition, etc.), then with a discrete endogenous variable, the conditional mean  $E(d_i | \tilde{X}_i, C, h_c)$  is given by  $Prob(d_i=1)$ , the probability of occurrence of the event that consists of dish i being chosen by the household. Here di is a dichotomous random variable that takes the value one if dish i is chosen and zero otherwise,  $\ddot{X}_{i}$  is the vector of the attributes of the dish (including the characteristics of the raw foods), C is the vector of costs of the dishes, and  $\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{C}}$  is the vector of household characteristics. In summary, the structural model to be estimated is now

(3.6) 
$$E(d_i|X_i,C,h_c) = Prob(d_i-1) = F[h_i(X_i,C,h_c)] \quad i=1,\ldots,k.$$

where F is the distribution function of the multinomial probability distribution underlying the choice process, and  $h_i$  is an unknown function. This probability distribution depends in general on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In special cases like the normal distribution, these two moments are enough to completely determine the distribution.

attrib vector knowl funct diffe poss choi dive choi have con cho div ٧h Te st ( 0 E attributes of the dishes, the vector price of the raw foods, and the vector of characteristics of the household. We see from (3.6) that knowledge of the multinomial distribution function F and the exact functional form of the  $h_i$  will allow estimation of the demand for the different dishes by their estimated probability of being chosen.

The discreteness of the choice set also makes more likely the possibility of simultaneity and/or temporal correlation of the dish choice decisions. For instance, because of taste and diet diversification, the choice of today's dishes is affected by yesterday's choices, and will certainly affect tomorrow's choices. This might not have been a problem if the set of dishes available to the household were convex, since with a convex preference ordering the household could choose any convex combination of dishes to satisfy its taste and diet diversification needs.

Having the demand for the dishes given by their conditional means, which constitute the set of structural equations of the model, we can recover the reduced form demand equations for the different basic food staples. From this, we can get the usual system of demand elasticities (own, cross and income elasticities) which are of interest for policy makers.

Indeed, if  $x_{ij}$  is the amount of raw food j used in the preparation of dish i, then the demand  $X_j$  of raw food j given by its unconditional mean is:

(3.7**)** X

where X<sub>ij</sub>

values x<sub>i</sub>

can be ca

probabili

Fro

underlyin

thus, its

model. F

household

propertie

discrete

utility m

Luce, 19

econometi

Manski ar

(3.7) 
$$X_{j} = E(X_{ij} | \tilde{X}_{i}, C, h_{c}) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} x_{ij} \cdot Prob\{m_{i}=1\}$$
  

$$k = \sum_{i=1}^{k} x_{ij} \cdot F[h_{i}(\tilde{X}_{i}, C, h_{c})]$$

where  $X_{ij}$  for j=1,...,n is a random variable taking the different values  $x_{ij}$  conditionally on i. The cross price and income elasticities can be calculated from equation (3.7) and they will all depend on the probability distribution function F.

From this development, we see that the probability distribution underlying the choice process plays an important role in this model. thus, its appropriate specification is essential for estimating this model. For this, we need to redefine precisely the nature of the household preference ordering, the objects of the choices and the properties of the choice set, and the decision rule that leads to these discrete choices. This leads us to the probabilistic choice or random utility model, originally developed by psychologists (Thurston, 1927; Luce, 1959 and 1965; Block and Marshak, 1960) and then made econometrically estimable by the pioneering work of D. McFadden, C. F. Manski and colleagues.

٨s in detail consumpti follows: ve are ma tried as assumptio choice se function of the se because , usefulne It Maximizi since ut convenie Preferer househo] shown th <sup>ordering</sup> function section

#### CHAPTER 4

THE MATHEMATICS OF THE PROBABILISTIC CHOICE MODEL

As its title indicates, the purpose of this chapter is to work out in detail the mathematical framework within which the household food consumption behavior is analyzed. The organization of the chapter is as follows: In section 4.1, we discuss in detail all the assumptions that we are making to model the household food consumption behavior. We tried as much as possible to state clearly and rigorously all the assumptions. In section 4.2, we give a mathematical structure to the choice set of the household and then proceed to derive a utility function representing the household preference ordering. The remaining of the section is to link this utility to the random utility model. Because of its abstractness, we need to justify the relevance and usefulness of this axiomatic approach.

It is difficult to debate whether or not the household is maximizing the utility of the dish or the utility of the raw foods in it since utility is not observed. Indeed, utility is a pure and convenient creation of the analyst to represent the assumed household preference ordering over the choice set. But, we do observe the household choosing both among dishes and among raw foods, and Debreu has shown that with a minimum of assumptions about the household preference ordering over the space of raw foods, we can derive a ordinal utility function that represents this preference ordering. Our propose in this section is to show that based on a preference ordering over the space of

dishes we can ed the household pr some economists choices be base utility<sup>4</sup>. Havi the familiar co structure of th of the set of d mathematical st household prefe summarizing the choice models, hope to be comp include some ma example, permit substitutable others. Such to have sharp Coming b household as c <sup>it as</sup> making i our view is co the "technolo using the tra 4. See D

dishes we can equally derive an ordinal utility function that represents the household preference ordering over the space of dishes. For some economists like Debreu, it is desired that any model explaining choices be based on the more basic concept of preference than of utility<sup>4</sup>. Having changed the structure of the household choice set from the familiar commodity space (which is assumed to have the "continuum" structure of the Euclidean space) to the inherently discrete structure of the set of dishes, we felt the need to explore the type of mathematical structure and assumptions required to represent the household preference ordering by a utility function. Furthermore, summarizing the point of view of some early critiques of probabilistic choice models, Luce (1965, pg. 337) wrote: "They suggest that we cannot hope to be completely successful in dealing with preferences until we include some mathematical structure over the set of outcomes that for example, permits us to characterize those outcomes that are simply substitutable for one another and those that are special cases of others. Such functional and logical relations among the outcomes seem to have sharp control over the preference."

Coming back to our problem, our main argument is that viewing the household as choosing primarily among dishes is more useful than viewing it as making its choices over the space of raw foods. Furthermore, if our view is correct, then, because of the constraints brought about by the "technology" of dishes and the discreteness of the choice process, using the traditional approach will introduce what I will refer

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>. See Deaton and Muellbauer (1984) for a similar argument.



statistically

selection bia argument. A 1

Later, we wil

censoring ef:

of missing of

items) in alr

that, you do dishes.

In sec

derive the c

great detail

the propriet

(direct, ind

<sup>dishes</sup>, and

We felt the

<sup>system</sup>. It

properties a

Given the im

<sup>applied</sup> cons

rather than

<sup>restrictions</sup>

hereafter as "dish selection bias." This point will be clear by the end of this chapter, and its statistical consequences will be discussed thoroughly in the chapter on estimation where we give methods for correcting for this "dish selection bias." It turns out that statistically, the traditional view is the special case of no "dish selection bias." Hence one can statistically test the validity of our argument. A testing procedure is proposed in the estimation chapter. Later, we will argue that this dish selection problem which has a censoring effect is the major explanation of the relatively large number of missing observations (observed zero quantity consumed for some food items) in almost all the food consumption surveys. The basic fact is that, you do not buy raw foods that you do not use in your "selected" dishes.

In section 4.3 we solve the household maximization problem and derive the conditional indirect utility functions. Section 4.4 goes in great detail (that some may find unnecessary) in deriving and discussing the proprieties of the different utility and expenditure functions (direct, indirect, conditional and unconditional), the demands for the dishes, and the conditional and unconditional demands for the raw foods. We felt the need for this discussion because of the nature of our choice system. It was not obvious to us that we will end up with the same properties and restrictions implied by the traditional demand theory. Given the importance attached on testing these restrictions in modern applied consumption analysis, we preferred this detailed discussion rather than the short sentence: "all the usual properties and restrictions apply." The last part of this section shows how the model

explains the pro

household consum

Finally, t

the implementati

namely the AIDS

4.1. The Struct

A1201

The follow

the meaning and

given below, on

of the definiti

probabilistic c

Because we are

estimable model

the formulation

model better.

4.1.1.

A.1.

**A**.2

explains the problem of zero quantity consumed usually observed in household consumption surveys.

Finally, the purpose of the last section is to work out in details the implementation of our model, by using an specific functional form, namely the AIDS functional form.

# 4.1. The Structure of the Choice System: Definitions and Assumptions.

The following definitions and assumptions are needed to clarify the meaning and intuitions behind the fundamental axiom that will be given below, on which most of the results of the model are based. Most of the definitions, assumptions, and concepts have been discussed in the probabilistic choice literature (e.g., Manski, 1977; McFadden, 1981). Because we are mainly concerned with deriving an econometrically estimable model with precise and easily observable variables, however, the formulations and meanings are changed to fit our food consumption model better.

- 4.1.1. <u>Definitions and Assumptions Related to the Consumption</u> <u>Units</u>:
  - A.1. The population of individuals  $\mathcal{C}$  is supposed to be partitioned into subsets of consumption units called households. The set of all households noted 3 constitutes the set of individual decision makers. Thus, it is a subset of  $2^{\mathcal{C}}$  the power set of  $\mathcal{C}$ .
  - A.2. It is assumed that each household is described by a vector of observable and unobservable characteristics.
     More precisely, we assume that there exists a mapping

4.1.2 B  $\zeta: 3 \rightarrow R^{k_{+}}$  associating every household h with a vector of characteristics  $h_{c}$ , element of  $R^{k_{+}}$ . The range of  $\zeta$  is then called the characteristic space and is noted C. For instance, the coordinates of  $h_{c}$ may include income level, source of income, household size, number of adults, household "tastes", and other unobservable characteristics.

# 4.1.2. <u>Definitions and Assumptions Related to the Object of</u> <u>Choices</u>:

- B.1. We assume as usual that the commodity space which includes the raw foods is the non-negative orthant of the Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^p$ . Hence, the space of raw foods will be  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$  with n<p.
- B.2. We assume that the household combines a subset of the raw foods to produce, by means of some technological transformation, a final product called a dish, and the set of all dishes is called the space of alternatives and noted A. More precisely, we assume that there exists a mapping T:  $\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+} \rightarrow A$  associating every vector of raw foods r, with an alternative a-T(r).
- B.3. We assume that each dish or alternative is described by a vector of observable and unobservable attributes. More precisely, we assume that there exists a mapping  $\mu$ :  $A \rightarrow R^{q}$  associating every alternative a with a vector of attributes  $x_{a}$  element of  $R^{q}$ . The range of  $\mu$ is called the space of attributes and noted  $\chi$ . For instance, the coordinates of  $x_{a}$  may include the

characteristics of the individual raw food used in the dish (per unit content of calory, protein, vitamins, etc., flavor, taste, etc.), dish cooking time, amount of energy required for cooking the dish, dish taste, dish digestibility, etc.

- B.4. The choice set is postulated to be not the space of raw foods, but rather the set A of all possible dishes.
- B.5. We assume that each household has a preference ordering which completely orders the elements of A, each time it makes its consumption decision. This preference ordering which depends on the household's characteristics and the time the consumption decision is made, is assumed to be reflexive, transitive and complete, and is noted  $\ge$  (for  $a \in A$  and  $b \in A$   $a \ge b$ means a is preferred to b).
- B.6. The household is assumed to make its food consumption decisions repetitively and on a daily basis (We assumed that the household has three meals a day, and for each dish it cooks only one dish).
- B.7. We assume that each time the household makes its consumption decision, there exists a finite choice set E contained in A from where it must select only one alternative. E is called the set of feasible alternatives available to the household at the time the choice is made. In general, E depends not only on the consumption technology and the household vector of

В.8.	
	1
fo	
cl	
4.1.3.	34
C.1	
v.2	
C.	
۰.	

characteristics, but also it depends on the time the choice is made.

B.8. It is assumed that the selection of an alternative is unpredictable because of unobservable household characteristics (e.g. "tastes") and attributes of the dishes. In that sense, the outcome of the household choice is random.

The above definitions and assumptions motivate the following adaptation of the axiom of the probabilistic choice model (P.C.M.).

- 4.1.3. <u>Fundamental Axiom of the P.C.M.</u>:
  - C.1. It is assumed that the choice set or set of alternatives is  $B(R^{d}_{+})$ , the Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra of  $R^{d}_{+}$ , that is  $A = B(R^{d}_{+})$ , with d>n.
  - C.2.  $\mathbb{R}^{d}_{+} \notin \mathbb{E}$ , and  $(T^{-1}(\mathbb{E}), \mathbb{E})$  is a measurable space where  $\mathbb{E}$  is the feasible set and T is the mapping defined in B2.
  - C.3. There exists a probability measure  $P_E$  defined in E, such that  $(T^{-1}(E), E, P_E)$  is a probability space with  $\sum_{a \in E} P_E(a) = 1$ .  $P_E(a)$  measures the probability that the

household chooses alternative a.

C.4 The household preference ordering  $\ge$  is described by:

 $a \ge b$  if and only if  $P_E(a) \ge P_E(b)$ .

<u>Corrents</u>

\_\_\_\_

Assumption C

the usual id

orthant of t

{technologic

specifies the

that associa

share a spec

feasible cho

measurabilit

can make sen

household ch

discussed in

measures the

the househol

dishes are e

intuitive ap

discrete and

<sup>dish</sup> is an ;

this we do 1

the outcome

<sup>household</sup>)

selection o

The conditi

<sup>household</sup> ma

## Comments

Assumption Cl identifies a dish with a Borel set of  $R^{d}_{+}$ . This parallels the usual identification of the commodity space with the non-negative orthant of the Euclidean space. Indeed, given that a dish is a (technological) transformation of some vector of raw foods. Cl merely specifies the nature of this transformation which is a correspondence that associates each vector of  $R^{d}_{+}$  with a subset of  $R^{d}_{+}$  whose elements share a special relationship. Assumption C2 excludes  $R^{d}_{+}$  from the feasible choice set although it is an alternative by Cl. The measurability assumption is needed so that the following assumption C3 can make sense. Assumption C3 formalizes the randomness underlying the household choice process. The reasons for this randomness were discussed in B8. In some sense the postulated probability distribution measures the "chance" of a given dish of being selected or preferred by the household. Hence, in some sense, at least for the observer the dishes are events of the underlying choice process. This has some intuitive appeal given that the choice of a dish is observationally discrete and that for the econometrician the household's selection of a dish is an action, the consequence or outcome of which is an event. By this we do not mean that the choice action itself is random but rather the outcome of the choice process (which dish is selected by the household ) is random for the observer. In summary, C3 says that the selection of a dish is an event with a probability of occurrence  $P_{E}(a)$ . The condition  $\sum PE(a) = 1$  is just to formalize the fact that the

household must select one alternative from E. Assumption C4 is a modified version of a probabilistic definition of utility usually found

in the probabi Slock and Mars interpreted a The pro the consumpt: But also it change from 4.2 The Ma 4.2.1 <u>Cons</u> Supp finite che into [0,1 i) d<sub>E</sub> ii) d<sub>E</sub> iii) d<sub>E</sub> Proposi Proof -Comment implie: altern. Probab topolo all op in the probabilistic choice literature<sup>1</sup> (see, for example, Luce (1965), Block and Marshak (1960), or Debreu 1958).  $P_E(a) \ge P_E(b)$  is interpreted as "a is preferred to b " (Debreu, 1958, p. 440).

The probability distribution  $P_E$  depends indirectly through E on the consumption technology, the household characteristics and on time. But also it depends directly on time, since for an unchanging E,  $P_E$  may change from one decision to the next.

## 4.2 The Mathematical Structure of the Model.

# 4.2.1 Construction of a topology on the alternative space.

Suppose that the fundamental axiom holds, and let ECA be the finite choice set given by the axiom. Define the function  $d_E$  from AxA into [0,1] as follows:

i) 
$$d_{R}(a,b) = |P_{R}(a) - P_{R}(b)|$$
 if  $a \in E$  and  $b \in E$ 

ii) 
$$d_E(a,b) = 1$$
 if  $a \in E$  and  $b \notin E$  or  $a \notin E$  and  $b \in E$ 

iii)  $d_E(a,b) = 0$  if a set and b set

<u>Proposition</u>:  $d_E$  is a pseudometric for A.

Proof - see Appendix A1.

<u>Comments</u>: We note that  $d_E$  is not a metric since for  $a, b \in E d_E(a, b) = 0$ implies  $P_E(a) = P_E(b)$ , which does not imply a = b, because two alternatives in the feasible choice set may well have the same probability of being selected yet have different attributes.

.

Given  $d_E$ , (A,  $d_E$ ) is a pseudometric space. Hence  $d_E$  defines a topology in A, namely the topology of which base is the collection of all open balls B(a,r) = { beA;  $d_E(a,b) < r$  } for all aeA and r>0. Let (A,

F <sub>E</sub> )
( <b>A</b> .
(
4.2.
that
<b>-</b> .
<u></u>
(A, (
hou
Be
Len
spa
Р <del>и</del> л
PIC
as.
(4.
The
Vac
ייפא
جە. مە

 $F_E$ ) the corresponding topological space. Because  $d_E$  is not a metric, (A,  $F_E$ ) cannot be a Hausdorff topological space.

# 4.2.2. <u>Existence of a utility function on the alternative space.</u>

By definition a utility function on A is any real valued function that takes its values in  $R_{\perp}$ .

### Theorem

Assume that the fundamental axiom holds, then there exists on  $(A, d_E, \gg)$  a continuous (ordinal) utility function that represents the household preference ordering  $\gg$ .

Before proving the theorem, we need the following lemma.

## Lemna:

Under the axiom,  $(A, d_E)$  is a perfectly separable pseudometric space.

# Proof:

See Appendix A2.

## Proof of the Theorem

By C4., the household's preference ordering ≥ on A was defined as follows:

(4.2.2) **a**  $\ge$  **b** if and only if  $P_E(a) \ge P_E(b)$ 

# for all a and $b \in A$

Then,  $\ge$  is a complete ordering on A (see Appendix A3 for the proof). Next,  $F_E$ , the topology corresponding to  $d_E$  is a natural topology for  $\ge$ , that is, the sets

 $F_1 = \{ b \in A / a \ge b \}$  and  $F_2 = \{ b \in A / b \ge a \}$
are
orde
spac
theo
cont
⊅,
(4.)
the
bas
(R <sup>n</sup>
One
uti
uti
υE
4.7
as
ali
the
co

are closed for all  $a \in A$ . This is the same as saying that the preference ordering  $\ge$  is continuous for  $F_E$ . See appendix A4 for the proof.

So, A is a completely ordered and perfectly separable topological space whose topology is natural for the ordering  $\ge$ . Hence from a theorem of Debreu (1954, pp. 159-65), there exists on A, an ordinal continuous utility function U<sub>E</sub> that preserves the preference ordering  $\ge$ , that is

(4.2.3) **a**  $\ge$  **b** if and only if  $U_E(a) \ge U_E(b)$ 

for all a and  $b \in A$ .

In summary, there exists a continuous ordinal utility function in the choice set A such that the alternative yielding the maximum utility has the best chance to be chosen by the household.

Since by definition a random variable on the measurable space  $(R^{n}_{+}, A)$  is any measurable real valued function defined in  $(R^{n}_{+}, A)$ , one point that comes immediately to mind is the measurability of the utility function  $U_{E}$ . This would enable us to speak of  $U_{E}$  as a random utility function. However, this cannot make sense since the domain of  $U_{E}$  is A instead of  $R^{n}_{+}$ .

## 4.2.3. The Random Utility Model.

If in addition to the fundamental axiom one makes the standard assumption of utility maximization behavior, that is, the household always chooses the alternative yielding the maximum utility, then, from the observer's viewpoint, the alternative yielding the maximum utility corresponds to the one with the highest probability of being chosen.

pro gen ]-0 con €B ont va: dej cot sha Pį ٨<sub>E</sub> fo pr in DO ch at cł 01 20 C; 36 ხე For a formal development of the random utility model, one can proceed as follows:

Let  $U_E(A)$  be the range of  $U_E$  and consider the  $\sigma$ -field  $B_E$ generated by the collection of all half lines ]- $\infty$ ,  $U_E(a)$ ] a $\in A$ , such that ]- $\infty$ ,  $U_E(a)$ [  $\subset U_E(A)$ . Then  $(U_E(A), B_E)$  is a measurable space. Now, consider the  $\sigma$ -field  $A_E$  on A generated by  $U_E$  that is  $A_E = \{ U_E^{-1}(B) \}$  B  $\in B_E$  }. Then by construction  $U_E$  is a measurable function from (A,  $A_E$ ) onto  $(U_E(A), B_E)$ . In that sense, we would say that  $U_E$  is a random variable meaning that it is measurable with respect to the  $\sigma$ -field defined above. Then, based on our postulated probability space, we can construct a probability measure on  $A_E$ . More precisely, we would like to show that there exists a probability measure P defined on  $A_E$  such that  $P[U_E(a) \ge U_E(b)] = P[\{ b \in A; U_E(a) \ge U_E(b) \}] = P_E(a)$  for all  $a \in A$ . (A,  $A_E$ , P) would be then a probability space with P[ $U_E(a) \ge U_E(b)$ ] =  $P_E(a)$ for all  $a \in A$ . For our purpose, we will take the existence of this probability space as a conjecture. In Appendix A5, we give some indications on how one may proceed to show this existence.

An alternative way to introduce randomness in the utility is to note that  $U_E$  depends implicitly on the household vector of characteristic  $h_c$  and on the attributes of the alternative's vector of attributes  $x_a$ , because both E and  $P_E$  depend on these. But all these characteristics and attributes cannot be completely known and observed. Only a finite number of them can be observed and measured (with some measurement errors). Then, one may want to partition the vectors of characteristics and attributes into two parts: one part observable and measurable, the other part not observable. That is the approach taken by Manski (1977). Formally, he wrote  $h_c$  and  $x_a$  as  $h_c = (h_{co}, h_{cu})$ ;  $x_a =$ 

(X <sub>20</sub> ,
This
rando
the t
in Be
rando
For
<b>a</b> l.
4.3.
4.3.
for
foly
(4.)
(4.
Thi
وعة
the

 $(x_{ao}, x_{au})$  with  $h_{co}$  and  $x_{ao}$  observable but  $h_{cu}$  and  $x_{au}$  unobservable. This approach yields the random utility model where the source of randomness of the utility is attributed to the inability to observe all the household characteristics and goods attributes. Manski (1973) cited in Ben-Akiva et al. (1985) identified the following sources of randomness of the utility function:

1 -- .. unobserved attributes

2 -- unobserved taste variations

3 -- measurement errors and imperfect information

4 -- instrumental (or proxy) variables

For a detailed analysis of these sources of randomness, see Ben-Akiva et al. (1985, pp. 55-57).

#### 4.3. Solution of the Household Maximization Problem.

## 4.3.1. The general solution.

Let  $E = \{a_1, \ldots, a_m\}$  be the finite set of feasible alternatives, for  $i=1,\ldots,m$  let  $d_i$  be the dichotomous random variable defined as follows:

 $(4.3.1) \quad d_{i} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } a_{i} \text{ is selected by the household} \\ 0 & \text{if not} \end{cases}$ 

then we have :

(4.3.2) 
$$P\{d_i=1\} = P_E\{a_i\}$$
  
=  $P\{U_E(a_i) = \max U_E(a_i) = j=1,...,m\}$ 

This follows immediately from the conjecture defining P and the assumption of utility maximization, with utility maximized subject to the constraint defined by the set E of feasible alternatives. We note

			that
			alter
			a <sub>i</sub> an
			the f
			1 d:
			.,
			x <sub>aį</sub> ,
			chara
			U <sub>E</sub> (a
			Vect
			Cost
			func
			(4.3
			Henc
			indj
			def

Wit

(4.

that the  $d_i$  i=1,...,m are observable. Here i is an index for the alternative  $a_i$ , and since there is a one to one correspondence between  $a_i$  and i, we can just keep the index i standing for  $a_i$ . For instance, the finite set of feasible dishes of the household is designated as dish 1, dish 2, . . ., dish m.

Now, since E depends on the alternatives' vectors of attributes  $x_{a_i}$ , and costs C(i) i=1,...,m., and the household vector of characteristics  $h_c$ , a solution  $a_i$  of the maximization problem max{ $U_E(a_j) j = 1,...,m$ } subject to  $a_j \in E$ , will be function of  $x_{a_i}$ , the vector of attributes of the chosen alternative,  $h_c$ , and a vector of costs of all the alternatives, noted v. That is we should have a demand function  $a_i(x_{a_i},v,h_c)$  for a chosen alternative  $a_i$  such that (4.3.3)  $U_E[a_i(x_{a_i},v,h_c)] = max{U_E(a_j) j = 1,...,m.}$ .

Hence, when  $(x_{a_{i}}, v, h_{c})$  varies over  $XxR^{m}_{+}\times C$ , we have the conditional indirect utility function  $V_{i}$  (conditional on dish i being chosen) defined as:

$$XxR^{\mathbf{m}}_{+} \times C \xrightarrow{\mathbf{v}} R$$

$$V_{\mathbf{i}}: (x_{\mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{i}}}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{c}}) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{v}} V_{\mathbf{i}}(x_{\mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{i}}}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{c}}) = U_{\mathbf{E}}[\mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{i}}(x_{\mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{i}}}, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{c}})] \xrightarrow{\mathbf{n}} \mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{x}} U_{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{j}})$$

$$1 \leq \mathbf{j} \leq \mathbf{m}$$

with

. . . .

$$(4.3.4) P\{d_{i}=1\}=P\{V_{i}(x_{a_{i}},v,h_{c}) = \max\{U_{E}(a_{i}) j=1,...,m\}\}$$



and given that

rando**m**.

The ran

into a observ

 $(x_{au}, h_{cu})$ .

(4.3.5) V

where as usu

unobservable

Let V<sub>k</sub>

functions, t

(4.3.6) V<sub>i</sub>

if and only

Hence,

(4.3.7) P

T

(McFadden,

4.3.2. I Let x <sup>dish</sup> i for

<sup>used</sup> in dis

We ca

<sup>gene</sup>ral on

<sup>composition</sup>

and given that  $U_E$  is random in the sense defined above,  $V_i$  will also be random.

The randomness of  $V_i$  can also be derived by decomposing  $(x_{a_i}, h_c)$ into a observable component  $(x_{a_i0}, h_{c0})$  and an unobservable component  $(x_{a_i}, h_{c0})$ . Then following Manski (1977) we can write:

(4.3.5) 
$$V_i(x_{a_i}, v, h_c) = V_i(x_{a_i}o, v, h_co) + \epsilon_i(x_{a_i}u, h_cu)$$

where as usual,  $\epsilon_i(x_{a_iu},h_{cu})$  is a random disturbance summarizing the unobservable components of the conditional indirect utility function.

Let  $V_k(x_{a_i}, v, h_c)$  k-1,..., m be the m conditional indirect utility functions, then we have:

$$(4.3.6) \quad \forall_{i}(x_{a_{i}},v,h_{c}) = \max \{ U_{E}(a_{j}), j=1,...m. \}$$
  
if and only if  $\forall_{i}(x_{a_{i}},v,h_{c}) \geq \forall_{k}(x_{a_{i}},v,h_{c})$  for all  $k \neq i, k=1,...,m$ .  
Hence,

(4.3.7) P(d<sub>1</sub>-1)-P( V<sub>1</sub>(x<sub>a1</sub>,v,h<sub>c</sub>) ≥ V<sub>k</sub>(x<sub>a1</sub>,v,h<sub>c</sub>) for k≠i and k-1,...,m)
This is the familiar formulation of the random utility model
(McFadden, 1981).

#### 4.3.2. The structure of the feasible set of alternatives:

Let  $x_{ij}$  be the amount of raw food j used in the preparation of dish i for i-1,...,m and j-1,...,m. Hence  $x_{ij}=0$  if no raw food j is used in dish i.

We can see that a priori, for a given dish i,  $x_{ij}$  depends in general on observable household characteristics (ex: household composition, household income etc.), as well as on unobservable

- household c
- etc...). I
- content of
- raw foods u
- the intrins
- i). For a
- on the unob
- the amount
- conditional
- variable X
- where c is
- includes:
- household
- P<sub>Ji</sub>) is th
- unknown fu
  - Give
- bousehold
- also expe
- (ceteris
- functions
- 5. I Unobserva some of t If one is may consi foods and easily ch.

household characteristics (ex: household "tastes", technical knowledge, etc...). It depends also on the characteristics of raw food j (per unit content of calorie, protein, vitamins, etc.), the relative prices of the raw foods used in the dish, and some other unobservable attributes (ex: the intrinsic contributing flavor of the raw food j with respect to dish i). For a given raw food j,  $x_{ij}$  depends generally among other things on the unobservable consumption technology. Hence, for a given dish i, the amount of raw food j used in dish i, which is the household's conditional quantity demanded of raw food j, is a real valued random variable  $X_{ij}$  with observable and unobservable components that is<sup>5</sup>:

(4.3.8)  $X_{ij} = h_i(P_i, c) + \eta_{ij}$ 

where c is a vector of observable household characteristics that includes: household size, number of adults and women in the household, household income etc...  $\eta_{ij}$  is a random disturbance term. Pi-(P<sub>1</sub>,..., P<sub>J<sub>i</sub></sub>) is the vector price of the J<sub>i</sub> raw foods used in dish i, h<sub>i</sub> is an unknown function of P<sub>i</sub> and c.

Given i, one might expect  $h_i$  to be a nondecreasing function of the household size and number of adults for most of the raw foods. It is also expected to be a non increasing function of  $P_j$  for  $j=1,\ldots,J_i$ (ceteris paribus of course). Hence, an appropriate specification of the functions  $h_i$   $i=1,\ldots,m$  would enable one to capture the economy of scale

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>. In general we will consider all the raw foods characteristics as unobservable to simplify the analysis although it is possible to observe some of them (ex: per unit content of calorie, protein, vitamins, etc.). If one is interested in some nutritional aspects of food consumption, he may consider measuring these nutritional contents of the individual raw foods and incorporate them into the model. The following results can be easily changed to accommodate these nutritional aspects.

embodied i functional a solution In g dishes are Give observable consumptio depends on measured b major comp household household : unobservab; assume some consumption <sup>(4.3.9)</sup> d where c now other than One s <sup>income</sup>, hou of expendit <sup>beyond</sup> some

------

6. Sin simplify th Alternative vector with embodied in the household consumption technology. The precise functional form of the h<sub>i</sub>'s will be clear later, when we derive them as a solution of the household utility maximization problem.

In general, the only observable intrinsic attributes of the dishes are the amount of time and energy needed for their preparations.

Given the food prices and the consumption technology, the observable constraints facing the household when making its daily consumption choices are: (1) the household meal budget d(c) which depends on its vector of characteristics c, and (2) the time constraint<sup>6</sup> measured by the maximum total time available for dish preparation. The major components of the vector of characteristics c in d(c) are: the household income y and its expenditure on non food items  $e_N$ . But, the household size, its number of adults and other observable and unobservable characteristics are included in c as well. Hence, if we assume some degree of separability between food consumption and non food consumption, then we can write:

(4.3.9) d' = d(y,e<sub>N</sub>,c)

where c now stands for the components of the household characteristics other than income and expenditure on non food items.

One should expect  $d(y,e_N,c)$  to be a nondecreasing function of income, household size and number of adults but a nonincreasing function of expenditure on nonfood items. However, since food is a necessity, beyond some range of income,  $d(y,e_N,c)$  is probably insensitive to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>. Since energy and time enter the model in a similar way, to simplify the analysis we will concentrate only on the time variable. Alternatively, one can think of our time variable as a bi-dimensional vector with coordinates time and energy.

changes in
that change
household s
the househo
Hence
the unit co
<b>45</b> :
(4.3.10)
But if we
vich
then the
(4.3.11)
Where we
Introduce
dish i c
time e
For ,

changes in income or expenditure on nonfood items. It is also likely that changes in  $d(y,e_N,c)$  is less than proportional to changes in household size, and composition because of economy of scale inherent in the household consumption technology.

Hence, if we denote by  $r_i$  the time preparation of dish i and by w the unit cost of time, the set of feasible alternatives can be rewritten as:

(4.3.10) 
$$E = \{a_i \in A; \Sigma x_{ij}, P_j + wr_i \le d(y - e_N, c) \ i = 1, ..., m.\}$$
  
 $j=1$ 

But if we let  $r_i = x_{i0}$ ,  $P_0 = w$ , and noting that  $d_i \in \{0,1\}$  for i=1,..., m with

$$\Sigma$$
 d<sub>i</sub> = 1 (since only one dish is chosen),  
i=1

then the budget constraint can be rewritten as:

$$(4.3.11) \begin{array}{ccc} \mathbf{n} & \mathbf{n} \\ \Sigma & \Sigma & \mathbf{d}_{i} \mathbf{x}_{i} \mathbf{P}_{j} \leq \mathbf{d} \\ \mathbf{i-1} & \mathbf{j-0} \end{array}$$

where we have put  $d-d(y,e_N,c)$  to simplify the notation.

Introducing the variables  $C(i,j) = x_{ij}P_j$  the share cost of food j in dish i for j=0,...,J<sub>i</sub> with  $C(i,o) = x_{io}P_o = wr_i$  being the share cost of time for dish i i=1,..., m. For i=1,..., m let the total cost of dish i be:

(4.3.12) C(i)
where J <sub>i</sub> is the constraint can
(4.3.13) Σ i-1 j
Hence
<sup>(4.3.14)</sup> E -(
<sup>This</sup> is clearl <sup>the</sup> c(i) repla <sup>of E,</sup> the hous
- 43

(4.3.12) 
$$C(i) = \sum_{j=0}^{j_i} C(i,j)$$

\_

where J<sub>1</sub> is the number of raw foods used in dish i then the budget constraint can be rewritten as:

Hence

$$(4.3.14) \quad E = \{a_i \in A; \sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i c(i) \leq d \text{ with } d_i \in \{0,1\} \text{ and } \sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i = 1\}$$

This is clearly a linear budget constraint, with the cost of the dishes, the c(i) replacing the usual vector of prices. With this specification of E, the household maximization problem can be reformulated as:

A REAL AND SHARE A REAL AND A REAL
A DUTA

(4.3.15) Subj€ with  $d_i \in \{0\}$ Since finite set o Let v= Define q=v/d Then, the un (4.3.16) V(q) - ; 1

where the t functions, including t

(4.3.15) 
$$\max\{ U_{E}(a_{i}) ; i=1,...,m \}$$
  
Subject to  
 $\sum_{i=1}^{m} d_{i}c(i) \leq d_{i}$   
with  $d_{i} \in \{0,1\}; \sum_{i=1}^{m} d_{i}-1 ; \text{ and } P_{E}(a_{i})-P\{d_{i}-1\}.$ 

Since by assumption, the household must select one dish from the finite set of dishes E, this problem has a unique solution.

Let v=(c(1),...,c(m)) be the m-dimensional vector of dish costs. Define  $q=v/d=(q_1,...,q_m)$  as the vector of real costs of the dishes. Then, the unconditional indirect utility function is defined as

(4.3.16)

$$V(q) = \max_{\substack{1 \le i \le m}} \left\{ U_{E}(a_{i}); \sum_{i=1}^{m} d_{i}q_{i} \le i; d_{i} \in \{0,1\}; \sum_{i=1}^{m} d_{i}-1; \\ P_{E}(a_{i}) = P(d_{i}-1) \right\}$$
$$= \max_{\substack{1 \le i \le m}} V_{i}(Pi/d)$$

where the  $V_i$ , i-1,...,m. are the m conditional indirect utility functions, and  $P_i = (P_0, ..., P_i)$  the price vector of the raw foods including the time cost of preparation of dish i.

## 4.4 The Utilit

- 4.4.1. <u>The di</u>
  - One way to
- the fact that, b
- technological to
- $x_i = (x_1, \dots, x_{J_i})$ dish i.

Π

- Hence the direc
- (4.4.1) U<sub>E</sub>(a
- Then, following
- household choos
- the budget cons
- <sup>c(i)</sup> Σ c(i j-0
  - The result
- <sup>(4.4.2)</sup> V<sub>i</sub>(P<sub>i</sub>

4.4 The Utility, Expenditure, and Demand Functions.

## 4.4.1. <u>The direct conditional utility functions</u>

One way to define the conditional direct utility would be to use the fact that, by assumption, each dish  $a_i$  is the result of some technological transformation T such that  $a_i = T(x_i)$ , where  $x_i = (x_1, \ldots, x_{J_i})$ , the vector of  $J_i$  raw foods used in the preparation of dish i.

Hence the direct utility of dish i can be written as

(4.4.1) 
$$U_E(a_i) = U_E(T(x_i)) = U_i(x_i)$$

Then, following McFadden (1981), for a selected alternative  $a_i$ , the household chooses  $x_i$  to maximize the conditional utility  $U_i$  subject to the budget constraint

$$c(i) = \sum_{j=0}^{Ji} c(i,j) = \sum_{j=0}^{Ji} x_{ij} \sum_{j=0}^{Ji} \frac{1}{j}$$

:

The result would yield the conditional indirect utility

(4.4.2) 
$$V_i(P_i,d) = \max\{U_i(x_i); c(i) = \sum_{j=0}^{j} x_{ij} \geq 0; P_j \geq 0\}$$
  
 $x_i \qquad j=0$ 

for i=1,...,m. functions deriv function given (4.4.3) V(q) where q=(q<sub>1</sub>,... real costs of t real prices of Hence, we only on the rea unconditional j all the dishes discussed in Ch <sup>household</sup> cons foods, but rat This der functions, is if  $U_E$  and the <sup>appropriate</sup> r€ <sup>functions</sup> sati Conditions Du <sup>(i)</sup> continuou (ii) nondecre

For i-1,...,m. we would get the m conditional indirect utility functions derived earlier with the unconditional indirect utility function given by:

(4.4.3) 
$$V(q) = \max V_i(P_i, d) = \max V_i^*(P_i^*, 1)$$
  
 $1 \le i \le m$   $1 \le i \le m$ 

where  $q=(q_1,\ldots,q_m) = (c(1)/d,\ldots,c(m)/d)$  is the m-dimensional vector of real costs of the dishes and  $P_i^* = Pi/d=(P_0/d,\ldots,P_i/d)$  is the vector of real prices of the raw foods and the real cost of time for i=1,...,m.

Hence, we see that while the conditional indirect utilities depend only on the real prices of the raw food and on real cost of time, the unconditional indirect utility depend explicitly on the real costs of all the dishes. This gives a formal proof of the important fact already discussed in Chapter 2 and 3 that the variables relevant for the household consumption decisions are not the relative prices of the raw foods, but rather the relative costs of the dishes.

This derivation of the conditional direct and indirect utility functions, is probably the most natural and familiar way. Furthermore, if  $U_E$  and the technological transformation function T satisfy appropriate regularity conditions so that the direct conditional utility functions satisfy the usual following conditions:

<u>Conditions Du</u>: for i=1,...,m.  $U_i(x_i)$  is

(i) continuous

(ii) nondecreasing

(iii) subject to local nonsatiation

(iv) Quasi-concave

then the conditional indirect utility functions will satisfy the

following conditions: (see, Diewert; 1977 and 1981)

<u>Conditions ID</u>: for  $i=1, \ldots, m$ .  $V_i(q_i)$  is

(i) Continuous

(ii) nonincreasing

(iii) subject to local nonsatiation

(iv) Quasi-convex for  $P_i^* >> 0$ 

Furthermore, we have by duality

$$U_{i}(X_{i}) - \min_{Pi} \left\{ V_{i}(P_{i},d): C(i) - \sum_{j=0}^{J_{i}} x_{ij}P_{j} \leq d; P_{j} >>0 \right\}$$
  
i-1,...,m.

Conversely, if the conditional indirect utility functions satisfy conditions ID, then the direct conditional utility functions will satisfy conditions DU and we have

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathbb{V}_{i}(\mathbb{P}_{i},d) - \max_{\mathbf{x}_{i}} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{U}_{i}(\mathbf{x}_{i}) : \mathbb{C}(i) - \sum_{j=0}^{j} \mathbf{x}_{ij} \cdot \mathbb{P}_{j} \leq d; \\ \mathbb{I}_{i} = 1, \dots, m. \end{array} \right\}$$

So the  $U_i$  i=1,...,m satisfying DU is dually equivalent to the  $V_i$  i=1,...,m. satisfying ID. (Diewert, 1977).

Since the conditions DU and ID are dually equivalent, one could alternatively derive the conditional direct utility functions from the conditional indirect utility functions which are already derived in (4.3.16) from the unconditional indirect utility function by

 $V(q) = max\{ V_i(P_i, d) i=1,..., m \}$ 

then postulating that the  $V_i$  i=1,...,m. satisfy the conditions ID, we can define the conditional direct utility functions by

$$(4.4.4) \quad U_{i}(x_{i}) = \min_{Pi} \left\{ V_{i}(P_{i},d): C(i) = \sum_{j=0}^{J_{i}} x_{ij}P_{j} \leq d, P_{j} >>0 \right\}$$
  
i=1,...,m.

and the  $U_i$ 's will satisfy the conditions DU.

The advantage of this derivation, would be to avoid the use of the technological transformation functions T and to make any assumption about their regularity conditions.

If in addition to conditions ID, we assume that the m conditional indirect utility functions are differentiable with respect to  $P_i$  and d, then we have by Roy's identity, the conditional Marshallian demands given by:

(4.4.5) 
$$X_{ij}(P_i,d) = \frac{\partial V_i(P_i,d)/\partial P_j}{\partial V_i(P_i,d)/\partial d}$$
 j=0,...,Ji;  
i=1,...,m.

Since  $d = d(y, e_N, C)$ 

The conditional Marshallian demands are of the form

$$X_{ij}(P_i,d) = h_i(P_i,d) + \eta_{ij} = h'_i(P_i,c) + \eta_{ij}$$
  
j=0,...,Ji. and i=1,...,m.

where  $\eta_{ij}$  is a disturbance term. This is exactly the functional dependence predicted for the conditional Marshallian demands in (4.6.1)

## 4.4.2. The conditional expenditure functions:

Given the conditional direct utility functions, we can define the corresponding expenditure functions by

(4.4.6) 
$$e_i(P_i, u) = \min \{ c(i) = \sum_{j=0}^{J_i} x_{ij}P_j : U_i(x_i) \ge u \}$$
  
xi j=0  $i=1, ..., m.$ 

One of the major advantages of working with the expenditure function is that it satisfies many regularity conditions yet requires only that the direct utility function be continuous and that the level of utility u belong to the range of the utility function. Indeed if the direct utility functions  $U_i(x_i)$  are continuous and if u belongs to the range of  $U_i$  i=1,...,m. then it can be shown (Diewert; 1977, 1981) that the corresponding expenditure functions have the following properties.

### Properties EX:

For  $i=1,\ldots, m e_i(P_i, u)$  is:

- (i) a nonnegative function that is,  $e_i(P_i, u) \ge 0$  for any Pi>>0 and  $u \in range$  of  $U_i$ .
- (ii) linearly homogeneous in  $P_i$  that is,  $e_i(kP_i, u) ke_i(P_i, u)$  for any  $P_i >>0$ ,  $u \in range of U_i$ , and k>0.
- (iii) non decreasing in  $P_i$  that is,  $e_i(P_i^1, u) \ge e(P_i^0, u)$  for any  $P_i^1 > P_i^0$ .
- (iv) concave in  $P_i$  that is,  $e_i(P_i, u)$  is a concave function of  $P_i$  for any  $u \in range$  of  $U_i$ .
- (v) continuous in  $P_i$  that is,  $e_i(P_i, u)$  is a continuous function of  $P_i$  for any  $u \in range$  of  $U_i$ .
- (vi) non-decreasing in u that is,  $e_i(P_i, u)$  is a non-decreasing function of u for any  $P_i$ .
- (vii) continuous from below in u that is, for any u and any nondecreasing sequence  $\{U_n, n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  in the range of  $U_i$  such that  $\lim_{n \to \infty} u_n - u$  then  $\lim_{n \to \infty} e_i(P_i, u_n) - e_i(P_i, u)$  for any  $P_i >> 0$ .
- (viii) twice differentiable with respect to  $P_1$  except possibly at a set of Lebesgue measure zero (see Deaton and Muellbauer, 1984 p.40 and, Fuss and McFadden, 1978 for a proof).

If in addition the conditional direct utility functions satisfy conditions DU, then they can be recovered by

(4.4.7) 
$$U_{i}(x_{i}) - \max_{u} \left\{ e_{i}(P_{i}, u) \leq P_{i} \cdot x_{i} - \sum_{j=0}^{J_{i}} x_{ij}P_{j} \lor P_{i} \geq 0 \right\}$$
  
 $i=1,\ldots,m,$ 

As usual, we can apply Shephard's lemma to find the conditional Hicksian demand functions.

$$h_{ij}(P_i, u) = \frac{\partial e_i(P_i, u)}{\partial P_j} \quad j=0, \dots, J_i. \text{ and } i=1, \dots, m.$$

Given our assumptions, the conditional Marshallian and Hicksian demands satisfy all the usual properties and restrictions which are: homogeneity of degree zero, adding up, symmetry and negativity of the Slustky matrix. They also satisfy a conditional Slustky equation.

# 4.4.3. <u>Properties of the unconditional indirect utility and</u> expenditure functions:

The unconditional indirect utility function was derived in (4.6.9) as

$$V(q) = \max V_i (P_i, d)$$
  
 $1 \le i \le m$ 

where  $q=v/d=(c(1)/d,\ldots,C(m)/d)$ 

For convenience, we may write it in the form

If all the conditional indirect utility functions satisfy the conditions ID, then the unconditional indirect utility V(v,d) will satisfy the usual regularity conditions of an indirect utility function with the vector of costs of the dishes replacing the vector of prices. If in addition the  $V_i(P_i,d)$  are differentiable, then V(v,d) will be differentiable, and the Marshallian demands for the dishes are given by the usual Roy's identity (McFadden, 1981; pp. 207-208).

As usual, we can define the unconditional expenditure function as:

$$(4.4.9) \quad \mathbf{e}(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{u}) = \min_{\substack{1 \le i \le m}} \left\{ \begin{matrix} \mathbf{m} \\ \Sigma \ \mathbf{d}_{i}\mathbf{c}(i) : & \mathbf{U}_{E}(\mathbf{a}_{i}) \ge \mathbf{u}; \ \mathbf{d}_{i} \in \{0,1\}; \\ \mathbf{i}=1 \end{matrix} \right.$$
$$\mathbf{i}=1, \dots, \mathbf{m}; \begin{matrix} \mathbf{m} \\ \Sigma \ \mathbf{d}_{i} = 1; & \mathbf{P}_{E}(\mathbf{a}_{i}) = \mathbf{P}\{\mathbf{d}_{i}=1\} \\ \mathbf{i}=1 \end{matrix} \right\}$$

= min 
$$\{e_i(P_i, u); i=1, ..., m.\}$$

Because  $U_E$  is continuous, e(v,u) has the usual regularity conditions of an expenditure function that is, it satisfies the properties EX. with the vector of costs of the dishes replacing the vector of prices. In particular, it is twice differentiable, and using Shephard's lemma we can derive the Hicksian demands for the dishes by taking the partial derivative of e(v,u) with respect to each dish cost.

Before investigating the properties of the demands for the dishes, we point out again the fact that while the conditional expenditures depend on the vector of prices and the time cost of dish preparation, the unconditional expenditure depends only on the vector cost of the dishes. Hence, it is affected by changes in prices only through these costs of dishes. In other words, using the statistician's language, the vector cost of the dishes is a sufficient statistic for changes in relative prices. 4.4.4. The Marshallian and Hicksian demands for the dishes:

Under our assumption of differentiability, the household's demand for the dishes are given by Roy's identity (McFadden, 1981 p. 208):

(4.4.10) 
$$d_i = D_i(v,d) = -\frac{\partial V(v,d)/\partial c(i)}{\partial V(v,d)/\partial d}$$

$$= \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } V_i \geq V_k \text{ for } k \neq i \text{ and } k=1,\ldots,m. \\ 0 \text{ otherwise} \\ i=1,\ldots,m. \end{cases}$$

where v=(c(1),...,c(m)) and c(i)=cost of dish i and  $V_i = V_i(P_i,d)$  i=1,...,m.

given by

(4.4.11) 
$$d_{i} = H_{i}(v,u) = \frac{\partial e(v,u)}{\partial c(i)} = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } e_{i} \leq e_{k} \text{ for } k\neq i; k=1,\ldots,m. \\ 0 \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$

where  $e_i - e_i(P_i, u)$   $i = 1, \dots, m$ .

And by duality, if the alternative  $a_i$  maximizes utility  $U_E$  at dish costs v\* and daily expenditure d\*, we have the identity:

(4.4.12) 
$$H_{i}(v,u^{*}) = D_{i}(v, e(v,u^{*}))$$

where 
$$u \neq U_E(a_i)$$

Because  $U_E$  is continuous and the demand functions are derived from utility maximization, the Marshallian and Hicksian demands for the dishes satisfy all the usual properties and restrictions of demand theory which are:

(i) Adding up: 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} c(i)D_i(v,d) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} c(i)H_i(v,u) - d$$

(ii) Homogeneity of degree zero in the vector of dish costs and total expenditure:  $D_i(\theta v, \theta d) - Di(v, d)$ ,  $H_i(\theta v, u) - H_i(v, u)$  for any positive scalar  $\theta > 0$ .

(iii) Symmetry of the substitution or Slutsky matrix:

the matrix 
$$\left(\frac{\partial^2 e(v,u)}{\partial c(i)\partial c(j)}\right)$$
 is symetric  
 $1 \le i \le m$   
 $1 \le j \le m$   
or equivalently,  $\frac{\partial H_i(v,u)}{\partial C(j)} = \frac{\partial H_j(v,u)}{\partial C(i)}$   $i=1,\ldots,m$ .

(iv) Negativity of the substitution matrix:

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} \frac{\partial^2 e(v,u)}{\partial C(i)\partial(j)} \end{array}\right) \qquad \text{is negative semi definite} \\ \frac{1 \le i \le m}{1 \le j \le m} \end{array}$$

which implies that 
$$\frac{\partial H_i(v,u)}{\partial C(i)} \leq 0$$
 for all i.

However, the Slutsky equations cannot be derived, because it would require differentiability of the Marshallian demands for the dishes, which is unlikely given the nature of our choice set.

So far, these testable restrictions on the demands for the dishes and the conditional demands for the raw foods are the only ones implied by the model.

#### 4.4.5 The unconditional demands for the raw foods

In this part, we will focus only on the Marshallian demands. The unconditional Hicksian demands can be derived similarly.

If we introduce randomness in the conditional indirect utility functions by decomposing them into observable and unobservable components, then for i=1,...,m. we can write:

(4.4.13)  $V_{i}(P_{i}, d, \epsilon_{i}) = V_{i}(P_{i}, d) + \epsilon_{i}$  i=1,...,m.

Where  $\epsilon_i$  is a disturbance term for the nonmeasurable components of the conditional indirect utility. Hence the conditional demands for the raw foods given by Roy's identity are:

(4.4.14) 
$$X_{ij} = -\frac{\partial V_i(P_i, d, \epsilon_i)/\partial P_j}{\partial V_i(P_i, d, \epsilon_i)/\partial d} = -\frac{\partial V_i(P_i, d)/\partial P_j}{\partial V_i(P_i, d)/\partial d} + \eta_{ij}$$

for  $j=1,\ldots,J_i$  and  $i=1,\ldots,m$ .

Where  $\eta_{ij}$  is an error term standing for measurement error and unobservable variables.

It is clear from the derivation that the  $\eta_{ij}$  j=1,...,J<sub>i</sub> are somehow connected to  $\epsilon_i$ . Indeed, there are many reasons why the  $\eta_{ij}$  and  $\epsilon_i$  are not independent. Dubin and McFadden (1984), Hausman (1985), and Duncan (1980) have given numerous reasons with models similar to ours. Without going into details, one reason in our food consumption model would be the fact that some unobservable household characteristics and/or unobservable alternatives' attributes may be correlated to unobservable attributes of some raw foods. For instances, if some dishes have increasing returns to scale with respect to household size, then, for a large household, the quantity demanded for some raw food is likely to be correlated with its dish choice.

Thus in general we will assume that  $\eta_{ij}$  and  $\epsilon_i$  are jointly distributed.

More generally, let 
$$\eta_1 = (\eta_{10}, \dots, \eta_{1J_i})'$$
 i=1,...,m.,  $\eta = \operatorname{vec}(\eta_1, \dots, \eta_m)$ ,  
and  $\epsilon = (\epsilon_1, \dots, \epsilon_m)$  i=1,...,m.

with  $(\eta, \epsilon)$  jointly distributed with density  $f(\eta, \epsilon)$  and distribution function  $F(\eta, \epsilon)$ . With this notation, the conditional mean demand for raw food j j-1,..., J<sub>i</sub> is given by:

$$(4.4.15) \quad \mathbb{E}[X_{ij} | d_i - 1] = \\ \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{-\partial \mathbb{V}i(\mathbb{P}_i, d) / \partial \mathbb{P}_j}{\partial \mathbb{V}_i(\mathbb{P}_i, d) / \partial d} + \eta_{ij} \mid \mathbb{V}_i + \epsilon_i \ge \mathbb{V}_k + \epsilon_k \quad \forall k \neq i\right]$$

or

(4.4.16) 
$$E[X_{ij} | d_i -1] - \frac{-\partial V_i(P_i, d)/\partial P_j}{\partial V_i(P_i, d)/\partial d}$$

+ 
$$E(\eta_{ij} | \epsilon_k \leq V_i - V_k + \epsilon_i \forall k \neq i)$$

where we have put  $V_i = V_i(P_i, d)$  i=1,...,m. to simplify the notation. Let  $A_i$  be the event  $\{d_i=1\}$ , that is

$$A_i = \{V_i + \epsilon_i \ge V_k + \epsilon_k, k \neq i \text{ and } k=1, \dots, m.\}$$

then we have by definition of the conditional mean:

(4.4.17) 
$$E(\eta_{ij} | A_i) = \frac{1}{P(A_i)} \times \int_{A_i}^{\eta_{ij}f(\eta,\epsilon)d\eta d\epsilon} j=1,\ldots,J_i$$

where  $\int$  is a multiple integral of order  $m + \sum_{i=1}^{m} J_i$  and i-1

$$d\eta = \prod_{i=1}^{m} \prod_{j=1}^{j_i} ; \quad d\epsilon = \prod_{i=1}^{m} d\epsilon_i$$

If we integrate out  $\eta$  and  $\epsilon_i$  in (4.4.17), we can express the conditional mean as a function of the  $V_i - V_k$ ; k=i and k=1,...,m. that is:

$$E(\eta_{ij} | A_i) - \lambda_j^i(v_1 - v_1, \dots, v_i - v_{i-1}, v_i - v_{i+1}, \dots, v_i - v_m)$$

In the case where  $(\eta, \epsilon)$  is bivariate,  $\lambda_j^i(V_1 - V_1, \dots, V_i - V_m)$  is known as the hazard rate. To simplify the notation we will write  $V_i - V_k$  as  $V_i^k$ for k-1,...,m. and k=i.

In the discussion of estimation, in chapter 5, we will see how the expression  $\lambda_{j}^{i}(.)$  can be simplified for some form of the joint distribution function F of  $(\eta, \epsilon)$ . For instance, if  $(\eta, \epsilon)$  is distributed multivariate normal, a simplified expression of  $\lambda_{j}^{i}(.)$  can be derived (Tallis, (1961); Johnson and Kotz, (1972); Duncan, (1982); and Amemiya, (1985)). When  $(\eta, \epsilon)$  has the multivariate generalized extreme value (GEV) distribution, then  $\lambda_{j}^{i}(.)$  can be integrated (McFadden, 1978).

The conditional mean demands for the raw foods are then:

(4.4.18) 
$$E(X_{ij} | d_i = 1) = - \frac{\partial V_i(P_i, d) | \partial P_j}{\partial V_i(P_i, d) \partial d} + \lambda_j^i(V_1^{\frac{1}{2}}, \dots, V_1^{\frac{1}{2}-1}, V_1^{\frac{1}{2}+1}, \dots, V_1^{\frac{n}{2}})$$

$$j=0, \dots, J_i$$

Hence, the estimable equations of the conditional demands for the raw foods are:
(4.4.19) 
$$X_{ij} = -\frac{\partial V_i(P_i, d)/\partial P_j}{\partial V_i(P_i, d)/\partial d} + \lambda_j^i(V_1^1, \dots, V_1^{i-1}, V_1^{i+1}, \dots, V_1^m) + \eta_{ij}^*$$
  
 $j=0, \dots, J_j.$ 

where  $\eta_{ij}^{\star} = X_{ij} - E[X_{ij} | d_i - 1]$  is an error term (conditional on i) with  $E[\eta_{ij}^{\star}] = 0$  and it can be shown that its variance is (see Appendix A6 for details):

$$(4.4.20) \quad \text{Var} \ (\eta_{ij}^{\star}) \ - \ E(\eta_{ij}^{2} | \ d_{i} \ -1) \ - \ [\lambda_{j}^{i}(v_{i}^{1}, \ldots, v_{i}^{i-1} \ v_{i}^{i+1}, \ldots, v_{i}^{m})]^{2}$$

Again, a simplified expression for  $Var(\eta_i^*j)$  can be obtained with specific distributional form like the multivariate normal or the G.E.V distribution.

In practice, we do observe the  $X_{ij}$  the conditional quantities demanded for the raw foods. Hence, if we specify a functional form for the conditional indirect utility  $V_i(P_i,d)$  and distribution function F for  $(\eta,\epsilon)$ , then equation (4.4.19) can be estimated. But, because  $\lambda \frac{j}{f}(.)$ is nonlinear in the parameters, the regression will be nonlinear regardless of the functional form of  $V_i(P_i,d)$ . In the next chapter, we will explore the different methods of estimation.

In general, we do not observe the unconditional quantities demanded for the raw foods because the raw foods used by the household are conditional to the dish selected. However, we can estimate these unconditional demands by their unconditional means given by:

(4.4.21) 
$$E[X_j] = \sum_{i=1}^{m} E[X_{ij} | d_i - 1] \cdot P\{d_i - 1\} \quad j = 1, ..., J$$

where J is the total number of raw foods used in all dishes. Using the expression of  $E[X_{ij} | d_i = 1]$  in (4.11.7) and letting  $P\{d_i\} = \pi_i$ , we have:

$$(4.4.22) \quad \mathbb{E}[X_{j}] = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left\{ \left[ \frac{\partial V_{i}(P_{i},d)/\partial P_{j}}{\partial V_{i}(P_{i},d)/\partial d} \right] + \lambda_{j}^{i}(V_{1}^{1},\ldots,V_{1}^{i-1},V_{1}^{i+1},\ldots,V_{1}^{m}) \right\} \cdot \pi_{i}$$

These unconditional mean demands for the raw foods can be consistently estimated, provided the parameters in the equations of the conditional demands and the choice probabilities  $\pi_i$  are consistently estimated.

To summarize, the estimable equations for our food consumption model are:

$$(4.4.23) \quad \pi_{\mathbf{i}} = \mathbb{P}[\mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{i}}=1] = \mathbb{F}(\eta = \infty, \epsilon_{\mathbf{i}} = \infty, \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{i}}^{1} + \epsilon_{\mathbf{i}}, \dots, \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{i}}^{\mathbf{i}}=1 + \epsilon_{\mathbf{i}}, \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{i}}^{1} + 1 + \epsilon_{\mathbf{i}}, \dots, \mathbb{V}_{\mathbf{i}}^{\mathbf{m}} + \epsilon_{\mathbf{i}})$$
$$\mathbf{i}=1, \dots, \mathbf{m}.$$

$$(4.4.24) \quad X_{ij} = -\frac{\partial V_i(P_i, d)/\partial P_j}{\partial V_i(P_i, d)/\partial d} + \lambda_j^i(V_1^j, \dots, V_1^{i-1}, V_1^{i+1}, \dots, V_1^m) + \eta_{ij}^*$$

$$(4.4.25) \quad d = d(y, e_N, c) + \epsilon^*$$

$$(\text{where } \epsilon^* \text{ is an error term}).$$

From these 3 equations we can derive the unconditional mean demands

$$(4.4.26) \quad \mathbb{E}[X_{j}] = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left[ \frac{\frac{\partial V_{i}(P_{i},d)}{\partial P_{j}}}{\frac{\partial V_{i}(P_{i},d)}{\partial d}} \right] \cdot \pi_{i}$$
$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{j}^{i}(V_{1}^{1}, \dots, V_{1}^{i-1}, V_{1}^{i+1}, \dots, V_{n}^{m}) \cdot \pi_{i}$$
$$j=1, \dots, J$$

These four equations completely describe the food consumption model and they contain all the information needed to evaluate and predict accurately the household's response to changes in exogenous variables. Indeed, equation (4.4.23) gives the dish choice probabilities, (4.4.24) gives the conditional demands of the raw foods, (4.4.25) determines the meal budget as a function of household income, expenditure on nonfood items, and other household characteristics, and (4.4.26) gives the unconditional demand for any food staple consumed by the household. This latter equation, from which the usual elasticities of demand are derived, is of major interest for policy analysis.

It may be worth emphasizing that only the first three equations are relevant for the estimation procedure and that all the variables appearing in these equations are observable. We should also note the particular way that household characteristics (including income) enter the model: they influence food consumption decisions only through the meal budget.

Finally, if the conditional demands for the raw foods are independent of the dish choices (that is  $\eta_{ij}$  and  $\epsilon_i$  are independent), then the second terms in equations (4.4.24) and (4.4.26) become zero. Hence this condition can be tested after estimating equation (4.4.24).

The next section will specify an explicit functional form for the  $V_1(P_1,d)$ . First, however, we want to summarize three major implications of the model: the first one is of an economic nature, namely, conditional on the distribution function F or  $\lambda_j^{\dagger}(.)$  having the desired properties, the usual restrictions implied by demand theory (adding up, homogeneity, symmetry and nonnegativity of the substitution matrix) apply only to the conditional demands for the raw foods and (partially) to the unconditional demands for the dishes. These restrictions can be tested after estimation or imposed before estimation. Beyond that, apparently the model implies no restrictions for the unconditional demands for the raw foods that can be investigated using the equations of the unconditional demands for the raw foods.

The second implication is of a statistical nature, namely that if the conditional demands for the raw foods are dependent on the dish choices, then estimations of food demand systems that do not incorporate information on the dish choices generally yield biased and inconsistent estimates.

The last implication is also of statistical nature, that is if household demands for food are conditional on the dishes it prepares,

then the unconditional quantities demanded for the raw foods cannot in general be observed. However, they can be estimated using equation (4.4.26).

One important feature which turns out to simplify greatly the analysis of the model, is the fact that the vector price of all the raw foods P, and the meal budget d, is the same for all dishes. Only the dish preparation time  $\tau_i$  is different from one dish to another. Hence the observable components of the conditional indirect utilities can be decomposed as:

(4.4.27) 
$$V_{i}(P_{i},d) = V(P,d,\theta) + \gamma wri$$
 i=1,...,m

where w is the opportunity cost of time and  $(\theta, \gamma)$  is the vector of parameters common to all dishes.

This parametrization with a common vector of observable attributes and the same vector of parameters for all alternatives, is standard in discrete choice models, and is made possible by putting all the alternative specific attributes in the error term  $\epsilon_1$ .

It then follows:

(4.4.28) 
$$V_{i}^{k} = V_{i}(P_{i},d) - V_{k}(P_{i},d) - \gamma w \cdot (r_{i} - r_{k}) = \gamma r_{i}^{k}$$
  
for k=i and k=1,...,m.

where  $r_i^k = w(r_i - r_k)$ 

and the conditional demands are given by:

(4.4.29) 
$$X_{ij} = \frac{\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial P_j}{\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial d} + \lambda_j^i (\gamma r_1^1, \dots, \gamma r_1^{i-1}, \gamma r_1^{i+1}, \dots, \gamma r_1^m) + \eta_{ij}$$

if food j is used in dish i

and

And since

c

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \left[ \frac{-\partial V_{i}(P_{i},d)/\partial P_{j}}{\partial V_{i}(P_{i},d)/\partial d} \right] \cdot \pi_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left[ \frac{-\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial P_{j}}{\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial d} \right] \cdot \pi_{i}$$

(where the last equality follows from the fact that  $\sum \pi_i = 1$ ) i=1

•

the unconditional mean demands of the raw foods are:

$$(4.4.30) \quad E(X_{j}) = \frac{\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial P_{j}}{\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial d} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{j}^{i} (\gamma r_{1}^{1}, \dots, \gamma r_{1}^{i-1}, \gamma r_{1}^{i+1}, \dots, \gamma r_{1}^{m}) \cdot \pi_{i}$$

$$i^{-1}, \dots, J$$

To further simplify the notation, define  $\xi_i$  and  $r_i$  as the two (m-1) dimensional vector whose  $k^{th}$  elements are  $\xi_i^{k} - \epsilon_k - \epsilon_i$  and  $r_i^{k} - w \cdot (r_i - r_k)$  respectively, for  $k \neq i$ . It can be shown that  $\xi_i - A_i \epsilon$  where  $A_i$  is the (m-1)×m matrix with ones in the diagonal, minus ones in its i<sup>th</sup> column, and zero everywhere else. That is:

$$A_{i} = \begin{cases} 1 & 0 \dots 0 & -1 & 0 \dots 0 \\ 0 & 1 \dots 0 & -1 & 0 \dots 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \dots 1 \end{cases}$$

So  $\xi_i$  is a random vector with mean  $E(\xi_i) = A_i E(\epsilon) = 0$  and covariance matrix  $\Omega_i = \operatorname{cov} (A_i \epsilon) = A_i \Sigma_{\epsilon} A_i'$  where  $\Sigma_{\epsilon}$  is the covariance matrix of  $\epsilon$ .

With these notations and change in variables, it is easy to see that  $\pi_i = P(d_i-l) = P(\xi_i \le \gamma r_i) = F_{\xi_i}(\gamma r_i)$   $i=1,\ldots,m$ . where  $F_{\xi_i}$  is the joint distribution function of  $\xi_i$ . To simplify the notation we will write it as  $F_i$  and omit the subscript  $\xi_i$ .

Hence, the estimable equations of the food consumption model can be compactly summarized as:

(4.4.31) 
$$\pi_i = P\{d_i=1\} = F_i(\gamma r_i) \quad i=1,...,m$$

(4.4.32) 
$$X_{ij} = -\frac{\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial P_j}{\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial d} + \lambda_j^i(\gamma r_i) + \eta_{ij}^* \quad j=1,\ldots,m$$
  
(4.4.33) 
$$d = d(y,e_N,c) + \epsilon^*$$

From these three equations we can derive the unconditional mean demands.

(4.4.34) 
$$E(X_j) = -\frac{\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial P_j}{\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial d} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_j^i(\gamma r_i) \cdot F_i(\gamma r_i) j=1,...,J$$

where  $J_i$  is the number of raw foods used in dish i, and  $J = \sum J_i$ is the number of all raw foods used by the household.

Note that we could write equation (4.4.34) in regression form as

(4.4.35) 
$$X_{j} = -\frac{\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial Pj}{\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial d} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1,\ldots,J}^{i} (\gamma r_{i}) \cdot F_{j}(\gamma r_{i}) + \eta_{j}^{*}$$

where  $\eta_j^*$  is an error term with zero mean and variance implicitly defined. Had we been able to estimate (4.4.35), we would not need equation (4.4.32) to estimate the unconditional mean demands. But, equation (4.4.35) is useless because we cannot observe the  $X_j$ 's which are the unconditional quantities demanded for the raw foods. Indeed, all we observe are the  $X_{ij}$  which are the raw food quantities demanded given a particular dish is selected. We also note that if the dish choices were not correlated with the demands for the raw foods, we would have  $\lambda_j^{\frac{1}{2}}(\gamma r_j)=0$ , and  $X_{ij}=X_j$  for all j; and Equations (4.4.32) and (4.4.34) would be identical and would correspond to the traditional system of demand equations. Then, they could be estimated separately without reference to equation (4.4.31) which defines the dish choices. Thus, it is clear that the traditional model of demand for food is a special case of this model, corresponding to the restriction that the demands for the raw foods are uncorrelated with the dish choices. The empirical validity of this restriction can be tested easily once the unrestricted model is estimated.

# 4.4.6 <u>Dish selection as a cause for zero quantity reported</u>

We have already noted that one of the implications of the model is that the unconditional quantities demanded cannot be observed. We shall argue here that this is probably the main reason why household food consumption surveys usually have a relatively large number of zero quantities observed.

In general, there are two levels of censoring. The first level come from the fact that each household can be considered as having a set of dishes that it prepares all year long. For each meal, the household picks one dish from this set. Hence, if a given raw food is not used in any of the dishes in the set, then the household will almost never buy this raw food. This type of censoring is important when the population surveyed is not homogenous (different ethnic groups, location, etc.) so that the set of dishes can be different from one household to the other.

The second level of censoring comes from the fact that the dishes in a given household set of dishes do not necessarily use the same type

of raw foods as inputs. Hence, since the household selects only one dish for a given meal, then it will buy only the raw foods that must be used in the selected dish. This level of censoring is pertinent in cross section analysis because the surveys are generally one-shot surveys or at best of limited duration, so that data on some raw foods may be missing (zero quantity reported) because at the time of the survey, the household did not consume any dish using these raw foods. This fact must not be ignored.

These two sources of "zero quantity reported" should not be confused with an effective zero quantity consumed resulting from a conscious household decision not to buy a particular raw food (inessential for the selected dish) because of its price. An example of this is reported in the preliminary results of the ongoing food consumption survey conducted in Niger (Caputo et al., 1989) where some households said that for a given dish, there are some "inessential" raw foods usually used in the dish which they would buy only if they can afford them. In such a case, there is no missing observation; the quantity demanded is effectively zero.

The statistical consequences of selection bias (bias and inconsistency of the estimators and wrong inferences) can be severe and are well documented (see for example, Heckman (1976, 1979); Lee (1978, 1989); and Newey et al. (1990). Selection bias has the same effects as specification errors (Heckman, 1979). In many cases, differences in magnitude between the estimated coefficients under correction of the selection bias and the coefficients without correction can be very large. Sometimes, not only is the absence of selection bias rejected, but the latter coefficients have the wrong signs (example, Newey et al.

1990). This should be of concern when the estimated elasticities are used for policy recommendations.

In food demand analysis using a system approach with cross section data, one will necessarily have to deal with this censoring problem, because the system is constituted by the individual demands for all the raw foods and the observations are by household. Hence, theoretically for each sampling unit (household) we should have a complete system of demand equations. However, in practice almost for any observation unit (household) there will be many "zero quantity reported" since the household do not consume all the raw foods at the time the survey is conducted (unless the household is followed for a long time and the data aggregated).

Instead of asking the question: "why are zero quantities reported?", one can either remove from the sample those units with "missing observations", which may reduce severely the sample size (up to zero sample size if we have only a one-shot survey with no possibility for aggregation), or one may choose to put zero actual quantity demanded in the place of the "zero quantity reported," a procedure that will be incorrect. Another possibility is to rearrange the system by grouping the observations according to the raw foods and then use the seemingly unrelated regression (SUR) method with an unequal number of observations (see Schmidt, 1977), but this method ignores the behavioral implications of the complete system with its implied restrictions (for example, the adding up restrictions are not maintained).

All the above methods suffer from the problem of selection bias. This can jeopardize the reliability of the estimates.

When faced with missing observations, the critical question, to paraphrase Heckman (1979), is: why are the observations missing? The answer to this question will direct you to the appropriate method of estimation. In the next chapter, we will explore methods of estimating these models with selection bias.

## 4.5 <u>Parametrization of the conditional indirect utility functions:</u>

So far, all the derivations and results obtained do not depend on the functional forms of either the unconditional indirect utility or the probability distribution of  $(\eta, \epsilon)$ . The exact functional forms are always unknown, but an appropriate parametrization can give good approximations of them. One criterion for the choice of functional form is flexibility, that is, the ability of the chosen parametrization to allow for the maximum of substitutions among choices and yet be computationally feasible. Specifically, we want the chosen parametrization of the conditional indirect utility to allow all kinds of substitution among raw foods, and the probability distribution of  $(\eta, \epsilon)$  to not restrict substitutions among dishes in the household's feasible choice set. The choice of an appropriate probability distribution for  $(\eta, \epsilon)$  is taken up in the next chapter dealing with estimation. The remainder of this chapter is devoted to the choice of functional form for the conditional indirect utility.

Recent developments in estimation of production and demand functions emphasize the use of flexible functional forms to approximate, up to some degree of accuracy, any unknown but twice continuously differentiable indirect utility or expenditure function. By definition, a function is said to be second order flexible at some point if it

contains enough free parameters so that its level, first derivatives and all of its second partial derivatives at that point coincide with those of the true function at the same point (Diewert and Wales, 1987).

Many flexible functional forms have been derived (see Diewert and Wales, 1987 for a brief review), among them, the best known are the translog (Christensen, Jorgenson, and Lau; 1971 and 1975), the generalized Leontief (Diewert, 1971) and the AIDS (almost ideal demand systems) (Deaton and Muellbauer; 1980 and 1984). These flexible functional forms differ mainly by the difficulties involved in estimating their parameters, and/or imposing or testing the restrictions implied by demand theory.

For simplicity and ease of exposition, we will use the AIDS functional form for the conditional indirect utility just to illustrate how the model can be parametrized. But, when implementing the estimation procedure, one may want to try other flexible functional forms and pick the one that fits best. However, before deriving the AIDS conditional demands, we will present a possible parametrization of the meal budget as a function of household characteristics.

## 4.5.1 Parametrization of the Meal Budget.

In section (4.3.2), we discussed how the household meal budget depended on income, nonfood expenditures and other household characteristics. We hypothesized that the meal budget is given by the function

Following the discussion in section (4.3.2) on the extent to which each variable affects the meal budget d, we can postulate the following functional form:

(4.5.1) 
$$\log d = \alpha_0^* + \alpha_1^* \log(y) + \alpha_2^* \log(e_N) + \alpha_3^* \log z + C' \cdot \beta + \epsilon^*$$

where y is the household income level,

e<sub>N</sub> is the household expenditure on nonfood items z is the household size or the number of adult-equivalents in the household

C' is a vector of dummy variables representing other household characteristics (e.g., ethnicity, location etc.)  $\alpha_0^{\star}$ ,  $\alpha_1^{\star}$ ,  $\alpha_2^{\star}$ ,  $\alpha_3^{\star}$ , and  $\beta^{\star}$  are unknown parameters; and  $\epsilon^{\star}$  is a disturbance term.

# 4.5.2 The AIDS conditional indirect utility functions:

The AIDS conditional expenditure function (Deaton and Muellbauer, 1984) is defined as:

(4.5.2) Log  $e(P,u,\theta) = a(P,\theta) + u \cdot b(P,\theta)$ 

where 
$$a(P,\theta) = \alpha_0 + \sum \alpha_k \log P_k + - \sum \sum \gamma_{k\ell}^* \log P_k \cdot \log P_\ell$$
  
 $k=1$  2 k-1 l-1

$$\log b(P,\theta) - \log \beta_0 + \sum_{K=1}^{J} \beta_k \log P_k$$

and  $\alpha_k$ ,  $\beta_k$ , and  $\gamma^*_{k\ell}$  k,  $\ell = 1, ..., J$  are parameters  $P = (P_1, ..., P_J)$  is the vector price of the raw food.

By inverting e(P,u) we get the conditional indirect utility function:

(4.5.3) 
$$V(P,d,\theta) = \frac{\log d - a(P,\theta)}{b(P,\theta)}$$

(omitting  $\lambda_{j}^{i}(\gamma r_{i})$  for now)

Then by Roy's identity we get the conditional Marshallian demands

(4.5.4) 
$$X_{ij} = -\frac{\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial P_j}{\partial V(P,d,\theta)/\partial d} = \frac{d}{P_j} \begin{bmatrix} J \\ \alpha_j + \sum \gamma_{jk} \log P_k + \beta_j \log \frac{d}{P^x} \end{bmatrix}$$

or written in "dish shares" form

(4.5.5) 
$$c(i,j) = P_j \cdot X_{ij} = d \begin{pmatrix} J \\ \alpha_j + \sum \gamma_{jk} \log P_k + \beta_j \log \frac{d}{P^x} \\ k=1 \end{pmatrix}$$

or in budget shares form

(4.5.6) 
$$S_{ij} = \frac{P_j \cdot X_{ij}}{d} = \alpha_j + \sum_{k=1}^{J} \log P_k + \beta_j \log \frac{d}{P^k}$$

where 
$$\log P^{X} = \alpha_{0} + \sum \alpha_{k} \log P_{k} + - \sum \sum \gamma_{k\ell} \log P_{k} \cdot \log P_{\ell}$$
  
k-1 2 k-1  $\ell$ -1

 $p^{\mathbf{x}}$  is defined to be a price index.  $S_{ij}$  is the meal budget share of food j.

The parameters  $\gamma_{k\ell}$  are defined by: 1 , \*. \*

$$\gamma_{k\ell} = \frac{1}{2} (\gamma_k^* + \gamma_\ell^*) = \gamma_{\ell k}$$

The theoretical restrictions on the conditional demands apply directly to the parameters (See Deaton and Muellbauer, 1980 and 1984 for details). They are for a given dish i:

# Negativity of the Substitution Matrix:

The matrix  $T = (\psi_{k,l})$  is negative semi-definite where

$$\psi_{kl} = \gamma_{kl} + \beta_k \beta_l [\log d - a(P, \theta)] - S_{il} \delta_{kl} - S_{ik} S_{il}$$
  
for k.l-1....J.

with  $\delta_{lk}$  being the Kronecker delta that is unity if l-k and zero otherwise.

For more details about the issues involved in estimating the AIDS **model**, the reader is referred to the original paper of Deaton and Muellbauer (1980).

The 3 forms of the conditional demands given in (4..5.4), (4.5.5) and (4.5.6) are equivalent. However, their relative merits depend on the setting of the data collection. Indeed, in many situations it is relatively difficult to get good measurements of the quantity  $X_{ij}$  of the different raw foods consumed by the household. This is especially true in developing countries where most often the households buy and use raw foods in a form lacking a well-defined unit of measurement. To deal with this problem, the enumerators in consumption studies need to know the unit of measurement of each household, then use some conversion factor. This of course introduces additional measurement errors in estimating equation (4.5.4).

In contrast, with equations (4.5.5) and (4.5.6) you need not know these quantities, but can directly use c(i,j), the monetary cost or dish share of the raw food j in the preparation of dish i. In most cases, this is more readily available and more accurately evaluated by the household, and potentially facilitates the task of both the household and the enumerator. Besides, this may be closer to the way the household allocates its meal budget among the different food items it needs to prepare its selected dish. In instances where it is easier to collect data on the quantities  $X_{ij}$ , the c(i,j) can be computed easily by getting the unit price either from the household or from the market.

In practice, before estimating (4.4.6), one usually approximate  $P^X$ by a known price index like Stone's price index defined by  $LogP^X = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \log P_k$  where the  $\omega_k$  are weights. This was originally suggested by Deaton and Muellbauer (1980 and 1984). If this is done, then the Marshallian demand equations will be linear in the parameters.

Also, given a selected dish i, there is no reason that the **Conditional demand**  $X_{ij}$  of a raw food j used in dish i should be **influenced** by the price of a raw food not used in dish i except through the price index  $P^{x}$ , and the dish choice effects  $\lambda_{j}^{i}(\gamma r_{i})$ . Hence we can

limit the list of prices appearing in the conditional Marshallian demands only to the prices of those raw foods used in the same dish. Equation (4.5.6) then becomes :

(4.5.7) 
$$S_{ij} = \alpha_j + \sum_{k=1}^{J_i} \gamma_{jk} \log P_k + \beta_j \log(d/p^x) = Z_i \cdot \theta_j$$
  
 $j=1,\ldots,J_i$ 

where  $Z_i$  is the  $J_i+2$  dimensional vector defined by:  $Z_i = (1, \log P_1, \ldots, \log P_{J_i}, \log(d/px))'$  and  $\theta_j$  is the  $J_i+2$  dimensional vector of parameters defined by  $\theta_j = (\alpha_j, \gamma_{j1}, \ldots, \gamma_{jJ_i}, \beta_j)'$ .

The budget equation can also be written in vector form as:

(4.5.8) Log d =  $Z^{*} \cdot \theta^{*} + \epsilon^{*}$ where  $\theta^{*} = (\alpha_{0}^{*}, \alpha_{1}^{*}, \alpha_{2}^{*}, \beta^{*})'$  is the parameter vector and  $Z^{*} = (1, \log(y), \log(e_{N}), z, C')'$  is the vector of household characteristics.

Given the above notations, the equations of the probabilistic Choice (PC)-AIDS model for one household can be written as:

## PC-AIDS Model

(4.5.9) 
$$\pi_i = P(d_i-1) = Fi(\gamma r_i)$$
 i=1,...,m.

(4.5.10) 
$$S_{ij} = \frac{c(i,j)}{d} = Z'_i \cdot \theta_j + \lambda^i_j (\gamma r_i) + \eta^*_{ij} \quad j=1,...,J_i.$$

$$(4.5.11) \quad \log d = Z^{\star'} \cdot \theta^{\star} + \epsilon^{\star}$$

.. ..

(4.5.12) 
$$E(X_j) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} F_i(\gamma r_i) \cdot \left(\frac{d}{P_j}\right) \cdot Z'_i \cdot \theta_j + \sum_{i=1}^{m} F_i(\gamma r_i) \cdot \lambda_j^i(\gamma r_i).$$

The equations in (4.5.10) can be rewritten in a more compact way by defining

$$S_{i}=(S_{i1},\ldots,S_{iJ_{i}})' \quad a \quad J_{i} \times l \text{ vector}$$

$$\lambda^{i}(\gamma r_{i}) = (\lambda_{1}^{i}(\gamma r_{i}),\ldots,\lambda_{J_{i}}^{i}(\gamma r_{i}))' \quad a \quad J_{i} \times l \text{ vector}$$

$$\eta_{i}^{*} = (\eta_{11}^{*},\ldots,\eta_{iJ_{i}}^{*})' \quad a \quad J_{i} \times l \text{ vector}$$

and  $\theta^i = (\theta'_1, \dots, \theta'_{J_i})'$  a  $J_i(J_i+2) \times l$  vector then the  $J_i$  equations in (4.14.9) are equivalent to the following single Vector representation:

(4.5.13) 
$$S_i - (I_{J_i} \otimes Z_i) \theta_i + \lambda^i (\gamma r_i) + \eta_i^*$$

where  $I_{J_i}$  is the identity matrix of dimension  $J_i$  and  $\otimes$  is the Kronecker Product.

We can finally present the PC-AIDS equations in a intentionally suggestive order referring to how we think the household actually makes its food consumption decisions. PC-AIDS.

(4.5.14) Log d = 
$$Z^{\star'} + \epsilon^{\star}$$
  
(4.5.15)  $\pi_{i} = P\{d_{i}=1\} = Fi(\gamma r_{i})$   $i=1,...,m.$   
(4.5.16)  $S_{i} = (I_{J_{i}} \otimes Z'_{i}) \theta^{i} + \lambda^{i}(\gamma r_{i}) + \eta^{\star}_{i}$ 

$$(4.5.17) \quad E(X_j) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} F_i(\gamma r_i) \cdot \left[\frac{a}{P_j}\right] \cdot (Z'_i \theta_j) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} F_i(\gamma r_i) \cdot \lambda_j^{\frac{1}{2}}(\gamma r_i)$$

$$j=1,\ldots,J$$

That is, the household determines first the meal budget according to its characteristics. Next, subject to the meal budget constraint, it chooses one dish in the set of feasible dishes according to its "tastes". Then, given the technology of the chosen dish, and the relative prices of the raw food needed for the dish, it determines how much of each raw food to buy. The final equation permits us to compute the unconditional mean demands for all the raw foods consumed by the household.

#### CHAPTER 5

#### ESTIMATION OF THE MODEL

This chapter is concerned with methods of estimating the model using the AIDS conditional indirect utility function. The use of the AIDS functional form is for simplicity, and is without loss of generality as long as the estimation methods and the asymptotic properties are concerned. The conclusions in this chapter will be valid for any other flexible functional form.

The organization of the chapter is as follows: In section 1, we derive the explicit expressions of  $\lambda_j^{\dagger}(\gamma r_1)$  and of the covariance matrix of  $\eta_1^{\star}$ , under the assumption that  $\epsilon$  and  $\eta$  are jointly normally distributed. Section 2 gives the likelihood function of a sample of N households and discusses briefly the maximum likelihood estimator of the Parameters. In Section 3, we present a computationally feasible method of estimating the model; namely the two-stage Heckman method. This method yields consistent estimates and is the one generally used in Problem of selectivity bias.

### 5.1. The Model Under Normality

Let the joint distribution of  $(\epsilon, \eta)$  be normal with zero mean and covariance matrix  $Cov[(\epsilon, \eta)] = \Sigma$ , a  $(m + \sum_{i=1}^{m} J_i) \times (m + \sum_{i=1}^{m} J_i)$  dimensional matrix. We can partition  $\Sigma$  in blocks as:

$$\Sigma = \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma_{\epsilon} & \Sigma_{\epsilon \eta} \\ \Sigma_{\eta \epsilon} & \Sigma_{\eta} \end{bmatrix}$$

where

$$\Sigma_{\eta \epsilon} - [\Sigma_{\epsilon \eta} \dots \Sigma_{\epsilon \eta}] \quad a \quad m \times_{i=1}^{m} J_{i} \quad matrix$$

and

$$\Sigma_{\epsilon \eta_{i}} = \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma_{\epsilon_{1}\eta_{i}} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \Sigma_{\epsilon_{m}\eta_{i}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma_{\epsilon_{1}\eta_{1}} & \cdots & \Sigma_{\epsilon_{1}\eta_{1}J_{i}} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \Sigma_{\epsilon_{m}\eta_{1}} & \cdots & \vdots \\ \Sigma_{\epsilon_{m}\eta_{1}1} & \cdots & \Sigma_{\epsilon_{m}\eta_{1}J_{i}} \\ a & m \times J_{i} \text{ matrix} \qquad \text{For } i = 1, \dots, m.$$

wich

$$\Sigma_{\epsilon} = \operatorname{cov}(\epsilon) \ \mathbf{a} \ \mathbf{m} \mathbf{m} \ \mathbf{m} \mathbf{m} \mathbf{r} \mathbf{x}; \ \Sigma_{\eta} = \operatorname{cov}(\eta) \ \mathbf{a} \ \sum_{i=1}^{m} J_{i} \times \sum_{i=1}^{m} J_{i} \ \mathbf{m} \mathbf{r} \mathbf{r} \mathbf{x}.$$

$$\Sigma_{\eta \epsilon} = \Sigma_{\epsilon \eta}' \ \mathbf{is} \ \mathbf{the} \ \mathbf{m} \mathbf{tr} \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{of} \ \mathbf{covariances} \ \mathbf{of} \ \eta \ \mathbf{and} \ \epsilon.$$

$$\Sigma_{\epsilon \eta} = \Sigma_{\eta i}' \epsilon \ \mathbf{is} \ \mathbf{the} \ \mathbf{m} \mathbf{tr} \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{of} \ \mathbf{covariances} \ \mathbf{of} \ \eta \ \mathbf{and} \ \epsilon.$$

$$\Sigma_{\epsilon \eta} = \Sigma_{\eta i}' \epsilon \ \mathbf{is} \ \mathbf{the} \ \mathbf{m} \mathbf{tr} \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{of} \ \mathbf{covariances} \ \mathbf{of} \ \eta \ \mathbf{and} \ \epsilon.$$

$$\Sigma_{\epsilon \eta} = \Sigma_{\eta i}' \epsilon \ \mathbf{is} \ \mathbf{the} \ \mathbf{m} \mathbf{tr} \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{of} \ \mathbf{covariances} \ \mathbf{of} \ \eta \ \mathbf{and} \ \epsilon.$$

$$\Sigma_{\epsilon \eta} = \Sigma_{\eta i}' \epsilon \ \mathbf{is} \ \mathbf{the} \ \mathbf{m} \mathbf{tr} \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{of} \ \mathbf{covariances} \ \mathbf{of} \ \eta \ \mathbf{and} \ \epsilon.$$

$$\Sigma_{\epsilon \eta} = \Sigma_{\eta i}' \epsilon \ \mathbf{is} \ \mathbf{the} \ \mathbf{m} \mathbf{tr} \mathbf{x} \ \mathbf{of} \ \mathbf{covariances} \ \mathbf{of} \ \epsilon.$$

$$\mathbf{and} \ \eta \ \mathbf{ij} \ \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{ij} \ \mathbf{ij} \ \mathbf{k} \ \mathbf{For} \ \mathbf{i}, \ \mathbf{k-l}, \dots, \mathbf{m}., \ \mathbf{j-l}, \dots, J_{\mathbf{i}}$$
The reason for this partition will be clear later.

Recall from Chapter 4 that  $\xi_i$  and  $\eta_i^*$  were defined as:  $\xi_i = A_i \epsilon$ 

A COLOR DE LA CAL

a (m-1)×m matrix.

with  $E\xi_i - A_i E\epsilon = 0$  and  $cov(\xi_i) - \Omega_i - A_i \Sigma_{\epsilon} A_i'$ and  $\eta_i^* - (\eta_{i1}^*, \dots, \eta_{iJ_i}^*)$ where  $\eta_{ij}^* - X_{ij} - E[X_{ij}|d_i - 1] \quad j = 1, \dots, J_i$ with  $E\eta_{ij}^* = 0$  and  $Var[\eta_{ij}^*] - E[\eta_{ij}^{*2} | d_i - 1] - [\lambda_j^i(\gamma r_i)]^2$ Recall also that  $(d_i - 1) - (\xi_i < \gamma r_i)$ ,

$$\lambda_{\mathbf{j}}^{\mathbf{i}}(\gamma \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{i}}) - \mathbb{E}[\eta_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}} \mid d_{\mathbf{i}}-1] - \mathbb{E}[\eta_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}} \mid \xi_{\mathbf{i}} < \gamma \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{i}}] \quad \text{and}$$
$$\lambda^{\mathbf{i}}(\gamma \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{i}}) - [\lambda_{\mathbf{1}}^{\mathbf{i}}(\gamma \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{i}}), \dots, \lambda_{\mathbf{j}\mathbf{i}}^{\mathbf{i}}(\gamma \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{i}})]' - \mathbb{E}[\eta_{\mathbf{i}} \mid \xi_{\mathbf{i}} < \gamma \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{i}}]$$

**a**  $J_i \times 1$  dimensional vector.

In what follows, we shall derive the explicit expressions of  $\lambda^{i}(\gamma r_{i})$  and  $cov(\eta_{i}^{*})$ . Define:  $R = E(\eta_{i}\xi_{i}^{*}).cov(\xi_{i})^{-1} = J_{i} \times (m-1)$  matrix.

and

$$Q = Cov(\eta_i) - RE(\xi_i \eta'_i) = J_i \times J_i$$
 matrix.

then it can be shown that (See Amemiya, 1985, pp. 406-407 or Duncan, 1980, page 851):

$$(5.1.1) \quad \lambda^{i}(\gamma r_{i}) = \mathbb{E}[\eta_{i} \mid \xi_{i} < \gamma r_{i}] = \mathbb{R}[\xi_{i} \mid \xi_{i} < \gamma r_{i}]$$

(5.1.2) 
$$\operatorname{Cov}(\eta_i^*) = \operatorname{R} \operatorname{cov}(\xi_i \mid \xi_i < \gamma r_i) \operatorname{R}' + Q$$

This result is merely a multivariate generalization of the well-known facts about the conditional distribution of a random variable jointly normally distributed with another random variable. They can be obtained easily by noting that  $\xi_i$  and  $\eta_i - R\xi_i$  are independent.

The conditional moments of  $\xi_i | \xi_i < \gamma r_i$  were derived by Tallis (1961) in terms of the correlation matrix of  $\xi_i$ . Amemiya (1974) rewrote Tallis's results in terms of the covariance matrix of  $\xi_i$ . We will rewrite Amemiya's results in matrix notation in a way suitable to our model.

Using Amemiya's notation, let  $f_k^i$  be the marginal density of the  $k^{th}$  variable of  $\xi_i$ ,  $f_{(k)}^i$  the joint conditional density of the remaining m-2 variables given that the  $k^{th}$  variable of  $\xi_i$  is equal to  $\gamma r_i^k$ ,  $f_{k\ell}^i$  the joint marginal density of the  $k^{th}$  and  $\ell^{th}$  variables of  $\xi_i$ , and  $f_{(k\ell)}^i$  the joint conditional density of the remaining m-3 variables given that the  $k^{th}$  and  $\ell^{th}$  variables of  $\xi_i$  are equal to  $\gamma r_i^k$  and  $\gamma r_i^\ell$  respectively.

Also define:

$$F_{(k)}^{i} = F_{(k)}^{i} (\gamma r_{ik}) = \prod_{\ell \neq k}^{m-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\gamma r_{i}^{\ell}} f_{(k)}^{i} (\lambda) d\lambda$$
where  $r_{ik}$  means  $r_{i}$  without its  $k^{th}$  element
$$i \qquad m-1 \qquad \gamma r_{i}^{s} \qquad i$$

$$F_{(k\ell)}^{s} = F_{(k\ell)}^{(\gamma r_{ik\ell})} = \prod_{s \neq k, \ell}^{m-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\gamma r_{i}^{s}} f_{(k\ell)}^{(\lambda) d\lambda}$$
where  $r_{ik}$  is the th

where  $r_{ikl}$  means  $r_i$  without its  $k^{th}$  and  $l^{th}$  element.

let  $a^{i}$  be the m-1 dimensional vector whose  $k^{th}$  element is  $a^{i}_{k} = a^{i}_{k}(\gamma r_{i}) = f^{i}_{k}(\gamma r^{k}_{i}) F^{i}_{(k)}(\gamma r_{ik})$ 

and  $B^{i}$  the (m-1) × (m-1) dimensional matrix whose  $k^{th}$ ,  $\ell^{th}$  element is:

$$b_{k\ell}^{i} - b_{k\ell}^{i}(\gamma r_{i}) - f_{k\ell}^{i}(\gamma r_{i}^{k}, \gamma r_{i}^{\ell}) F_{(k\ell)}^{i}(\gamma r_{ik\ell})$$

To further simplify the notation, let the truncated variable  $\xi_i \mid \xi_i < \gamma r_i - W$  and  $F_i - F_i(\gamma r_i)$ 

With these notations, it can be easily verified that equations (2.7) and (2.8) in Amemiya (1974, pp. 1002-1003) can be respectively rewritten in matrix form as:

$$(5.1.3) \qquad \text{EWW'} = \Omega_{i} + \frac{1}{F_{i}} \Omega_{i} \left[ D\left(\frac{\gamma r_{i}^{k} a_{k}^{i} - \omega_{k}^{i} b_{k}^{i}}{\omega_{k}^{i}}\right) + B^{i} \right] \Omega_{i}$$

$$(5.1.4)$$
 EW =  $\frac{1}{F_{i}} \Omega_{i} a^{i}$ 

where  $\Omega_i = A'_i \Sigma_{\epsilon} A_i = \text{Cov}(\xi_i)$  was defined earlier.  $\omega_k^i$  is the k<sup>th</sup> column of  $\Omega_i$  and  $\omega_{kk}^i$  its k<sup>th</sup> diagonal element.  $D(\cdot)$  is a diagonal matrix for which the term in the parentheses is the k<sup>th</sup> diagonal element.  $b_k^i$ is the k<sup>th</sup> column of B<sup>i</sup>.

From (5.1.3) and (5.1.4) we can get the covariance matrix of W by: (5.1.5) Cov (W) - EWW' - EW-EW'

$$= \Omega_{i} + \Omega_{i} \left[\frac{1}{F_{i}} O\left(\frac{\gamma r_{i}^{k} a_{k}^{i} - \omega_{k}^{i} b_{k}^{i}}{\omega_{kk}^{i}}\right) + \frac{1}{F_{i}} B^{i} - \frac{1}{F_{i}^{2}} a^{i} a^{i'}\right] \Omega_{i}$$

Now with these notations we have from (5.1.1) and (5.1.2)

$$\lambda^{i}(\gamma r_{i}) = REW$$
 and  $Cov(\eta_{i}^{*}) = RCov(W)R' + Q$ 

but

(5.1.6) 
$$R = E(\eta_i \xi_i) \Omega_i^{-1} = E[\eta_i \epsilon' A_i] \Omega_i^{-1} = \sum_{\eta_i} A_i' \Omega_i^{-1}$$

and

$$(5.1.7) \quad Q = \Sigma_{\eta_{i}} - RA_{i}\Sigma_{\epsilon\eta_{i}} - \Sigma_{\eta_{i}} - \Sigma_{\eta_{i}}\epsilon^{A_{i}}\Omega_{i}^{-1}A_{i}\Sigma_{\epsilon\eta_{i}} - \Sigma_{\eta_{i}} - R\Omega_{i}R'$$

hence using (5.1.4) and (5.1.6) we have

(5.1.8) 
$$\lambda^{i}(\gamma r_{i}) = \frac{1}{F_{i}} \sum_{\eta_{i} \in A_{i}} A_{i}' a^{i}$$
 (a  $J_{i} \times 1$  vector)

and using (5.1.5) and (5.1.7) we have

$$(5.1.9) \quad \operatorname{Cov}(\eta_{i}^{\star}) = \Sigma_{i}^{\star}$$

$$= \sum_{\eta_{i}} + \sum_{\eta_{i}} A_{i}^{\prime} [\frac{1}{F_{i}} D(\frac{\gamma r_{i}^{k} a_{k}^{i} - \omega_{k}^{i} b_{k}^{i}}{\omega_{kk}^{i}}) + \frac{1}{F_{i}} B^{i} - \frac{1}{F_{i}^{2}} a^{i} a^{i^{\prime}}] A_{i} \Sigma_{\eta_{i}}^{\prime} \epsilon$$

$$(a J_{i} \times J_{i} \text{ matrix})$$

 $\lambda_j^i(\gamma r_i)$ , the j<sup>th</sup> element of  $\lambda^i(\gamma r_i)$ , can be obtained from (5.1.8) and is given by:

$$\begin{array}{c} (5.1-10) \quad \lambda_{j}^{i}(\gamma r_{i}) = \frac{1}{F_{i}} \begin{bmatrix} m \\ \Sigma \\ \mu = 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} m \\ \kappa \neq i \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \\ i \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \\ \mu \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \sigma \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma \\ \mu \end{pmatrix}$$

The expression of  $\lambda_{j}^{i}(\gamma r_{i})$  is very interesting and open to interpretations with respect to how the different dishes in the household's choice set affect the conditional demands of the raw foods<sup>2</sup>. We will see later that only the term

$$\delta_{ik}^{j} - \Sigma_{\eta_{ij}\epsilon_{ij}\epsilon_{ij}\epsilon_{k}}^{j} - \Sigma_{\eta_{ij}\epsilon_{k}}^{j} \operatorname{can be identified.}$$

Note that the restriction that leads to the traditional model is:

(5.1.11) 
$$\Sigma_{\eta_i} \epsilon A_i a^i (\gamma r_i) = 0$$

which leads to  $\Sigma_{\eta_i} \in A_i'=0$  or  $a^i(\gamma r_i) \in \text{kernel of } \Sigma_{\eta_i} \in A_i'$ 

## 5.2. Methods of Estimation Under Normality

## 5.2.1. Assumptions and Notations

In this section, in addition to the normality assumption, we assume a random sample of N households having the same set of dish choices. The case of different choice sets for different households can be handled by a slight modification of the procedure followed here (by allowing the number of dishes m to depend on the household), by the usual treatment of sample selection bias, or by stratifying the population according to the choice set and perform separate regressions for each section of the population.

Before rewriting the model in estimation format, we introduce the following binary variables and notations.

and

 $P(d_{in} = 1) = F_{in}(\gamma_0 r_{in}) = E(d_{in})$  i = 1,..., m; m = 1,..., N

Where  $\gamma_0$  is the time parameter value. Accordingly, we will add a subscript n to designate the n<sup>th</sup> household, to all the relevant **variables** that vary from household to household. We will also add a

subscript 0 to the parameters to differentiate between a true but unknown value of a parameter and a particular value in the parameter space. Sometimes when there is no confusion we will drop some of the subscripts and/or arguments to simplify the notation.

Given these specific points, we can write the estimable equations (leaving out the unconditional mean demand equations) of the P.C-AIDS model as:

(5.2.1)  $\log d_n = Z_n^{*'} \theta_0^{*} + \epsilon_m^{*}$ (5.2.2)  $P(d_{in} = 1) = F_{in}(\gamma_0 r_{in})$ (5.2.3)  $S_{in} = (I_{Ji} \otimes Z_{in}') \theta_0^{i} + \frac{1}{F_{in}(\gamma_0 r_{in})} \Sigma_{0\eta_i} \epsilon^{A'_i} a^i (\gamma_0 r_{in}) + \eta_{in}^{*}$ n = 1, ..., N

Where  $\epsilon_{\mathbf{m}}^{*}$  are iid random variables with zero mean and variance  $\nu^{2}$ . The  $\eta_{\mathbf{in}}^{*}$  are also independent for given i with zero means, and covariance matrix  $\Sigma_{\mathbf{in}}^{*}$  given by (5.1.9), and  $g_{\mathbf{in}}$  as density function  $F_{\mathbf{in}}$  is the distribution function of  $\xi_{\mathbf{in}} = A_{\mathbf{i}}\epsilon_{\mathbf{n}}$  where the  $(\epsilon_{\mathbf{n}}, \eta_{\mathbf{n}})$  are iid normal across n with zero mean and covariance matrix  $\Sigma_{0}$  given in Section 5.1.

All the other variables, parameters, and constants are defined as in Section (4.5.2) and (5.1). To further simplify the notation, let  $\theta = (\theta^{1}, \ldots, \theta^{m'})'$  and define:

(5.2.4)  $\tilde{s}_{in} - \tilde{s}_{in}(Z_{in}, r_{in}, \theta_0^i, \gamma_0) - (I_{J_i} \otimes Z'_{in}) \delta_0^i + \lambda^i (\gamma_0 r_{in})$ Note that if  $\epsilon_n^*$  is independent of  $\epsilon_n$  and  $\eta_{in}^*$  for all n, then equations 5.2.1 can be estimated separately without loss of efficiency. That is what we will assume so that we can concentrate on the two other equations since (5.2.1) is a standard regression equation.

The following technical assumptions which are adapted from Amemiya (1985, p. 288) are needed for the consistency and asymptotic efficiency of the M.L.E. estimator to hold.

<u>Assumption 5.2.1</u>: The parameter space is an opened bounded subset of the Euclidean space.

Assumption 5.2.2:  $(r_{in})$  and  $(Z_{in})$  are respectively uniformly bounded in n for every i. Furthermore, the empirical distribution functions of  $(r_{in})$  and  $(Z_{in})$  converge to some distribution functions for every i. Assumption 5.2.3: For each i,  $\lambda_{\ell}(\Sigma^{*} I_{0in})$ , the largest characteristic roots of  $\Sigma^{*} I_{0in}$  are uniformly bounded for all n. Furthermore,

 $\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} r_{in}' r_{in} \text{ and } \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} (I_{j} \otimes Z_{in}) \sum_{in}^{\star -1} (I_{j} \otimes Z_{in}')$ 

are finite nonsingular for every i.

# 5.2.2. <u>Maximum Likelihood Estimation (M.L.E.)</u>

With these assumptions and notations, the likelihood of observing the n<sup>th</sup> household selecting a particular dish along with the necessary quantities of raw foods is given by:

(5.2.5)

$$\mathbf{L}(\boldsymbol{\theta},\boldsymbol{\gamma},\boldsymbol{\Sigma}) = \prod_{i=1}^{m} \{g_{in}[s_{in} - \tilde{s}_{in}(z_{in}, r_{in}, \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\gamma})] F_{in}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}r_{in})\}^{d_{in}}$$

But the conditional density  $g_{in}$  of  $\eta_{in}^{*}$  is given by:

$$(5.2.6) \quad g_{in}(\eta_{in}^{*}) = \frac{1}{F_{in}(\gamma r_{in})} \times \int_{f(\xi_{in}, \eta_{in}^{*})d\xi_{in}}^{\gamma r_{in}} \xi_{in=-\infty}$$

$$= \frac{1}{F_{in}(\gamma r_{in})} f^{*}(\eta_{in}^{*}) \int f(\xi_{in} | \eta_{in} - \eta_{in}^{*}) d\xi_{in}$$
$$\xi_{in-\infty}$$

where f is the joint density of  $(\xi_{in}, \eta_{in})$  and  $f^*$  is the marginal density of  $\eta_{in}$ .

Using the expression of the conditional distribution of a random variable normally distributed, we get: (5.2.7)

$$g_{in}(S_{in}-\tilde{S}_{in}) \xrightarrow{1}_{F_{in}(\gamma r_{in})} \phi_{J_{i}}[S_{in}-(I_{J_{i}}\otimes Z_{in}')\theta_{i}, \Sigma_{\eta_{i}}]$$

$$\times \Phi_{m-1}[\gamma r_{in}; -(S_{in}-(I_{J_{i}}\otimes Z_{in}')\theta_{i})'\Sigma_{\eta_{i}} A_{i}'\Omega_{i}^{-1}, \Omega_{i}]$$

where  $\phi_k(x,A)$  is the density of the k-dimensional random variable, normally distributed with zero mean, covariance matrix  $A^{-1}$ , and evaluated at the point x.  $\Phi_k(x,\mu,A)$  is the cumulative distribution of the k-dimensional normal random variable with mean  $\mu$ , covariance matrix  $A^{-1}$  and evaluated at the point x. Hence, the likelihood function of a random sample of N households is given by:

$$(5.2.8) \qquad L(\theta,\gamma,\Sigma) = \prod_{n=1}^{N} \prod_{i=1}^{m} \{\phi_{J_{i}}[S_{in} - (I_{Ji}\Theta Z'_{in})\theta_{ij}\Sigma_{\eta_{i}}] \\ \times \Phi_{m-1}[\gamma r_{in}, -(S_{in} - (I_{Ji}\Theta Z'_{in})\theta_{i})\Sigma_{\eta_{i}} A'_{in}\Omega_{i}]\}^{d_{in}}$$

The log likelihood is then :

$$(5.2.9) \quad \mathfrak{L}(\theta,\gamma,\Sigma) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \log \phi(S_{in}^{-}(I_{J_{i}} \otimes Z'_{in})\theta_{i}, \Sigma_{\eta i})$$

$$+ \sum_{n=1}^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \log \Phi(\gamma r_{in}, -S_{in}, -(I_{j} \otimes Z'_{in})\theta_{i}) \sum_{\eta_{i} \in A'_{i} \cap i}^{-1}, \Omega_{i})$$

$$= \mathcal{L}_{1}(\theta, \Sigma_{\eta_{i}}) + \mathcal{L}_{2}(\gamma, \theta, \Sigma_{\eta_{i}}, \sum_{\epsilon_{i}})$$

The way the likelihood decomposes is very interesting and has some implications with respect to the solutions of the likelihood equation of  $\Sigma_{\eta_1}$ . Indeed, since the second term does not involve  $\Sigma_{\eta_1}$ , we can readily solve for the MLE of  $\Sigma_{\eta_1}$  in terms of the one for  $\theta_1$ . We can then use the concentrated log-likelihood to solve numerically for the other parameters. Note also that if the dish choices are not relevant, that is if m=1,  $d_{in}=1$  for all n and  $\Sigma_{\eta_1}\epsilon=0$ , then the second term of the log-likelihood of the traditional model. This provides us with a means of testing directly the restriction implied by the traditional model by use of the likelihood ratio test or the Hausman test.

 $\Sigma$  has  $\frac{1}{2}(m + \frac{m}{1-1}J_i)(m + \frac{m}{1-1}J_i + 1)$  free parameters. But it is rarely the case that all the parameters are identified. Indeed, it is known from multimomial probit estimation that in general only part of  $\Sigma_{\epsilon}$  can be identified. (See, for example, Hausman and Wise, 1978). One usually has to normalize some elements of  $\Sigma_{\epsilon}$  and/or use some type of parametrization like the one used by Hausman and Wise (1978). It will be seen also later that without prior restrictions on the elements of  $\Sigma$  not all the elements of  $\Sigma_{\eta_i\epsilon}$  are identified; only the elements of  $\Sigma_{\eta_i\epsilon}A^*$  can be identified in general.

Given our assumptions, the above log-likelihood satisfies the usual regularity conditions so that the MLE of the identifiable parameters are consistent and asymptotically efficient with the asymptotic covariance matrix given by the Inverse of the information matrix.

The computation of the MLE's is done iteratively and involves the evaluation of a multivariate normal probability (which is an integral of dimension m-1) using numerical methods. Until recently, this was computationally unfeasible for m>3. The next section will discuss some of the recent methods of approximating the integral. The method of iteration normally used, is the Newton-Raphson method and its variants. (See, for example, Amemiya, 1985, pp. 137-141 and page 274).

The difficulties involved with the computation of the MLE have led to a search for other computationally more feasible methods of estimation. The method usually used is the Heckman's two-stage method. This method consists of estimating first  $\gamma$  and  $\Sigma_{\epsilon}$  by the probit MLE using equation 5.2.2 alone, and then performing an ordinary least squares on equation 5.2.3 after replacing the unknown parameters  $\gamma$  and  $\Sigma_{\epsilon}$  by their probit MLE. However, the computational advantage of this method over the MLE which is more efficient is not obvious in our model since the probit MLE is obtained by iteration which also needs the evaluation of the m-1-dimensional multivariate normal integral. The only simplification would come from the reduction in the number of parameters that have to be simultaneously estimated.

# 5.2.3 <u>Heckman's Two-Step Estimator</u>

Heckman's method is attractive not only because of its possible computational advantage but also because it reduces our food consumption model to a simple problem of correcting what is referred in the literature as selection bias, when estimating the conditional demand equations. This selection bias problem arises whenever the dependent variable (the quantity of raw food) is conditionally observed according to some selection process (the dish choices). Without correcting for the selectivity bias, the least squares estimates of the parameters of the demand equations are biased and inconsistent. Heckman's method is a relatively simple way to get consistent estimates. Furthermore, with Heckman's method the assumption of joint normality of  $\epsilon$  and  $\eta$  can be removed, since the derivation of the conditional moments involved in equation 5.2.3 depends only on the linearity of the conditional expectation of  $\eta$  given  $\epsilon$ , the normality of  $\epsilon$ , and the independence between  $\epsilon$  and the regression residual of  $\eta$  on  $\epsilon$ . (Lee, 1982; Johnson and Kotz, 1972, p. 70). The consequence of this is that the correction of the selectivity bias is insensitive to the distribution of  $\eta^{\pi}$  (Lee, 1982).

The two stages in Heckman's method are as follows:

## <u>Stage 1:</u> <u>Computation of the Probit MLE of $\gamma$ and $\Sigma_e$ </u>

In this stage, we maximize the probit likelihood function

$$z^{\star}(\gamma, \Sigma_{\epsilon}) = \sum_{\epsilon}^{N} \sum_{n=1}^{m} d_{in} \log \Phi_{m-1}(\gamma r_{in}, 0, A_{i}\Sigma_{\epsilon}A_{i}')$$

to find  $\hat{\gamma}$  and  $\hat{\Sigma}_{\epsilon}$  the probit MLE of  $\gamma$  and  $\Sigma_{\epsilon}$ . (normalization of some elements of  $\Sigma_{\epsilon}$  would be needed.)

 $\hat{\gamma}$  and  $\hat{\Sigma}_{\epsilon}$  are consistent. See, for example, Amemiya (1985, pp. 286-292) for its asymptotic distribution and other theoretical properties. All the remarks made in the previous section with respect to the computation of the MLE apply equally here. These computational difficulties has limited the use of the multinomial probit MLE in the past, despite its theoretical advantage over the multinomial logit (Hausman and Wise, 1978). However, recent progress has been made in developing computationally attractive methods of approximating the value of the multiple integral involved. Hausman and Wise (1978) reported that a series expansion method is feasible up to five alternatives in the choice set. An approximation method originally proposed by Clark in 1961 was refined by Daganzo and Sheffi (1977). They argued that their algorithm was computationally efficient. Finally, Lerman and Manski (1981), used Monte Carlo methods to approximate the multivariate normal integral. According to them, the method was feasible up to ten alternatives. More importantly, they reported having a computer program that lets you choose between the Monte Carlo method and Clark's method. This is an interesting feature because, although Clark's method dominated Monte Carlo in their experiments, in some other instances the former performed poorly. (Amemiya, 1985, p. 309).

In the process of getting  $\hat{\gamma}$  and  $\hat{\Sigma}_{\epsilon_i}$ ,  $F_{in}(\hat{\gamma}r_{in})$  and  $a_i(\hat{\gamma}r_{in})$  can be computed at the same time. Hence, from this first stage, we should be able to compute

$$h_{i}(\gamma r_{in}) = \frac{a_{i}(\gamma r_{in})}{F_{in}(\gamma r_{in})}$$

Stage 2: Getting Consistent Estimates of  $\theta_{i0}$ ,  $\Sigma_{\eta_i \epsilon}^0 A_i$  and  $\Sigma_{0in}^*$ 

In the second stage, we collect all the observations on the conditional demand equations for the raw foods corresponding to each dish. Then we can rewrite the system of conditional demand (5.2.3) by replacing the unknown values

$$\frac{a_{i}(\gamma_{0}r_{in})}{F_{in}(\gamma_{0}r_{in})} \text{ by their estimates } h_{i}(\gamma r_{in}) = \frac{a_{i}(\gamma r_{in})}{F_{in}(\gamma r_{in})}$$

obtained from stage 1. We will then have :

(5.2.11) 
$$S_{in} = (I_{J_i} \otimes Z'_{in})\theta^i + \Sigma_{\eta_i} A'_{ih_i}(\gamma r_{in}) + \tilde{\eta}_{in}$$
  
$$n=1,\ldots,N_i \qquad i=1,\ldots,m$$

where:

 $N_i$  is the number of households having dish i in the sample. And

(5.2.12) 
$$\tilde{\eta}_{in} - \eta_{in}^* + \Sigma_{\eta_i} \epsilon^{\Lambda'_i[h_i(\gamma r_{in}) - h_i(\gamma r_{in})]}$$
  
is the new disturbance term.

We can estimate the system (5.2.11) by ordinary least squares equation by equation to get consistent estimates of  $\theta^{i}$  and  $\Sigma_{\eta_{i}\epsilon}A'_{i}$ . That is, for each dish i, we perform  $J_{i}$  O.L.S. using the  $J_{i}$  conditional demands with N<sub>i</sub> observations for each variable. In total, we will perform  $\sum_{i=1}^{m} J_i$  0.L.S to cover all the dishes.

From (5.2.11), the  $j^{th}$  conditional demand corresponding to dish i is:

(5.2.13) 
$$S_{jn}^{i} - Z_{in}^{\prime}\theta_{j} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{m} \delta_{i\ell}^{j} h_{i}^{\ell} (\hat{\gamma}r_{in}) + \tilde{\eta}_{ijn}$$
  $n = 1, ..., N_{i}$ 

where:

$$\delta_{i\ell}^{j} = \Sigma_{\eta_{ij}\epsilon_{i}} - \Sigma_{\eta_{ij}\epsilon_{\ell}} \quad \text{is the } j^{\text{th}}, \ \ell^{\text{th}} \text{ element of } \Sigma_{\eta_{i}\epsilon}A_{i}^{\prime}, \text{ and}$$
$$h_{i}^{\ell}(\hat{\gamma}r_{in}) = \frac{1}{F_{in}(\hat{\gamma}r_{in})} \times a_{i}^{\ell}(\hat{\gamma}r_{in}) \quad \text{is the } \ell^{\text{th}} \text{ element of } h_{i}(\hat{\gamma}r_{in})$$

It is clear from (5.2.13) that we cannot estimate all the  $\sum_{\eta_{ij} \in l} \eta_{ij} \ell_{lj}$ for i, l-1,...,m only the differences  $\delta_{il}^{j}$  can be estimated. That is to say that only the elements of the matrix  $\sum_{\eta_{i} \in \Lambda_{i}^{\prime}} \lambda_{i}^{\prime}$  i=1,...,m are identified.

Note also that for each equation we have  $J_i + m + 1$  parameters to estimate. Thus for O.L.S. to be feasible for each i we should have  $N_i \ge J_i + m + 1$ . Furthermore, for the consistency to apply,  $N_i$  should be large.

Provided this later condition is met, the second step of Heckman's procedure will yield consistent estimates of the

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} J_i (J_i + m + 1)$$

conditional demand parameters for the raw food corresponding to all dishes. If one were interested in only getting consistent estimates, he may stop here. However, inferences based on the standard errors given
by the regression output would be wrong. The reason for this is that (1) the disturbances of the regression in (5.2.13) are heteroskedastic this can be seen from (5.2.12) - and (2) in (5,2,13)  $\hat{\gamma}$  was estimated before performing least squares so that the covariance matrix of the O.L.S. estimator should take account of this fact. Although the exact covariance matrix of least squares is intractable, we can find its asymptotic distribution in exactly the same manner as in Amemiya (1985, pp. 369-70) or Heckman (1979). For this purpose, we write (5.2.13) in matrix notation as:

(5.2.14) 
$$s_{j}^{i} - [z_{i}, \hat{H}_{i}] \begin{pmatrix} \theta_{j} \\ \delta_{j} \\ \delta_{j} \end{pmatrix} + \tilde{\eta}_{ij}$$

where  $S_j^i$  and  $\tilde{\eta}_{ij}$  are the  $N_i$  dimensional vector the n<sup>th</sup> element of which are respectively  $S_{jn}^i$  and  $\tilde{\eta}_{ijn}$   $Z_i$  is the  $N_i \times (J_i + 2)$ dimensional matrix of the original regressors of the j<sup>th</sup> conditional demand, the n<sup>th</sup> row of which is  $Z_{in}$   $\hat{H}_i$  is the  $N_i \times (m-1)$  matrix of the additional regressors - correcting for the selectivity bias - , the n<sup>th</sup> row of which is

$$\hat{h}'_{i} - h_{i}(\gamma r_{in})'$$
. Finally,  $\Delta^{i}_{j}$  is the j<sup>th</sup> row of  $\Sigma_{\eta_{i}} \epsilon A'_{i}$ 

a m-1 vector of parameters, the  $l^{\text{th}}$  element of which is  $\delta_{il}^{j}$  with  $l \neq i$ . To simplify further the notation we will put

$$\hat{X}_{i} = (Z_{i}, \hat{H}_{i})$$
 a  $N_{i} \times (J_{i}+m+1)$  matrix,

and  $\beta_j^i = (\theta_j^i, \Delta_j^{i'})^i$  a  $(J_i+m+1)\times 1$  vector.

Similarly, the expression of  $\tilde{\eta}_{ij}$  can be found from (5.2.12) and is given by: (5.2.15)  $\tilde{\eta}_{ij} = \eta_{ij}^* + (H_i - \hat{H}_i)\Delta_j^i$ 

where  $\eta_{ij}^{\star}$  is the N<sub>i</sub> dimensional vector the n<sup>th</sup> element of which is  $\eta_{ijn}^{\star}$ 

H<sub>i</sub> is the N<sub>i</sub>×(m-1) matrix the n<sup>th</sup> row of which is 
$$h'_i = h_i (\gamma r_{in})'$$
.

If we combine the  $J_i$  regression equations similar to (5.2.14), then for each dish i, we have a system of seemingly unrelated regression (S.U.R.) with heteroskedastic disturbances and correlation across equations depending on the observations. The set of  $J_1$  regression equations can be written in S.U.R. format as one combined equation

(5.2.16)  $S_i = (I_{J_i} \otimes \tilde{X}_i)\beta_i + \tilde{\eta}_i$ where  $S_i = (S_i^{i'}, \ldots, S_{J_i}^{i'})'; \quad ; \quad \tilde{\eta}_i = (\tilde{\eta}_{i1}', \ldots, \tilde{\eta}_{iJ_i}')'$  $\beta_i = (\beta_1^{i'}, \ldots, \beta_{J_i}^{i'})'$  and  $I_{J_i}$  is the identity matrix of dimension  $J_i$ 

Similarly, we can combine the  $J_i$  equations defining  $\tilde{\eta}_i$  as:

(5.2.17) 
$$\tilde{\eta}_{i} = \eta_{i}^{\star} + [I_{J_{i}} \otimes (H_{i} - H_{i})]\Delta^{i}$$
  
where  $\eta_{i}^{\star} = (\eta_{i1}^{\star'}, \ldots, \eta_{iJ_{i}}^{\prime})'$  and  
 $\Delta^{i} = (\Delta_{i}^{i'}, \ldots, \Delta_{J_{i}}^{j'})' = \operatorname{vec} (\Sigma_{\eta_{i}} \epsilon^{\Lambda_{i}})$ 

It can be shown that  $\eta_i^{\star}$  and  $(I_{J_i} \otimes (H_i - H_i)]\Delta^i$  are uncorrelated

(see Amemiya, 1985, p. 370). Hence we have

(5.2.18) 
$$\operatorname{cov}(\tilde{\eta}_{i}) - \operatorname{cov}(\eta_{i}^{\star}) + \operatorname{cov}[(I_{J_{i}} \otimes (H_{i} - \hat{H}_{i})\Delta^{i}]]$$

From the expression of  $\Sigma_{in}^{*} - cov(\eta_{in}^{*})$  in (15.1.9) we get:

(5.2.19)  $\operatorname{cov}(\eta_{i}^{*}) = \Sigma_{\eta_{i}} \otimes I_{N_{i}} + \Sigma_{i}^{*}$ 

where  $\Sigma_{i}^{\star}$  is the  $N_{i}J_{i} \times N_{i}J_{i}$  square block matrix of  $J_{i} \times J_{i}$ 

square submatrices of size N<sub>i</sub>the j<sup>th</sup>, k<sup>th</sup> submatrix of which is  $D_{ik}(\Delta_{i}^{i'}\Lambda_{in}^{*}\Delta_{k}^{i})$  a diagonal matrix of size N for which the term in the parentheses is its  $n^{th}$  element; with  $\Lambda_{in}^{\star}$  given by:

$$\Lambda_{in}^{\star} = \frac{1}{F_{in}} D\left(\frac{\gamma r_{in}^{k} a_{kn}^{i} - \omega_{k}^{i'} b_{kn}^{i}}{\omega_{kk}^{i}}\right) + \frac{1}{F_{in}} B_{n}^{i} - \frac{1}{F_{in}^{2}} a_{nn}^{i}$$

where  $D(\cdot)$  is as usual, the diagonal matrix for which the term in the parentheses is the k<sup>th</sup> diagonal element. From (5.2.14) or (5.2.16), the 0.L.S. estimates of

$$\beta_j^i j=1,\ldots,J_i$$
 are:

$$(5.2.20) \quad \hat{\beta}_{j}^{i} - (\hat{x}_{i} \hat{x}_{i})^{-1} \hat{x}_{i} \hat{s}_{j}^{i} - \beta_{j}^{i} + (\hat{x}_{i} \hat{x}_{i})^{-1} [\hat{x}_{i} \eta_{ij}^{*} + \hat{x}_{i} (H_{i} - \hat{H}_{i}) \Delta_{j}^{i}]$$

we can now derive the asymptotic distribution of  $\hat{\beta}_{j}^{i}$  along the same lines as in Amemiya (1985, pp. 369-70).

Because of our assumptions and the consistency of the probit MLE, we have:

and

(5.2.21) plim 
$$\frac{1}{N_i} \hat{X}_i \hat{X}_i = \lim_{N_i \to \infty} \frac{1}{N_i} \hat{X}_i \hat{X}_i$$

(5.2.22) 
$$N_{i}^{-L_{i}} X_{i}^{*} \eta_{ij}^{*} \stackrel{d}{\rightarrow} N(0, \lim_{i \to \infty} X_{i}^{*} \Sigma_{j}^{i} X_{i})$$

where  $X_{i} = (Z_{i}, H_{i})$  and  $\Sigma_{j}^{i} = cov(\eta_{ij}^{\star})$  is the diagonal matrix of size  $N_{i}$ the n<sup>th</sup> element of which is the j<sup>th</sup> diagonal element of  $\Sigma_{in}^{\star}$ . From the expression of  $\Sigma_{in}^{\star}$  in (15.1.9) or from (5.2.19) we get (5.2.23)  $\Sigma_{j}^{i} = \sigma_{jj}I_{N_{i}} + D(\Delta_{j}^{i'}\Lambda_{in}^{\star}\Delta_{j}^{i}) - D(\sigma_{jj} + \Delta_{j}^{i'}\Lambda_{in}^{\star}\Delta_{j}^{i})$ 

where  $\sigma_{jj}$  is the j<sup>th</sup> diagonal element of  $\Sigma_{\eta_j}$ .

By a Taylor expansion of  $h_i(\gamma r_{in})$ , the n<sup>th</sup> column of  $\hat{H}'_i$ , around  $\gamma$ 

we have:

(5.2.24) 
$$h_i(\gamma r_{in}) - h_i(\gamma r_{in}) = \frac{\partial h_i(\gamma r_{in})}{\partial \gamma} (\gamma - \gamma) + O(\frac{1}{N_i})$$

where  $\gamma^*$  lies between  $\gamma$  and  $\hat{\gamma}$  and  $\lim_{N_1 \to \infty} 0(\frac{1}{N_1}) = 0$ 

Because of our assumptions and the consistency of  $\gamma$ , we have:

(5.2.25) 
$$\lim_{N_{i} \to \infty} \frac{\partial h_{i}(\gamma \tilde{r}_{in})}{\partial \gamma} \frac{\partial h_{i}(\gamma r_{in})}{\partial \gamma}$$

Hence,  $N_{i}^{-\frac{1}{2}\hat{X}'_{i}(\hat{H}_{i} - H_{i})\Delta_{j}^{i}$  has the same limit distribution as:  $\left(\lim_{N_{i} \to \infty} \frac{1}{N_{i}} X'_{i} \frac{\partial H_{i}(\gamma r_{in})}{\partial \gamma} \Delta_{j}^{i}\right) N^{\frac{1}{2}}(\hat{\gamma} - \gamma).$ 

By taking the partial derivative of  $h_i$  with respect to  $\gamma$  and using the notation in section 5.1 we get:

(5.2.26) 
$$\frac{\partial h_i(\gamma r_{in})}{\partial \gamma} = -\frac{1}{F_{in}^2} a_n^i \nabla F_{in}' r_{in}' - \frac{1}{F_{in}} D(\gamma r_i^k a_{kn}^i) + f^i \nabla F_{(k)}^i r_{ik}'$$

where  $F_{in} = F_{in}(\gamma r_{in})$ ,  $\nabla F$  is the gradient vector of F,  $f^{i}$  is the (m-1)×1 vector the k<sup>th</sup> element of which is  $f_{k}^{i}(\gamma r_{i}^{k})$ , and  $D(\cdot)$  is, as

usual the diagonal matrix of size m-l for which the term in parentheses is the k<sup>th</sup> diagonal element.

Noting that 
$$\nabla F_{in} = a_n^i$$
 and  $f^i \nabla F_{(k)}^{i'} r'_{ik} = B_n^i r'_{in} - D(b_{kk}^i r_i^k)$ 

we have after some algebra:

$$(5.2.27) \quad \frac{\partial h_i(\gamma r_{in})}{\partial \gamma} = - \left[ \frac{1}{F_{in}} D(\gamma a_{kn}^i + b_{kk}^i) - \frac{1}{F_{in}} B_n^i + \frac{1}{F_{in}^2} a_n^i a_n^i \right] r'_{in}$$

where  $b_{kk}^{i}$  is the k<sup>th</sup> diagonal element of  $B_{n}^{i}$ 

Thus the n<sup>th</sup> row of  $\frac{\partial H_i(\gamma r_{in})}{\partial \gamma}$  is:

$$\frac{\partial h_i(\gamma r_{in})'}{\partial \gamma} = -r_{in} [\frac{1}{F_{in}} D(\gamma a_{kn}^i + b_{kk}^i) - \frac{1}{F_{in}} B_n^i + \frac{1}{F_{in}^2} a_n^i a_n^{i'}]$$

Hence, we have:

(5.2.28) 
$$\frac{\partial H_i(\gamma r_{in})}{\partial \gamma} = -R_i \left[\frac{1}{F_{in}}D(\gamma a_{kn}^i + b_{kk}^i) - \frac{1}{F_{in}}B_n^i + \frac{1}{F_{in}^2}a_{nnn}^i\right]$$

where  $R_i$  is the  $N_i \times (m-1)$  matrix of regressors in the probit equation, the n<sup>th</sup> row of which is  $r_{in}$ ; and to simplify the notation we have put

$$\Lambda_{in} = \frac{1}{F_{in}} D(\gamma a_{kn}^{i} + b_{kk}^{i}) - \frac{1}{F_{in}} B_{n}^{i} + \frac{1}{F_{in}^{2}} a_{n}^{i} a_{n}^{i}$$

It follows from above that  $N_i^{-\frac{1}{2}} \hat{X}_i(\hat{H}_i - H_i) \Delta_j^i$  has same limit distribution as  $X_i^{r}R_i \Lambda_{in} \Delta_j^i N^{-\frac{1}{2}} (\hat{\gamma} - \gamma)$  which converges to  $N \{0, \lim_{N_i \to \infty} [\frac{1}{N_i} X_i^{r}R_i \Lambda_{in} \Delta_j^i] \times \Gamma \times \lim_{N_i \to \infty} [\frac{1}{N_i} \Delta_j^i \Lambda_{in} R_i^{r}X_i] \}$ where  $\Gamma$  is the asymptotic variance of  $N_i^{-\frac{1}{2}} (\hat{\gamma} - \gamma)$  from the probit MLE which is given in Amemiya (1985, pp. 288-89). With our notation, we can write  $\Gamma$  as

$$\Gamma = \lim_{N_{i} \to \infty} N_{i} \left[ \sum_{n=1}^{N_{i}} \frac{1}{F_{in}} a_{n}^{i'} r_{in}' r_{in} a_{n}^{i} \right]^{-1} - \lim_{N_{i} \to \infty} N_{i} \left[ \sum_{n=1}^{N_{i}} \frac{1}{F_{in}} (r_{in} a_{n}^{i})^{2} \right]^{-1}$$
$$= \lim_{N_{i} \to \infty} N_{i} \left[ a_{n}^{i'} R_{i}' D^{-1} (F_{in}) R_{i} a_{n}^{i} \right]^{-1}$$

where  $D^{-1}(F_{in})$  is the inverse of  $D(F_{in})$  a diagonal matrix of size  $N_i$ with  $F_{in}$  as the n<sup>th</sup> element. Finally, using the fact that  $\eta^{\star}_{ij}$  and  $\hat{X}_i(H_i - \hat{H}_i)\Delta_j^i$  are uncorrelated, we conclude that  $\hat{\beta}_j^i$ , the O.L.S. of  $\beta_j^i$ ,

 $j=1,\ldots,J_i$  are asymptotically normal with means  $\beta_j^i$  and asymptotic covariance matrices given by<sup>3</sup>:

$$(5.2.30) \quad Acov(\beta_{j}^{i}) = \lim_{N_{i} \to \infty} (X_{i}^{'}X_{i})^{-1}X_{i}^{'}[D(\sigma_{jj} + \Delta_{j}^{i'}\Lambda_{in}^{*}\Delta_{j}^{i}] + R_{i}\Lambda_{in}\Delta_{j}^{i}[a_{n}^{i'}R_{i}^{'}D^{-1}(F_{in})R_{i}a_{n}^{i}]^{-1}\Delta_{j}^{i'}\Lambda_{in}R_{i}^{'}]X_{i}(X_{i}^{'}X_{i})^{-1}$$

A computable consistent estimate of  $Acov(\beta_j^i)$  can be obtained by dropping the sign  $\lim_{N \to \infty}$  and replacing the unknown parameters by their consistent It follows from above that  $N_i^{-\frac{1}{2}} \hat{X}_i' (\hat{H}_i - H_i) \Delta_j^i$  has same limit distribution as  $X_i R_i \Lambda_{in} \Delta_j^i N^{-\frac{1}{2}} (\hat{\gamma} - \gamma)$  which converges to  $N_i (\Omega_i) = \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} (\frac{1}{2} - \chi' R_i \Lambda_i) \Delta_j^i + \sum_{\lambda \to \infty} (\frac{1}{2} - \Lambda_i' \Lambda_i) \Delta_j^i$ 

 $N \{ 0, \lim_{N_{i} \to \infty} \left[ \frac{1}{N_{i}} X_{i}^{\prime} R_{i} \Lambda_{in} \Lambda_{j}^{i} \right] \times \Gamma \times \lim_{N_{i} \to \infty} \left[ \frac{1}{N_{i}} \Lambda_{j}^{i^{\prime}} \Lambda_{in} R_{i}^{\prime} X_{i} \right] \}$ 

where  $\Gamma$  is the asymptotic variance of  $N_1^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\gamma-\gamma)$  from the probit MLE which is given in Amemiya (1985, pp. 288-89). With our notation, we can write  $\Gamma$  as

$$\Gamma = \lim_{\substack{N_{i} \to \infty}} N_{i} \left[ \sum_{n=1}^{N_{i}} \frac{1}{F_{in}} a_{n}^{i'} r_{in}^{'} r_{in} a_{n}^{i} \right]^{-1} = \lim_{\substack{N_{i} \to \infty}} N_{i} \left[ \sum_{n=1}^{N_{i}} \frac{1}{F_{in}} (r_{in} a_{n}^{i})^{2} \right]^{-1}$$
$$= \lim_{\substack{N_{i} \to \infty}} N_{i} \left[ a_{n}^{i'} R_{i}^{'} D^{-1} (F_{in}) R_{i} a_{n}^{i} \right]^{-1}$$

where  $D^{-1}(F_{in})$  is the inverse of  $D(F_{in})$  a diagonal matrix of size  $N_i$ with  $F_{in}$  as the n<sup>th</sup> element. Finally, using the fact that  $\eta_{ij}^{\star}$  and  $\hat{X}_i(H_i - \hat{H}_i)\Delta_j^i$  are uncorrelated, we conclude that  $\hat{\beta}_j^i$ , the O.L.S. of  $\beta_j^i$ ,

j-1,...,J<sub>i</sub> are asymptotically normal with means  $\beta_j^i$  and asymptotic covariance matrices given by<sup>3</sup>:

$$(5.2.30) \quad Acov(\beta_{j}^{i}) = \lim_{N_{i} \to \infty} (X_{i}^{'}X_{i})^{-1}X_{i}^{'}[D(\sigma_{jj} + \Delta_{j}^{i}\Lambda_{in}^{*}\Delta_{j}^{i}) + R_{i}\Lambda_{in}\Delta_{j}^{i}[a_{n}^{i'}R_{i}^{'}D^{-1}(F_{in})R_{i}a_{n}^{i}]^{-1}\Delta_{j}^{i'}\Lambda_{in}R_{i}^{'}]X_{i}(X_{i}^{'}X_{i})^{-1}$$

A computable consistent estimate of  $Acov(\beta_j^i)$  can be obtained by dropping the sign  $\lim_{N \to \infty}$  and replacing the unknown parameters by their consistent estimates. Consistent estimates of  $\gamma$ ,  $\omega_{kl}^{i}$ , are respectively  $\hat{\gamma}$  the

probit MLE of  $\gamma$  and  $\hat{\omega}_{k\ell}^{i}$  the k<sup>th</sup>,  $\ell^{th}$  element of  $\hat{\Omega}_{i}$  probit MLE of  $\Omega_{i}$ consistent estimates of  $\Delta_{j}^{i}$  j=1,...,J are the 0.L.S. estimates  $\hat{\Delta}_{j}^{i}$ . Then it remains to find a consistent estimate of  $\sigma_{jj}$ . It can be shown that

 $(5.2.31) \quad \hat{\sigma}_{jj} = \frac{1}{N_{i}} \sum_{n=1}^{N_{i}} \hat{\eta}_{ijn}^{2} = \hat{\Delta}_{j}^{i} [\frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N_{i}} \hat{\Lambda}_{in}^{*}] \hat{\Delta}_{j}^{i}$ 

is a consistent estimate of  $\sigma_{jj}$ . Where  $\hat{\eta}_{ijn}$  are the 0.L.S.

residuals from the regression equation (5.2.14) and  $\lambda_{in}^{*}$  is obtained from  $\Lambda_{in}^{*}$  after replacing  $\gamma$  by  $\hat{\gamma}$ . However, the computation of this estimate of  $Acov(\hat{\beta}_{j}^{i})$  is very cumbersome as it requires the numerical evaluation of many multivariate normal integral. A simpler consistent estimate of  $Acov(\hat{\beta}_{j}^{i})$  can be obtained by using the method of White (1980). Under this method,  $Acov(\hat{\beta}_{j}^{i})$  is estimated by:

 $(\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{\mathbf{i}}\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{\mathbf{i}})^{-1}\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{\mathbf{i}}^{\prime}\mathsf{D}(\tilde{\eta}_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}\mathbf{n}}^{2})\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{\mathbf{i}}(\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{\mathbf{i}}\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{\mathbf{i}})^{-1}$ 

where  $D(\tilde{\eta}_{ijn}^2)$  is the diagonal matrix of size N<sub>i</sub>, the n<sup>th</sup> element

of which is  $\frac{1}{2}$  the square of the n<sup>th</sup> O.L.S. residual. White (1980) has proved the consistency of this estimator under general form of heteroskedasticity.

Because of the heteroskedasticity in each equation and the correlation across equations, we can get asymptotically more efficient estimators than 0.L.S. by using weighted least squares (WLS) equation by equation or SUR using the regression equation in (5.2.16). SUR is in general more efficient than WLS because it uses the correlation across equations. Note that without the heteroskedastic variances and correlation, OLS, WLS, and SUR would yield the same estimator since for a given dish i, the regressors are the same in all J<sub>i</sub> equations.

The WLS estimate of  $\beta_j^i$  can be computed using a consistent estimate of the asymptotic covariance matrix of  $\overline{\eta}_{ij}$  (Amemiya, 1985, p. 371). The asymptotic covariance matrix of  $\overline{\eta}_{ij}$  can be found from (5.2.15) and is given by the matrix within the outer square bracket in (5.2.30). A consistent estimate of this matrix can be obtained by following the procedure after (5.2.30). The WLS estimate of  $\beta_j^i$  will be given then by:

where  $\hat{\mathbf{v}}_{ij}$  is the consistent estimate of  $ACov(\bar{\eta}_{ij})$  the asymptotic covariance matrix of  $\bar{\eta}_{ij}$ , obtained following the procedure outlined above. It can be shown in a way similar to the 0.L.S. case, that  $\hat{\beta}_{jWLS}^{i}$ is consistent and asymptotically normal with asymptotic covariance matrix given by:

(5.2.34) 
$$Acov(\hat{\beta}_{jWLS}^{i}) - (X_{i}[Acov(\tilde{\eta}_{ij})]^{-1}X_{i})^{-1}$$

which can be estimated by  $(\hat{X}_{i}, \hat{\Psi}_{ij}, \hat{X}_{i})^{-1}$ 

However, as in the OLS case, to avoid the computation of **multivariate** normal integrals involved in  $\hat{\Psi}_{ij}$  we can use the method of White (1980) and estimate the WLS of  $\beta^{i}_{j}$  and its asymptotic covariance matrix respectively by:

$$[\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i} D^{-1}(\tilde{\eta}_{ijn}^{2}) \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i}]^{-1} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i} D^{-1}(\tilde{\eta}_{ijn}^{2}) S_{j}^{i} \quad \text{and} \quad [\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i} D^{-1}(\tilde{\eta}_{ijn}^{2}) \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{i}]^{-1}$$

where  $D^{-1}(\bar{\eta}_{1jn}^2)$  is the inverse of  $D(\bar{\eta}_{1jn}^2)$ .

To compute the SUR estimate of  $\beta_i$  in (5.2.16), we need a consistent estimate of  $ACov(\eta_i)$ , the asymptotic covariance matrix of  $\eta_i$  from (5.2.18), (5.2.19) and after (5.2.25) we have:

.

$$(5.2.35) \quad \operatorname{Acov}(\eta_{i}) = \Sigma_{\eta_{i}} \otimes I_{N_{i}} + \Sigma_{i}^{\star} +$$

$$\lim_{N_{i} \to \infty} (I_{Ji} \otimes R_{i}\Lambda_{in})\Delta^{i}(a_{i}^{'}R_{i}^{'}D^{-1}(F_{in})R_{i}a_{n}^{i})^{-1}\Delta^{i'}(I_{Ji}\otimes\Lambda_{in}R_{i}^{'})$$

Acov( $\eta_i$ ) can be consistently estimated by replacing the unknown parameters  $\gamma$  and  $\Omega_i$  by respectively  $\hat{\gamma}$  and  $\hat{\Omega}_i$  their probit estimate, and  $\Delta_j^i$  j=1,...,  $J_i$  by  $\hat{\Delta}_j^i$  the 0.L.S. estimates obtained using least squares equation by equation. It can be shown that a consistent estimate of  $\Sigma_{\eta_i}$  is given by

(5.2.36) 
$$\hat{\Sigma}_{\eta_{i}} = \hat{\Sigma}_{i} + \hat{\Delta}_{i}^{*} [\frac{1}{N_{i}} \sum_{n=1}^{N_{i}} \Lambda_{in}^{*}]\hat{\Delta}_{i}^{*}$$

where  $\hat{\Sigma}_i$  is the  $J_i \times J_i$  matrix of 0.L.S. residuals, the j<sup>th</sup>, k<sup>th</sup> element of which is

$$\frac{1}{N_{i}} \sum_{n=1}^{N_{i}} \hat{\eta}_{ijn} \hat{\eta}_{ikn} \text{ and } \hat{\Delta}_{i}^{*} \text{ is the OLS estimate of } \sum_{\eta_{i} \in i}^{N_{i}} \hat{\eta}_{ijn} \hat{\eta}_{ikn}$$

**a** 
$$J_i \times (m-1)$$
 matrix, the j<sup>th</sup> row of which is  $\hat{\Delta}_j^i$ .

The SUR estimate of  $\beta_i$  is then given by

$$(5.2.37) \quad \vec{\beta}_{i} = [(I_{J_{i}} \hat{\otimes X_{i}})\hat{\psi}_{i}^{-1}(I_{J_{i}} \hat{\otimes X_{i}})]^{-1}(I_{J_{i}} \hat{\otimes X_{i}})\hat{\psi}_{i}^{-1}S_{i}$$

where  $\hat{\Psi}_i$  is the consistent estimate of  $Acov(\eta_i)$  obtained by following the procedure outlined after (5.2.35).

Again, it can be shown that  $\tilde{\beta}_i$  is consistent and asymptotically normal with asymptotic covariance matrix given by

$$(5.2.38) \quad Acov(\tilde{\beta}_{i}) = [(I_{J_{i}} \otimes \hat{X}_{i})(Acov(\eta_{i}))^{-1}(I_{J_{i}} \otimes \hat{X}_{i})]^{-1}$$

which can be estimated by  $[(I_{J_i} \otimes X_i) \hat{\Psi}_i^{-1} (I_{J_i} \otimes X_i)]^{-1}$ 

As in the previous cases, we can avoid the computation of the multivariate normal integral in  $\hat{\Psi}_{i}$  by using White's method in the SUR context to estimate  $\beta_{i}$  and its asymptotic covariance matrix respectively by

$$[(\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{J}_{i}} \otimes \mathbf{\hat{x}_{i}}) \hat{\mathbf{D}_{i}}^{-1} (\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{J}_{i}} \otimes \mathbf{\hat{x}_{i}})]^{-1} (\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{J}_{i}} \otimes \mathbf{\hat{x}_{i}}) \hat{\mathbf{D}_{i}}^{-1} \mathbf{S}_{i} \text{ and} \\ [(\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{J}_{i}} \otimes \mathbf{\hat{x}_{i}}) \hat{\mathbf{D}_{i}}^{-1} (\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{J}_{i}} \otimes \mathbf{\hat{x}_{i}})]^{-1}. \quad \text{Where } \hat{\mathbf{D}_{i}} \text{ is the } \mathbf{N}_{i} \mathbf{J}_{i} \times \mathbf{N}_{i} \mathbf{J}_{i} \text{ square} \\ \text{block matrix of } \mathbf{J}_{i} \times \mathbf{J}_{i} \text{ diagonal submatrix of size } \mathbf{N}_{i}, \text{ the } j^{\text{th}}, k^{\text{th}} \\ \text{diagonal submatrix of which is} \end{cases}$$

 $D_{jk}(\bar{\eta}_{ijn}\bar{\eta}_{ikn})$  where the term in the parentheses stands for the n<sup>th</sup>

element of the matrix.

Finally we can test the significance of the selectivity bias or dish choice effects after the second stage of Heckman's method. The null hypothesis of no selectivity bias would be then:

$$H_{O}$$
 :  $H_{i}\Delta_{j}^{i} - 0$ 

A sufficient condition for  $H_0$  to hold is:  $\Delta_j^i = 0$ . This leads to the following sequential test:

(1) test

$$H_1 : \Delta_j^i - 0$$

by using a standard F test of the significance of a subset of the parameter vector. Note that under  $H_1$  the asymptotic covariance matrix of O.L.S. is  $\sigma_{jj}(X'X)^{-1}$ , an estimate of which is given by the regression output in most regression packages.

(2) If  $H_1$  is not rejected then we can stop and conclude that the dish choice effects are not significant. If  $H_1$  is rejected then we test  $H_0$ :  $H_1 \Delta_1^{i} = 0$  by using the fact that

$$(5.2.40) \quad N_{i}^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\hat{H}_{i}-H_{i})\hat{\Delta}_{j}^{i} \stackrel{d}{\rightarrow} N(0, \quad N_{i}^{\lim} \quad (\frac{1}{N_{i}}R_{i}\Lambda_{in}\Delta_{j}^{i})\Gamma(\frac{1}{N_{i}}\Delta_{j}^{i'}\Lambda_{in}R_{i}^{i}))$$

so that under  $H_0$  we have

$$(5.2.41) \quad \hat{\Delta}_{j}^{i} \hat{H}_{i} (\hat{a}_{n}^{i} R_{i}^{\prime} D^{-1} (\hat{F}_{in}) R_{i} \hat{a}_{n}^{i}) [R_{i} \hat{\Lambda}_{in} \hat{\Delta}_{j}^{i} \hat{\Delta}_{j}^{i} \hat{\Lambda}_{in} R_{i}^{\prime}]^{+} \hat{H}_{i} \hat{\Delta}_{j}^{i} \stackrel{d}{\rightarrow} \chi_{\rho_{i}}$$

where the sign "+" stands for generalized inverse,  $\rho_i$  is the rank of the matrix within the square bracket of (5.2.41). The  $\hat{a}_n^i$ ,  $\hat{F}_{in}$  and  $\hat{\Lambda}_{in}$  are obtained by replacing  $\gamma$  with  $\hat{\gamma}$  in  $a_n^i$ ,  $F_{in}$ , and  $\Lambda_{in}$  respectively. Note that under  $H_1$  the limit distribution of the expression in (5.2.41) is degenerate. Before concluding the chapter, we should point out the possibility to simultaneously estimate  $\theta_j$ ,  $\Delta_j^i$  and  $\gamma$  by using non linear least squares applied to 5.2.13 without the probit MLE  $\hat{\gamma}$ . See, Amemiya (1985, p. 372) for details. However, the potential gain (if any) in computational time and simplicity over the MLE, is not probably worth the loss of efficiency compared to the MLE which is always efficient. We finally conclude the chapter by summarizing the estimation procedure recommended for this model.

Given the computational cost involved in completely estimating the model, we recommend that one should first do the Heckman's two-stage and get the OLS estimates which are consistent. Then, since the additional gain in efficiency of the WLS, SUR and MLE estimators are mostly relevant only when selectivity bias is significant, one should test for this significance by following the testing procedure outlined above before proceeding further. If the selectivity bias is not statistically significant, we can content ourselves with the OLS estimates. Otherwise, we can use these consistent estimates to get the more efficient WLS or SUR estimates. Or alternatively, with minor changes in the program that computes the probit MLE  $\hat{\gamma}$  we can use these consistent olls estimates along with  $\hat{\gamma}$  as starting values in the Newton-Raphson iteration that computes simultaneously the MLE of all the parameters. In this case, it can be shown (see Amemiya, 1985, pp. 138) that the

**estimator from the second round of the iteration is asymptotically efficient**.

\$

#### CHAPTER 6

#### CONCLUSIONS AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS OF THE MODEL.

As we were unsatisfied with the present models used to analyze the demmand for food in Senegal, our purpose in this paper was to present an alternative model that represents more realistically the micro-behavior of the Senegalese household. Our experience in the Senegalese context made us feel that the consumption technology was equally if not more important than the relative prices of the raw foods in determining the demmand for the cereals. Although this model was specifically designed with reference to the Senegalese context, it can be thought of as a general model of food demand having the traditional model as a special Case. Indeed, almost every society has its own consumption technology that guides its selection of which raw foods to consume<sup>7</sup>. We have seen in the estimation procedure that correcting for this selection bias is necessary for the estimates of the demand parameters to be unbiased and consistent.

A major concern during this study was to have a realistic but Workable model for forecasting food demand and for performing policy analysis. For this purpose, the relevant equations are the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This model may not be applicable in a society with more complex food consumption habits (like in the United States or Europe) where for each meal, the household can cook more than one dish of varying sizes. In such a complex setting, the household can be seen as making not a discrete but a continuous choice among all the raw foods used in all the dishes in the feasible choice set. Even in this case, the fact that the household has a specific set of dishes that guides its choice of raw foods, if ignored, will introduce selection bias of the level 2 type discussed in section 4.4.6.

unconditional demands for the raw foods and the dish choice probabilities. The unconditional quantities demanded are not observable, but can be estimated. These unconditional demand equations given in (4.5.12) can be used for forecasting the demands for the individual raw foods. Since the dish choice probabilities depend only on time and do not depend on prices and expenditures, the easiest way of computing the elasticities of demand for each food is to compute the different conditional elasticities from the conditional demand equations corresponding to the dishes where the food is used. Then we can get the unconditional elasticities by a weighted average of these conditional elasticities where the weights are the dish choice probabilities. More precisely, let  $e_{jki}$  be the elasticity of demand of raw food j with respect to the price of raw food k when they are both used in dish i (with  $e_{jki}$ =0 if one of them is not used in dish i) then the

(6.1) 
$$e_{jk} - \sum_{i=1}^{m} e_{jki} P(m_i-1) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} e_{jki} F_i(\gamma r_i)$$

which can be consistently estimated by

(6.2) 
$$\hat{e}_{jk} - \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{m} e_{jki}$$

The dish frequencies  $N_i/N$  are known to be strongly consistent estimates of the dish choice probabilities  $P(d_i=1)$ . The expenditure elasticities can be computed similarly. Then to compute the income elasticities and the other household characteristic elasticities, we use the estimated equation corresponding to (5.2.1), which gives expenditure as a function of household characteristics, and then apply the chain rule. For instance, the elasticity of income will be given by the product of the expenditure elasticity and the elasticity of expenditure with respect to income; that is  $e_{jy} - e_{jd} \cdot e_{dy}$ . Finally, we note that the elasticities with respect to dish preparation time will involve the density of the probability distribution.

One immediate policy implication of this model is the statistical consequences of the selectivity bias. As already noted, the dish selection bias can have serious consequences on the reliability of the estimated parameters. In some empirical examples (Newey et al., (1990)), the presence of selection bias if not corrected, yielded wrong signs for some of the parameters. This should be of major concern when one bases policy recommendations on the magnitudes and signs of the estimated price and income elasticities.

The policy implications of the model go beyond this statistical consequence. The fact that the dish choice probabilities do not depend on prices of the raw foods not only simplifies the computation of the elasticities but also has important policy implications. As long as the ordering of the different dishes by their relative costs is not reversed, then for a given level of utility and meal budget, changes in the relative prices of the raw foods cannot alter the dish choice probabilities which describe the structural consumption behavior of the household.

More precisely, we have from the equation giving the dish choice probabilities (ex: in (4.5.15)).

 $\partial P(d_i-1)/\partial P_i = 0$  for all prices  $P_j$ .

To support this result, we can cite a preliminary finding of the CEEMAT/CIRAD ongoing survey in Dakar (Kelly and Reardon, 1989). It is reported that in their sample, only the households with monthly income

above CFA 100,000 consume couscous. Our interpretation of this finding is that the poorest households cannot afford this millet-based dish because of the high cost of the complements going into it.

Furthermore, these dish choice probabilities are important in determining the size of the unconditional elasticities. One consequence is that policies aimed at changing these choice probabilities may be more effective in changing the consumption behavior of the household than those that change the relative price of the raw foods. There are at least two forms these policies could take:

- 1. The dish probabilities can depend on an exogenous shift parameter  $\theta$  in the control of the government so that  $\partial F_i(\gamma r_i, \theta)/_{\partial \theta}$  measure the effects that changes in  $\theta$  have on the household dish choices.  $\theta$  can include all the factors that can be used to influence the structural behavior of the household (ex: generation of technology that reduces the processing costs of local cereals used in some dishes).
  - 2. Increases in the number of dishes in the household choice set should decrease the dish choice probabilities. In particular, if the dish introduced is accepted and is maize-based rather than rice-based, this will decrease rice consumption.

Moreover, as noted at the beginning of chapter 4, the dish choice probabilities are time dependent, that is they are stochastic (Markov) processes. Hence their moments (variances, covariances and higher moments) can be used to evaluate the effectiveness of implemented food policies, by indicating the degree of change in household food preferences (dish choice probabilities) over time.

For example, we have seen that because of the consumption technology constraint, any policy aimed at changing <u>substantially</u> the demand for a particular raw food must necessarily change the relative size of the dish choice probabilities. That is for some dishes, we should have:

 $P_{t_1}(m_i-1) \leq P_{t_2}(m_i-1)$ 

where the subscripts  $t_1$ , and  $t_2$  stand for the time when the choices are **made**. Hence these dish choice probabilities (how often a household **consumes a particular dish**) are good indicators of how the household has **responded** to a particular policy.

To be more precise, let  $\pi_{it} = P_t(m_i-1) - F_{it}(\gamma r_i)$ .

Then  $\Delta \pi_{it} = \pi_{it} - \pi_{it-1}$  measures the change in the probability (between t and t-1) that dish i is consumed by the household. It can be interpreted as a partial measure (with respect to dish i) of the change in the "household's taste." Thus:

- if  $\Delta \pi_{it} > 0$  we would say that the household taste has changed in favor of dish i
- if  $\Delta \pi_{it} < 0$  we would say that the household taste has changed in defavor of dish i
- if  $\Delta \pi_{it} = 0$  we would say that the household taste did not change with respect to dish i.

If dish i is a newly introduced dish, then  $\Delta \pi_{it}$  can be used to measure the rate of adoption or diffusion through time of the dish.

Since the sum of the dish choice probabilities is always 1, a change in the household's taste in favor of one dish necessarily implies a change away from at least one other dish. Hence a good measure of overall change in taste should take into account these correlations.

This motivates our definition of the overall change in household's taste at time t by the covariance of  $\Delta \pi_t$  where

 $\pi_t = (\pi_{1t}, \dots, \pi_{mt})$  is the vector of dish choice probabilities at time t.

 $cov(\Delta \pi_t)$  is a square matrix of size m, with its diagonal elements measuring the variances of the dish choice probabilities and its off diagonal terms measuring the degree of substitution between dishes.

The household taste at time  $T_0$  (a state variable) can be measured by:

$$\Gamma(T_0) = \sum_{t=-\infty}^{T_0} \operatorname{cov}(\Delta \pi_t)$$

and the change in the household's taste (structural behavior) between  $T_O$  and  $T_1$  (say, after one or two years) is measured by:

$$\Gamma(T_0,T_1) = \Gamma(T_1) - \Gamma(T_0) - \sum_{t=T_0}^{T_1} cov(\Delta \pi_t)$$

which is a matrix of size m.

Based on survey data (discussed below), a measure can be constructed from  $\Gamma(T_0,T_1)$  (ex: its trace or its determinant, or whether or not it is positive definite or negative definite), and this measure can be used to evaluate the effectiveness of food policies implemented between time  $T_0$  and  $T_1$ . For example, if the trace of  $\Gamma(T_0,T_1)$  is a large number, this will be an indication that the dish choice probabilities are changing through time. Conversely, a small value of the trace would indicate no change in the household's structural behavior, implying that the policy has no effect. Furthermore, at any point in time, without knowing the actual demand for the raw foods, we can predict their values by using the dish choice frequencies and the previously estimated conditional quantities demanded for the raw food, and compute the unconditional quantity demanded for each raw foods. This should be a good approximation, because, given the dish technology constraints, the conditional quantities quantities demanded  $(x_{ij}$  in the text) do not change very much (especially when prices are stable).

This also indicates that we may not need to conduct comprehensive (and expensive) surveys each time to collect the  $x_{ij}$ , for it is far easier to conduct a survey to estimate only the dish choice probabilities. Indeed, it is easy and takes only few minutes to fill out a questionnaire where the only question asked is which dishes the household has consumed at a particular day (breakfast, lunch and dinner). This kind of survey could be conducted all year long with a relatively large sample, with a more expensive survey (to reestimate and update the conditional  $x_{ij}$ ) conducted every two, five or ten years on a smaller sample.

In this way, any ongoing food policy can be monitored continuously. Then, if it is clear that the dish choice probabilities are not changing, one can decide to discontinue the policy or identify why it is not working and make the relevant correction.

The above development gives a theoretical framework within which the ongoing experiments in  $ITA^8$  (creation of new dishes, and promotion of dishes based on local cereals, etc.) can be analyzed and evaluated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Institut de Technologie Alimentaire, a governmental food research institute located in Dakar.

This framework can also be used to perform ex-ante cost-benefit analysis to determine which policy to follow or which dish to promote based on their measured potential effects on the cereal balance of trade. The data needed for this type of analysis can be obtained by tracking a small sample of households who participate in the ITA experiments (market tests), and measuring how they respond over time to the policy under consideration. Data from this small sample can be extrapolated and used as an estimate of how the population (on average) will respond to the policy (and change of parameters of the policy) under consideration, if implemented on a large scale.

The framework can also be used to evaluate ex-ante the potential payoffs from investing in research that would create new dishes based on local cereals and that are potentially acceptable, or in research to generate technologies that can reduce the processing cost of some raw foods used in some dishes. For example, the cost of the research can include research development costs and market promotion of the dishes and the benefits would include gains from the increase (shift) in demand for local cereals which can be measured by the producer surplus, and a possible net gain in consumer surplus if there is an indirect shift in supply. The benefits would also include the possible saving in foreign exchange by the reduction in imported cereals.

Another area where the model could be useful is in forecasting the demand for specific food items usually consumed by the household. Indeed, given the diversity of the household food basket, in practice we cannot include all the food items used by the household separately in the system of demand equations. In other words, because of degrees of freedom and computational problems, there are some limits in

disaggregating the household food basket. Consequently, for certain types of food or fine quality distinctions we cannot directly estimate individual elasticities or forecast demand. However, with this model we can have good forecasts for the demand of these individual raw foods. Indeed, since we can determine which dishes use the raw foods, the unconditional demand for these raw food j can be estimated by the quantity

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} x_{ij} \cdot P\{d_i=1\}$$

where  $P(d_i=1)$  i=1,...,m are the dish choice probabilities which can be estimated by  $F(\hat{\gamma}r_i)$  or by  $N_i/N$  their frequencies, and  $x_{ij}$ is the amount of raw j used in dish i, an estimate of which can be obtained from expert opinion or by conducting quick interviews of households from which we compute the sample means of the observed  $x_{ij}$ (after appropriately correcting for the effect of household size).

These forecasts can be obtained for almost any raw food consumed in the country. Although this may not be of particular interest to Policy makers (they are mainly concerned with the cereals), it can be of great value for the private entrepreneurs involved in the marketing of these raw foods.

Finally, the model can be used to test hypotheses about the food consumption behavior of particular sections of the population, or to evaluate some present micro/macro policies of the Senegalese government, the consumption effects of which are often overlooked. For example, the following hypotheses may be of interest:

- Does the decrease in the supply of fish increase the demand for imported rice in the urban areas?
- 2. Does the increase in the supply of fish and/or farm income increase the demand for imported rice in rural areas?

While the second hypothesis might seem trivial knowing that rice and fish are complementary in the most consumed dish ("cebbu Jenn") in Senegal and that with an increase in income the rural household can be expected to want to diversify its diet, the answer to the second hypothesis may not be obvious. Given that rice and fish are the main components of the "cebbu Jenn" dish, the most common dish in urban areas, one would think that a decrease in the supply of fish will lead to a decrease in the demand for rice. This may not hold because the household tends to increase the coefficient of rice utilization for this important dish (to partly substitute for the calorie deficiency) whenever there is a shortage of fish.

As an example, there are two policies that we can analyze within the model: fishing policy and meat policy. The present fishing policy of the government consists of two components:

- (1) An export subsidy to boost fish exports. The benefit of this policy is the generation of foreign exchange. The cost includes the monetary cost of the subsidy, the consumption costs coming from the shrinking of the domestic supply and indirect foreign exchange costs if the first hypothesis above is not rejected.
- (2) Signing of agreements with industrialized countries that allow the fishing boats of these countries to fish in Senegalese waters. The benefit of these agreements is the monetary

compensation that the government gets. The costs include the same consumption costs due to the shrinking of the domestic supply, as well as domestic producer costs incurred by the traditional fishermen.

The government meat policy restricts the importation of meat by imposing high import tariffs on beef, chicken and other livestock products. The benefits of this policy are domestic meat producer gains (through higher prices). The costs are consumption costs because of supply limits, but also foreign exchange costs coming from increased rice demand, and millet producer costs because of shrinking millet demand. These two costs arise because meat is the main complement of millet in the couscous dish.

Of course, these policy questions can be addressed by using the traditional full system of demand equations, by incorporating all the relevant food complements of the cereals (fish, meat, vegetables etc.) so as to have a complete set of cross-price elasticities. However, there will still be missing information on the consumption technology constraints facing the household. We believe that besides the statistical problem of dish selection bias, these constraints are important in shaping the household's food consumption behavior. Thus, we argue that these policy problems are better addressed by using this model.

Perhaps we should again emphasize the fact that the problem of the food complements that we discussed in chapter 2, so far neglected in the analysis of food demand in Senegal, is different from the problem of dish selection bias that we particularly emphasize in this paper. This complementarity/substitutability problem is related to the general

problem of separability. The separability problem is familiar to demand analysts; the severe restrictions it implies were reviewed in Chapter 2. In our particular example, an unjustified separability between cereals and food complements would lead to biased and inconsistent estimates of the price elasticities of the cereals. I addition, the dish selection bias, must be corrected for, in order to obtain unbiased and consistent price elasticity estimates. Viewing the household as making its choices primarily among dishes rather than among raw foods has policy implications. The household's choice of dishes leads to unstable and highly discontinuous demands for the individual raw foods because of the limited degree of substitution between raw foods allowed by the technologies of the different dishes.

For clarity and ease of exposition, regarding the estimation, Chapter 5 considered only a random sample of N households, that is, a pure cross section analysis. It would be more realistic to have observations across time for each household in the sample, so that we can take into account heterogeneity ("taste" differences across households), serial correlation, and state dependencies which model the correlations among the midday meal, evening meal and previous day's meals. Heterogeneity and serial correlation could be analyzed by using panel data methods while the state dependency which reveals the dynamic nature of the model could be analyzed using a third order Markov chain model and/or the state dependency model of Heckman (1981). This would enable us to estimate the long run equilibrium or steady state food consumption behavior of the household (Heckman 1981; Amemiya, 1985, pp. 351-54, 412-432).



## APPENDICES

.

,

.

e,

#### Appendix Al

### d<sub>F</sub> is a pseudometric

For  $d_E$  to be a pseudometric it should be positive (which is trivial by construction) and should satisfy the following three properties:

i)  $\forall a \in A$   $d_E(a,a) = 0$ ii)  $\forall a, b \in A$   $d_E(a,b) = d_E(b,a)$  (symmetry) iii)  $\forall a, b, c \in A$   $d_E(a,c) \le d_E(a,b) + d_E(b,c)$  (triangular inequality)

For i) we have:  

$$\forall a \in A \ d_E(a,a) = |P_E(a) - P_E(a)| = 0 \text{ if } a \in E$$
  
 $= 0 \qquad \text{ if } a \notin E$ 

For ii) we have:

 $\forall a, b \in A \quad d_{E}(a, b) = |P_{E}(a) - P_{E}(b)| = |P_{E}(b) - P_{E}(a)| = d_{E}(b, a)$ if  $a, b \in E$ and  $d_{E}(a, b) = d_{E}(b, a) = 1$  or 0 otherwise

For iii) we have:

if  $a,b,c \in A$  then we have the following four cases:

1.  $a,b,c\in E$  then  $d_E(a,c) = |P_E(a) - P_E(c)| = |P_E(a) - P_E(b) + P_E(b) - P_E(c)|$   $\leq |P_E(a) - P_E(b)| + |P_E(b) - P_E(c)| = d_E(a,b) + d_E(b,c)$ 2.  $a\notin E, b\in E, and c\in E$  then  $d_E(a,c)=1, d_E(a,b)=1, and d_E(b,c)=|P_E(b) - P_E(c)| \ge 0$ . Hence,  $d_E(a,c) \le d_E(a,b) + d_E(b,c)$ 

Thus because of the symmetric role played by a, b, and c we conclude that

$$d_F(a,c) \leq d_F(a,b) + d_F(b,c) \quad \forall a,b,c \in A$$

As already said,  $d_E$  is not a metric since  $d_E(a,b)=0$  does not imply a-b. But we can construct a metric space based on  $d_E$  by considering the equivalence relation ~ defined in A as follows:

 $a \sim b$  if and only if  $P_E(a)=P_E(b)$ 

this is indeed an equivalence relation that partitions A into classes of alternatives having the same probability of selection.

Denote by S = A/~ the quotient set of ~ then we can define in S a metric  $\overline{d_R}$  by:

i)  $\tilde{d}_{\underline{E}}(\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}) = |P_{\underline{E}}(\tilde{a}) - P_{\underline{E}}(\tilde{b})| \quad \forall \tilde{a}, \tilde{b} \in S$ 

such that ace, bee

ii)  $\tilde{d}_{E}(\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}) = 1$  if  $\tilde{a} \subset E$  and  $\tilde{b} \not \subset E$ 

or and be

iii)  $\tilde{d}_{E}(\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}) = 0$  if  $\tilde{a} \leq and \tilde{b} \leq dE$ then  $(S, \tilde{d}_{E})$  is a metric space thus is Hausdorff.  $\Box$ 

#### Appendix A2

<u>Separability</u> of  $(A, d_{E})$ 

<u>**Proposition**</u>:  $(A, d_E)$  is separable

#### Proof:

Since (A,  $d_E$ ) is a pseudometric space, then it is separable if and only if it is second countable (Dudley, 1989, p. 25-26) that is if and only if it has a countable base. But A is (by assumption ) the Borel  $\sigma$ -field of  $\mathbb{R}^d_+$ . Hence the set 3 of all open balls of  $\mathbb{R}^d_+$  with radius 1/n n N and the centers of which are the elements of Qd<sub>+</sub> where Q is the set of positive rationales, is a countable base for the Borel  $\sigma$ -field A.

Let 3 = { B(z,1/n):  $z \in Qd_+$ ,  $n \in N$ } we need to show that 3 is dense in A endowed with the pseudometric  $d_E$ .

Let  $a\in A$  and  $B(a,r) = \{b\in A; d_E(a,b) < r\}$  an open ball in A, but for any  $b\in A$ , b is union of elements of 3 thus B(a,r) contains at least one element of 3. So that  $3\cap B(a,r) \neq \emptyset$ . And since the open balls  $B(a,r) a\in A$  constitute a base for the topology  $F_E$  corresponding to  $d_E$ , we conclude that 3 is dense in A. 3 is countable, hence  $(A,d_E)$  is separable. In fact, it is perfectly separable. Indeed the set of all open balls  $B(b^*, 1/n)$ ,  $b^*\in 3$ ,  $n\in N$  is a countable base for  $F_E$ .  $\Box$ 

# Appendix A3:

- 1. <u>reflexivity</u>: the reflexivity comes from the triviality  $P_E(a)-P_E(a)$  so that we have a  $\ge a$ .
- 2. <u>transitivity</u>: let  $a,b,c \in A$  then

a  $\ge$  b  $\iff$  P<sub>E</sub>(a)  $\ge$  P<sub>E</sub>(b) b  $\ge$  c  $\iff$  P<sub>E</sub>(b)  $\ge$  P<sub>E</sub>(c)

this implies  $P_E(a) \ge P_E(b) \ge P_E(c)$  which in turn implies

 $P_E(a) \ge P_E(c)$  so that  $a \ge c$ 

3. <u>Completeness</u>: the completeness comes trivially from the completeness of ≤ in [0,1] indeed for any a,b ∈A P<sub>E</sub>(a)≥P<sub>E</sub>(b) or P<sub>E</sub>(b)≥P<sub>E</sub>(a) since they are all element of [0,1]. Thus Va,b∈A a≥b or b≥a.

## Appendix A4

<u>Proposition:</u>  $F_E$  is a natural topology for  $\ge$ . That is: the sets

 $F_1=(b\in A: a \ge b)$  and  $F_2=(b\in A: b \ge a)$ 

are closed for all  $a \in A$ .

Proof:

We note that in showing the separability of  $(A,d_E)$  we have shown that  $3=\{B(z, 1/n): z\in Q_+^d, n\in N\}$  is countable and dense in A. So that the set of all open balls  $B(b^*, 1/n)$ ,  $b^*\in B$  is a countable base for  $F_E$  the topology corresponding to the pseudometric  $d_E$ . Thus, like for a metric space, a subset F of A is closed if and only if any convergent sequence of elements of F has its limit in F. (Schwartz; 1970, pp. 47-48)

So let  $\{b_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  a sequence in  $F_1$  such that  $\lim_{n \to \infty} b_n = b$ 

that is

 $\lim_{n\to\infty} d_E(b_n,b)=0.$  Note that for this to hold, we must have  $d_E(b_n,b)<1$  for a infinite number of  $b_n$  thus we have only 2 cases.

1)  $b \notin E$  and there is  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $b_n \notin E$  for all  $n \geq k$  then  $d(b_n, b) = 0$  and  $P_E(b_n) = P_E(b)$  for all  $n \geq k$ . Hence  $b_n \in F_1 \iff a \gg b_n \iff P_E(a) \geq P_E(b_n) = P_E(b)$ this implies that  $a \gg b \iff b \in F_1$ 

2) 
$$b \in E$$
 and it exists  $k \in N$  such that  $b_n \in E$  for all  $n \geq k$   
then in this case we have:  
 $d(b_n, b) = |P(b_n) - P(b)|$  and  
 $\lim_{n \to \infty} d(b_n, b) = 0$  if and only if  $\lim_{n \to \infty} P(b_n) = P(b)$   
but  $b_n \in F_1$  implies  $P(a) \geq P(b_n)$   
 $= P(a) \geq \lim_{n \to \infty} P(b_n) = P(b) \Rightarrow$   
or  $P(a) \geq P(b)$  So that  $b \in F_1$ 

Thus  $F_1$  is closed

٠.

Similarly F<sub>2</sub> is closed by the same way

We conclude that  $F_E$  is a natural topology for  $\ge$ .  $\Box$ 

#### Appendix A5

In section 4.4 we made the following claim: There exists a probability measure P on  $A_E$  such that (A,  $A_E$ , P) is a probability space with  $P(b \in A: U_E(a) \ge U_E(b)) = P_E(a) \quad \forall a \in A.$ 

This conjecture can be shown along the following lines. First we will need the following standard theorem of measure theory Theorem:

For any set X, and ring<sup>\*</sup> A of subsets of X, any countably additive function  $\mu$  from A into  $[0, +\infty]$  extends to a measure on the  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{L}$ generated by A.

Proof: See Dudley (1989, p. 66-67).

Next we show that the collection  $\mathcal{O}=\{(b: b \in A; U_E(a) \ge u_E(b)\}: a \in A\}$ is a ring and then define on  $\mathcal{O}$  the following countably additive function:  $P\{b: b \in A; U_E(a) \ge U_E(b)\} = P_E(a).$ 

We then show that  $A_E$  is the  $\sigma$ -algebra generated by  $\mathcal{O}$  and using the above theorem we extend P to  $A_E$ . The final step is then to show that the range of the extended P is in [0, 1] that is,  $P^e(A)-1$ where  $P^e$  is the extension of P in  $A_E$ .

0

\* A collection  $\mathcal{O}$  of subsets of X is called a ring iff  $\emptyset \in A$  and for all A,B in A we have AUB  $\in A$  and B\A  $\epsilon A$ .
## Appendix A6

Variance of  $n_{ij}^{\star}$ By definition  $\eta_{ij}^{\star} = X_{ij} - E(X_{ij}|d_i=1)$  is conditional to i. Hence  $Var(\eta_{ij}) = Var(X_{ij}|d_i=1) = E(XZ_{ij}|d_i=1) - [E(Xi_{ij}|d_i=1)]2$ To simplify the notation, let

$$\tilde{X}_{ij} = \frac{\partial V_i(P_i, d)/\gamma P_j}{\partial V_i(P_i, d)/\partial d}$$
 and

$$\lambda - \lambda(\mathbf{v}_{i}^{1}, \ldots, \mathbf{v}_{i}^{i-1}, \mathbf{v}_{i}^{i+1}, \ldots, \mathbf{v}_{i}^{m})$$

then

$$[\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{X}_{ij}|\mathbf{d}_{i}-1)]^{2} - \bar{\mathbf{X}}_{ij}^{2} + 2\bar{\mathbf{X}}_{ij}\lambda + \lambda^{2}$$

and

$$E[X_{ij}^{2}|d_{i}-1] = E(\bar{X}_{ij}^{2} + 2\eta_{ij}\bar{X}_{ij} + \eta_{ij}^{2}|d_{i}-1)$$
  
$$= \bar{X}_{ij}^{2} + 2\bar{X}_{ij}E(\eta_{ij}|d_{i}-1) + E(\bar{\eta}_{ij}^{2}|d_{i}-1)$$
  
$$= \bar{X}_{ij}^{2} + 2\bar{X}_{ij}\lambda + E(\bar{\eta}_{ij}^{2}|d_{i}-1)$$

hence

$$Var(\eta_{ij}^{\star}) = \bar{X}_{ij}^{2} + 2\bar{X}_{ij}^{\lambda} + E(\bar{\eta}_{ij}^{2}|d_{i}=1) - \bar{X}_{ij}^{2} - 2\bar{X}_{ij}^{\lambda} - \lambda^{2}$$
$$= E[\eta_{ij}^{2}|d_{i}=1] - \lambda^{2}$$

## **ENDNOTES**

1. Strictly speaking, there are two classes of probabilistic choice models: the constant utility model which is more frequently used by the psychologists, and the random utility model used mainly by the economists. A good summary of the differences between the two models is given by Tversky (1972, p. 341) in the following terms.

Random utility models assume that the utility, or the value, of each alternative undergoes random fluctuations, and that the alternative with the highest momentary value is selected. Constant utility models, on the other hand, express choice as a probabilistic function of the (constant) scale value assigned to each of the alternatives. The two types of representations differ with respect to the locus of the probabilistic element in the choice process. Random utility representations attribute uncertainty to the determination of value, while constant utility representations attribute uncertainty to the decision rule. The two types of representations, however, are not incompatible: some (though not all) choice can be represented as either a random or a constant utility model.

2. We should point out that, in our knowledge, the compact expressions of  $\lambda_{j}^{i}(\gamma r_{i})$  and of the covariance matrix of  $\eta_{i}^{*}$  given in (5.1.8) - (5.1.10) (which are a multinomial/multivariate generalization of the standard dichotomous/univariate Tobit results) have not been derived yet. The closest forms found in the literature (see, for example Duncan (1980) or Amemiya (1985, p. 407)) are respectively expressions (5.1.1) and (5.1.2). For the conditional moments appearing in (5.1.1) and (5.1.2), the readers are usually referred to either Tallis (1961) (where they are given in a derivative forms not readily computable) or Amemiya (1973). We were able to derive these compact and more simple expressions only after rewriting Amemiya's results in matrix

143

form. Our expressions are much simpler to compute with a programming language like GAUSS.

3. This result generalizes the one of Amemiya (1985, p. 370) and Heckman (1979).

¢

## REFERENCES

- Abt. Inc. 1984. <u>Senegal Policy Analysis</u>, AAI No. 85-32. Report submitted to USAID/DAKAR.
- Amemiya, T. 1973. "Regression Analysis When the Dependent Variable is Truncated Normal." <u>Econometrica</u> 41:1193-1205.
- Amemiya, T. 1974a. "A Note on a Fair and Jaffe Model." <u>Econometrica</u> 42:759-762.
- Amemiya, T. 1974b. "Multivariate Regression and Simultaneous Equation Models When the Dependent variable are truncated normal." <u>Econometrica</u> 42:999-1012.
- Amemiya, T. 1978. "The Estimation of a Simultaneous Equation Generalized Probit Model." <u>Econometrica</u> 46:1193-1205.
- Amemiya, T. 1979. "The Estimation of a Simultaneous-Equation Tobit model." <u>International Economic Review</u> 20:169-181.
- Amemiya, T. 1985. <u>Advanced Econometrics</u>. Harvard University Press.
- Barnett, W. A. 1977. "Pollak and Wachter on the Household Production Approach. "Journal of Political Economy 85:1073-82.
- Becker, G. 1965. "A Theory of The Allocation of Time." <u>Econ. J.</u> 75:493-517.
- Ben-Akiva, M. and S. Lerman. 1985. <u>Discrete Choice Analysis: Theory</u> and Application to Travel Demand. MIT Press. Cambridge, MA.
- Berndt, E. R., B. H. Hall, R. E. Hall, and J. A. Hausman. 1974.. "Estimation and Inference in Nonlinear Structural Models." <u>Ann.</u> <u>Econ. Social Measurement</u> 3:653-665.
- Block, H. and J. Marschak. 1960. <u>Random Orderings and Stochastic</u> <u>Theories of Response.</u> In Contributions to Probability and Statistics, ed. I. Olkin. Stanford, Calif.: Stanford University Press.
- Braverman, A. and J.S. Hammer. 1986. "Multimarket Analysis of Agricultural Pricing Policies in Senegal." In <u>Agricultural</u> <u>Household Models: Extensions. Applications. and Policy</u>. Singh, I., L. Squire, and J. Strauss. eds. Baltimore, Md: John Hopkins University Press.
- Caputo, Enzo, V. Manzitti, and D. Maffioli. 1989. "L'Impact de l'Urbanisation sur les Modèles de Consommation Alimentaire de Base

au Niger: Mise a Jour des Premières Resultats." <u>Note d'Information</u> <u>No. 5. Istituto Italo-Africano.</u> Rome, Italie.

- Chipman, J. S. 1960. "The Foundations of Utility." <u>Econometrica</u>, 28:103-223.
- Cochran, M. 1977. Sampling Technique. 3rd ed. Wiley, New York.
- Cosslett, S. 1981. "Efficient Estimation of Discrete Choice Models." In <u>Structural Analysis of Discrete Data with Econometric</u> <u>Applications</u>, C. Manski and D. McFadden, eds. MIT press, Cambridge, Mass.
- Cosslett, S. 1983. "Distribution-Free Maximum Likelihood Estimator of the Binary Choice Model." <u>Econometrica</u> 51:765-782.
- Christensen, L.R. Dale W. Jorgenson, and Lawrence J. Lau. "Transcendental Logarithmic Utility Functions" <u>The American</u> <u>Economic Review.</u> Vol. 65 No. 3 pp.367-383.
- Daganzo, C. 1982. "On the Uniqueness and Globality of Optimal Data Gathering Strategies."<u>Trans. Sci.</u> 16:241-245.
- Daganzo, C. 1980. "Optimal Sampling Strategies for Statistical Models with Discrete Dependent Variables." <u>Trans. Sci.</u> 14.
- Daganzo, C., F. Bouthelier, and Y. Sheffi. 1977." Multinomial Probit and Qualitative Choice: A Computationally Efficient Algorithm." <u>Trans.</u> <u>Sci.</u> 11:338-358.
- Daganzo, C., and Y. Sheffi. 1982. "Multinomial Probit Models with Time Series Data: Unifying State Dependence and Serial correlation Models." <u>Envir. and Planning</u> A14:1377-1388.
- Deaton, A. and J. Muellbauer, 1980. "An almost Ideal Demand System." <u>American Economic Review.</u> 70:312-36.
- Deaton, A. and J. Muellbauer, 1984. <u>Economics and Consumer Behavior</u>. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Debreu, G. 1954. "Representation of a preference ordering by a numerical function," <u>In Decision processes.</u> R.M. Thrall, C.H. Coombs and R.L. Davis eds., Wiley, New York, 159-65. Reprinted in <u>Mathematical Economics: twenty papers of Gerard Debreu.</u> Econometric Society monographs, 1983, Cambridge University Press.
- Debreu, G. 1958. "Stochastic Choice and Cardinal Utility." <u>Econometrica</u>. 26:440-444.
- Debreu, G. 1960. "Review of R.D. Luce Individual Choice Behavior." <u>American Economic Review</u>. 50:186-188.

- Debreu, G. 1962. "New Concepts and Techniques for Equilibrium Analysis." International Economic Review. 3:257-273.
- Debreu, G. 1964. "Continuity properties of Paretian Utility." <u>International Economic Review</u> 5:285-293.
- Diewert, W.E. 1974. "Applications of Duality Theory," In M.D. Intriligator and D.A. Kendrick, eds.<u>Frontier of Quantitative</u> <u>Economics.</u> 2:106-171. Amsterdam: North- Holland Publishing.
- Diewert, W.E. 1977. "Generalized Slustky Conditions For Aggregate Consumer Demand Functions" <u>Journal of Economic Theory</u>. 15:353-362.
- Diewert, W.E. 1981. "Duality Approaches to Microeconomic Theory," In K.J. Arrow and M.D. Intriligator eds. <u>Handbook of</u> <u>Mathematical Economics.</u> Vol. 2, Amsterdam North-Holland.
- Diewert, W.E. and T.J. Wales. 1986. "Flexible functional forms and Global Curvature Conditions." <u>Econometrica</u> 55:43-68.
- Domencich, T., and L. McFadden. 1975. <u>Urban Travel Demand A Behavioral</u> <u>Analysis</u>. North Holland, Amsterdam.
- Dubin, J. A. and D. McFadden. 1984. "An Econometric Analysis of Residential Electric Appliances Holding and Consumption." <u>Econometrica.</u> 52:345-362.
- Dudley, R. 1989. <u>Real Analysis and Probability</u>, Wadsworth & Brooks/Cole Mathematics Series, Pacific Grove, California.
- Duncan, G.M. 1980. "Formulation and Statistical Analysis of The Mixed, Continuous/Discrete Dependent Variable Model in Classical Production Theory." <u>Econometrica.</u> 48:839-852.
- Fuhrken, G. and M. K. Richter. 1988. "Algebra and Topology in Cardinal Utility Theory. In <u>Measurements in Economics.</u> W. Eichhorn. eds. Physic-Verlag Heidelberg.
- Goldman, S. M. and H. Uzewa. 1964. "A Note on Separability in Demand Analysis." <u>Econometrica</u>. 32:387-98.
- Gorman, W.M. 1956. "A Possible Procedure for Analyzing Quality Differential in the Egg Market." Ames: Iowa State college, Mimeo. Reprinted in <u>Review of Economic Studies</u> 47:843-56. 1980.
- Gorman, W. 1959. "Separable Utility and Aggregation." <u>Econometrica</u>. 27:469-81.
- Gorman, W. 1967. "Tastes, Habits and Choices," <u>International</u> <u>Economic Review</u>, 8:218-222.

- Hausman, J., and D. Wise. 1978. "A Conditional Probit Model for Qualitative Choice: Discrete Decisions Recognizing Interdependence and Heterogeneous Preferences." <u>Econometrica</u> 52: 1219-1240.
- Hausman, J., and D. McFadden. 1984. "Specification Tests for the Multinomial Logit Model." <u>Econometrica</u> 52:1219-1240.
- Heckman, J.J. 1978. "Dummy Endogenous Variables in a Simultaneous Equation System." <u>Econometrica</u> 46.
- Heckman, J.J. 1979. "Sample Selection Bias as a Specification Error." <u>Econometrica</u> 47:153-161.
- Heckman, J.J. 1981. "Statistical analysis of Discrete Panel Data." In <u>Structural Analysis of Discrete Data with Econometric</u> <u>Applications.</u> C. Manski and D. McFadden, eds. MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass.
- Houthakker, H. S. 1960. "Additive Preferences." <u>Econometrica</u>. 28:244-56.
- Johnson, N.L. and S. Kotz. 1970. <u>Continuous Univariate</u> <u>Distributions-1</u> Boston: Houghton Mifflin.
- Johnson, N.L. and S. Kotz. 1972. <u>Distribution in statistics:</u> <u>Continuous Multivariate Distributions.</u> New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Josserand, P. and C.G. Ross. 1982. "Consumption Effects of Agricultural Policies: Senegal Case Study." <u>C.R.E.D. The University of</u> <u>Michigan.</u>
- Kebe, M.; C. Chaboud, M. Faye, and M. Diop. "Commercialisation du Poisson dans les Régions interieures du Sénégal Bilan Provisoire." <u>Archive No. 142. C.R.O.D.T. Dakar.</u>
- Kelly, Valerie and Tom Reardon, IFPRI. 1989. <u>Second semestrial</u> report of IFPRI/ISRA Project. August, 4, 1989.
- Lambert, Agnes and Mbaye Diouf. 1989. "Espaces et réseaux marchands au Senegal: les échanges céréraliers avec la Gambie et la Mauritanie" Club du Sahel (OCDE), Ministère de la Cooperation (Paris).
- Lancaster, K. 1966. "A New Approach to Consumer Theory." J. Pol. Econ. 74:132-157.
- Layard, P.R.G. and A.A. Walters. 1978. <u>Microeconomic Theory</u>. McGraw-Hill. New York.

- Lee, L.F. 1978. "Unionism and Wage Rates: A Simultaneous Equations Model with Qualitative and Limited Dependent Variables." <u>International Economics Review</u> 19:415-433
- Lee, L.F. 1981. "Simultaneous Equations Models with Discrete and Censored Variables," In C.F. Manski and D. McFadden, eds., <u>Structural Analysis of Discrete Data with Econometric</u> <u>Applications</u>, pp. 346-364. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.
- Lee, L.F. 1982. "Some Approaches to the Correction of Selectivity Bias." <u>Review of Economic Studies</u> 49:355-372.
- Lee, L.F., G.S. Maddala, and R.P. Trost. 1980. "Asymptotic Covariance Matrices of Two-Stage Probit and Two-Stage Tobit Methods for Simultaneous Equations Models with Selectivity," <u>Econometrica.</u> 48:491-503.
- Lerman, S.R. and C.F. Manski. 1981. "On the Use of Simulated Frequencies to Approximate Choice Probabilities." In C.F. Manski and D. McFadden, eds., <u>Structural Analysis of</u> <u>Discrete Data with Econometric Applications.</u> pp.305-319. Cambridge, Mass: MIT Press.
- Lipsey,R.G. and G. Rosenbluth. 1971. " A Contribution to the New Theory of Demand: A Rehabilitation of the Giffen Good." <u>Canadian Journal of Economics.</u> 4:131-63.
- Luce, R. 1959. <u>Individual Choice Behavior: A Theoretical Analysis</u>. Wiley, New York.
- Luce, R. and P. Suppes. 1965. "Preference, Utility and Subjective Probability." In <u>Handbook of Mathematical Psychology.</u> Vol. 3. R. Luce, R. Bush, and E. Galanter, eds. Wiley, New York.
- Maddala, G.S. 1983. <u>Limited-Dependent and Oualitative Variables in</u> <u>Econometrics.</u> Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Manski, C. 1975. "Maximum Score Estimation of the Stochastic Utility Model of Choice." J. of Econometrics. 3:205-228.
- Manski, C. 1977. "The Structure of Random Utility Models." <u>Theory and</u> <u>Decision</u>. 8:229-254.
- Manski, C. 1981. "Structural Models of Discrete Data." <u>Sociological</u> <u>Methodology</u>. 58-109.
- Manski, C., and S. Lerman. 1977. "The Estimation of Choice Probabilities From Choice-Based Samples." <u>Econometrica</u>. 45: 1977-1988.
- Manski, C. F. 1987. "Semiparametric Analysis of Random Effects: Linear Models from Binary Panel Data." <u>Econometrica.</u> 55:357-362.

- Manski, C. and D. McFadden. 1981. "Alternative Estimators and Sample Designs for Discrete Choice Analysis." In <u>Structural Analysis of</u> <u>Discrete Data with Econometric Applications</u>. C. Manski and D. McFadden, eds. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.
- Mbadu-Mbambi Duki, T.D. 1983. "Le Financement de la Pêche Industrielle au Senegal." <u>Memoire de DEA. C.R.O.D.T/ISRA.</u> Centre de Recherches Oceanographiques de Dakar-Thiaroye-Dakar.
- McFadden, D. 1974. "Conditional Logit Analysis of Qualitative Choice Behavior." In <u>Frontiers in Econometrics</u>. P. Zarembka, ed. Academic Press, New York, pp. 105-142.
- McFadden, D. 1974. "The Measurement of Urban Travel Demand." <u>Journal</u> <u>of Public Economics</u>. 3: 303-328.
- McFadden, D. 1975. "The Revealed Preferences of a Government Bureaucracy: Theory," <u>Bell J. of Economics</u>. Vol. 6, pp. 401-416.
- McFadden, D. 1976. "The Revealed Preferences of a Public Bureaucracy." <u>Bell J. of Economics.</u> 7:55-72.
- McFadden, D. 1978a. "Modelling the Choice of Residential Location. In <u>Spatial Interaction Theory and Residential Location.</u> eds., A. Karlgvist et al. North Holland: Amsterdam, pp.75-96.
- McFadden, D. 1978b. "Cost Revenue and Profit Functions." <u>In</u> <u>Production Economics: A Dual Approach to Theory and</u> <u>Applications.</u> Vol. 1, eds., M. Fuss and D. McFadden. Amsterdam: North Holland.
- McFadden, D. 1981. "Econometric Models of Probabilistic Choice." <u>In</u> <u>Structural Analysis of Discrete Data.</u> C. Manski and D. McFadden, eds. MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass. pp. 198-272.
- Martin, F. 1988. "Food Security and Comparative Advantage in Senegal: a Micro-Macro Approach." Ph.D. diss., Department of Agricultural Economics, Michigan State University.
- Michael, R.T. and G.S. Becker. 1973. " On the New Theory of Consumer Behavior," <u>Swedish Journal of Economics</u>, 75:378-96.
- Morgenthaler, S. and Y. Vardi. 1986. "Choice-Based Samples: A Non Parametric Approach." <u>Journal of Econometrics</u>. 32:100-125.
- Morishima, M. 1959. "The Problem of Intrinsic Complementarity and Separability of Goods," <u>Matroeconomica.</u> Vol. XI (December, 1959).

- Muellbauer, J. 1976. "Community Preferences and the Representative Consumer." <u>Econometrica.</u> 44:979-99.
- Muth, R. 1966. "Household Production and Consumer Demand Functions." <u>Econometrica.</u> 34: 699-708.
- N'doye, O., I. Ouedraogo, and S.J. Goetz. 1989. "The Significance and Causes of Senegambian Rice Trade." <u>Paper prepared for the</u> <u>CILSS/Club du Sahel Conference on Regional Grain Trade in West</u> <u>Africa: Lomé. 6-10 November. 1989.</u>

Nicholson, W. 1985. Microeconomic Theory. New York: Dryden Press.

Newey, W.K, J.L. Powel, and J.R. Walker. 1990. "Semiparametric Estimation of Selection Models: Some Empirical Results." <u>American</u> <u>Economic Review.</u> 80:325-328.

- Pollak, R.A. and M.L. Wachter, 1975. "The Relevance of the Household Production Function and its Implications for the allocation of Time," <u>Journal of Political Economy</u>. 83:255-277.
- Rao, C.R. (1973). <u>Linear Statistical Inference and its applications.</u> New York: Wiley.
- Reutlinger, Shlomo. 1987. "The Nutritional Impact of Food Aid: Criteria for the Selection of Cost-Effective Foods." In <u>Food</u> <u>Policy: Integrating Supply. Distribution. and Consumption.</u> eds., Gittinger, J.P. et al. EDI. Series in Economic Development.
- Ross, C.G. 1979. "Grain Demand and Consumer Preferences, Dakar Senegal." <u>CRED Discussion Paper No. 80</u> Ann Arbor: University of Michigan.
- Schmidt, Peter. 1976. Econometrics. New York: Marcel Decker.
- Schmidt, Peter. 1977. "Estimation of Seemingly Unrelated Regression with Unequal Numbers of Observations." <u>Journal of Econometrics</u>. 5:365-377.
- Schmidt, Peter. 1981. "Constraints on the Parameters in Simultaneous Tobit and Probit Models." In <u>Structural Analysis of Discrete Data</u> <u>with Econometric Applications</u>. C. F. Manski and D. McFadden eds. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Schwartz, L. 1970. <u>Topology generale et analyse functionelle</u>, Herman, Paris.
- Singh, I., L. Squire, and J. Strauss. eds. <u>Agricultural Household</u> <u>Models: Extensions. Applications. and Policy</u>. Baltimore, Md: John Hopkins University Press.

- Stigler, G.J. 1945. "The cost of Subsistence," <u>Journal of Farm</u> <u>Economics.</u> 27:303-314.
- Thurston, E. L. 1927. "A Law of Comparative Judgment." <u>Psychological</u> <u>Review.</u> 34: 273-286.
- Tversky, A. 1972a. Elimination by Aspects: A Theory of Choice." <u>Psychological Review.</u> 79: 281-299.
- Tversky, A. 1972b. "Choice by Elimination." Journal of Mathematical Psychology. 9: 341-367.
- Varian H. (1984). <u>Microeconomic Analysis</u>, 2nd edition, W.W. Norton & Company, New York.
- White, H. 1980. "A Heteroskedasticity-Consistent Covariance Matrix Estimator and a Direct Test for Heteroskedasticity." <u>Econometrica</u> 48:817-838.

